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Characteristics of the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been established as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may
be attached. In particular, companies may list on GEM with neither a track record of profitability nor any obligation to
forecast future profitability. Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of the emerging nature of companies listed
on GEM and the business sectors or countries in which the companies operate. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to
professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the main board on the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication on the internet website operated by the
Stock Exchange. Listed companies are not generally required to issue paid announcements in gazetted newspapers.
Accordingly, prospective investors should note that they need to have access to the GEM website in order to obtain
up-to-date information on GEM-listed issuers.

The Stock Exchange takes no responsibility for the contents of this report, makes no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd* (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief:— (1) the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading; (2) there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have been
arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Results 348

2007

- 2 3

RMB’000

AE®TT

Tumover WA 1,662,976

Profit from operations Kyl 292,565

Profit before taxation BBRTAR 266,604

Profit for the year TEERR 235,153

Attributable to: RER

Equity shareholders of FRFRE

the Company 213,874

Minority interests YERR 21,219

For the year ended 31 December

BE+TZAST-HLER
2006 2005 2004 2008
ZELRF —ZLRF —ZTME Z%%=F
RMB' 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETTT AREFTT AREFTT
786,435 660,421 568,734 363,855
58,662 113,986 118,479 89,003
78,823 82,806 97,027 76,761
70,234 76,676 91,667 74171
69,673 75,928 91,587 74,456
561 748 80 (285)

Basic eamings per share * SHREABF*  RMBARW®0.052% RMBAR0.01870 RVBARE0.02070 RMBARH 002675 RMB AR 0.0247T

As if the subdivision of every Domestic Share and H Share
with a nominal or face value of RMB1.00 in the share
capital of the Company into ten Domestic Shares and ten
H Shares with a nominal value or face value of RMB0.10
each and the capitalization issue to the shareholders on
the basis of six (6) capitalization Shares for every five (5)
Shares in issue had been effective throughout the periods
presented.
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Assets and Liabilities FER&E

As at 31 December

RMt=A=t-H
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
—22t% ZEERX ZE%hE ZEImE -5%=
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT

Total Assets AEBE 2,853,291 1,852,683 1,432,462 1,190,975 835,503
Total Liabilties BERE 1,759,852 1,145,146 841,394 642,557 493,483
Total equity attributable to RRERE 1,022,302 697,950 582,042 540,060 342,020
equity shareholders ik
of the Company
Minority interests DERFEER 71,137 9,587 9,026 8,358 -

Total Equity Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the Company
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8  Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

| am pleased to submit to the shareholders the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
known as the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31
December 2007.

Annual Results and Review

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately
RMB1,662,976,000 for the year ended 31 December
2007, representing an increase of approximately 111%
over the previous year; profit attributable to equity
shareholders was approximately RMB213,874,000,
and basic earnings per share was approximately
RMBO0.052.

As the juice concentrate industry was booming, the
selling price of products in the new pressing season
increased significantly and reached the highest level
since the Company’s establishment. Although the
purchase price of apples increased with the selling
price of the Group’s products, the increase in product
selling prices was higher than that of the price of
materials in terms of both absolute price and relative
price. The Group’s stable customer resources and
high product quality and the booming industry resulted
in significant growth in both the selling price and
sales volume of the Group’s apple juice concentrate.
As the turnover and market share of the Group was
increasing, the operating result and the sales result
grew up simultaneously.

RE L HZEFNRTROBRLF
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The Group has continued to strengthen the
cooperation with international renowned financial
institutions and increased the ratio of US dollar loans
in overall loans scale. At the time of continuous
appreciation of Renminbi against US dollar, various
long-term and short-term funding arrangements in US
dollar were approved which significantly reduced the
foreign exchange exposure and financing cost of the
Group thus facilitated the development of the business
of the Company. To uplift the juice production capacity,
the Group has built a new production base in Yongji
city of Shanxi Province as planned and has started
production before the pressing season. The Group
has completed the technological enhancement of the
original production line before the beginning of the
pressing season and increased the unit time capacity of
the original production line. In addition, the Group has
adopted the methods of acquisition and takeover and
had acquired shareholdings within the same industry in
two juice production companies, 51% in Binzhou Anli
and 70% in Qingdao Nannan. For pectin manufacture,
the Group’s pectin production equipment in Yantai
plant has completed commissioning, trial production,
etc., and realized mass production. For the variety of
products, the pectin plant has successfully developed
nine new products: apple core oil and eight apple
pectin new products. In addition, the pectin plant was
also actively developing the application of pectin in
high-end health products and has launched a new
health product line called “Green apple Green health”
into the market. For research and development, the
achievements of the Group included: one authorized
patent, four applied patents, five approvals from the
provincial result confirmation and one formalization of
corporate standard. Furthermore, the Group has been
confirmed as “Branch Centre for Apple Specialties
— State Research and Development of Processing
Technologies of Agricultural Products” by the Ministry
of Agriculture, “Technology Development Centre for
Yantai Enterprises” by Yantai Municipal government,

* For identification purpose only
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10 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

and awarded one second-class prize for patent in
Shandong Province and one first-class prize for
technological advancement in Yantai City.

Analysis of Industry and Our Market
Share

The PRC exported approximately 1,042,700 tonnes
of apple juice concentrate in 2007, representing a
significant increase of 54.93% as compared to 673,000
tonnes in 2006. The apple juice concentrate industry
of the PRC has only begun mass production in the late
90’s of last century. However, as there is an abundant
supply of apples in the PRC, the industry grew at a
tremendous rate, and has claimed a world market
share of over 50% within just a decade. The market
share of the Company, being a leader in the apple juice
concentrate industry of the PRC, has also increased
steadily each year. Based on the export ratio of
approximately 15% of the export volume of the industry
as a whole in the Group’s products last year, the export
ratio of the Group’s products reached approximately
17% for this year.

Prospect and Outlook

The booming of the industry has undoubtedly brought
forward huge potential for the Group’s prospect.
The high price orders signed in 07/08 pressing
season practically confirmed that the Company will
achieve rapid growth in result in the first half of 2008.
Complimented by the high possibility of total apple
supply in 2008 outgrowing that in 2007, the purchase
price of apples will be difficult to increase significantly.
Under the situation of effective cost control, the result
in the second half of 2008 will grow in stability. In
addition, with the gradual implementation of specific
measures inclining to the agricultural industry under the
PRC government’s macroeconomic policies and the
gradual improvement of various related PRC laws and
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regulations, the Group will enjoy better development
and financing opportunities. Aiming at enlarging its
business scale, the Group will strive to further enlarge
market, enhance productivity, diversify products,
expand sales, disperse markets and to develop

financing channels, etc.

For juice production capacity, to satisfy the increasing
demands for juice concentrate, both domestic and
abroad, the Group will continue to adopt the methods
of increasing and expanding production lines to further

e il
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enhance the production capacity of the Group. The
Group planned to add a production line in Xianyang
Andre and to renovate a production line in Muping
Andre’s headquarter. Before the new pressing season
begins, the Group will thereby have 13 modernized
juice production lines with annual production capacity
reaching approximately 310,000 tonnes (including
controlled and jointly controlled entities). Moreover,
we will continue to aim at taking over small and
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12 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

medium enterprises in the industry, both domestic
or abroad, through capital activities such as merger
and acquisition to further increase the Group’s
annual production capacity for juice concentrate, and
strengthen its leading position in the industry.

For pectin production capacity, the Group is planning
to leverage on the successful mass production of
the existing pectin production lines and start the
construction of the second pectin production line
as soon as possible, so as to increase the annual
production capacity of the pectin plant to 4,000 tonnes
to uplift the pectin production capacity, and achieve
economy of scale.

For product diversification, leveraging on the finished
products, the Group has strived for successful
application for the “11th Five-Year Plan” in final stage
roling event of the technology support initiative.
The development of more than ten new products
included low methoxyl pectin, amidated low methoxyl
pectin, citrous pectin and compound collid in different
application fields to realize the diversification of pectin
products and maximize the benefits of pectin products.
Moreover, to fulfill the increasing demand from
international market towards apple pulp, the Group
planned to build a new pulp production line with annual
production capacity of 10,000 tonnes in Muping’s
production base before the new pressing season
begins, so as to diversify the Group’s product and
increase corporate efficiency.

At present, the Company has a sound financial
base. The Company is also well positioned under the
State’s policy to construct new rural area, develop
agriculture, flourish the rural area, enrich farmers and
expand domestic demand. The Board of the Company
(the “Board”) and | have full confidence in its future
development. Our employees will continue to support
the Group and to contribute to the Group’s continuous
and steady development.
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Dividend

The Board proposes a final dividend of RMB0.007 per
share for the financial year 2007 in the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Appreciation

During the reporting period, as the industry was
booming significantly and the market share of the
Group grew steadily, turnover and operating result
grew up simultaneously. As the situation of inability for
the supply to meet the demand is difficult to be solved
in short term, the Directors believe 2008 will be another
year of substantial development for the Company.
On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my
gratitude to all the investors, loyal customers and
suppliers for their appreciation and solid support to the
Group.

Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*
Zheng Yue Wen

Chairman

15 March 2008

* For identification purpose only
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EEENWR DM

Financial Review

Results

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the
Group’s turnover increased to approximately
RMB1,662,976,000 as compared to approximately
RMB786,435,000 in 2006, representing a significant
increase of approximately RMB876,541,000 or 111%.
The Group’s turnover was principally derived from
the manufacture and sale of apple juice concentrate,
pear juice concentrate, apple essence, feedstuff and
related products. The sale of apple juice concentrate
accounted for approximately 97% of the total turnover
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2007
(2006: approximately 95%). The increase in turnover
was mainly attributable to the increase in sales volume
and selling price of apple juice concentrate. The
increase in sales volume was mainly due to Company’s
expansion into new market. The increase in selling price
was mainly attributable to the market demand of the
Group’s products.

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group’s
gross profit was approximately RMB427,395,000 and
the gross profit margin was approximately 26%. For
the corresponding period in 2006, the gross profit
was approximately RMB164,641,000 and gross profit
margin was approximately 21%. The increase in gross
profit and gross profit margin was mainly attributable to
the increase in selling price.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group’s
net profit (i.e. the profit for the year attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company) increased to
approximately RMB213,874,000 as compared to
approximately RMB69,673,000 for the corresponding
period in 2006, representing a significant increase
of approximately RMB144,201,000 or 207%. The
significant increase in net profit was mainly attributable
to the increase in sales volume and selling price of the
Group’s products.

Distribution and Administration Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
incurred distribution expenses of approximately
RMB106,834,000, as compared to approximately
RMB81,541,000 for the corresponding period in
last year, representing an increase of approximately
RMB25,293,000. The Group’s distribution expenses
mainly included transport, export inspection and
marketing expenses. Such increase was mainly

attributable to the increase in sales volume.

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
incurred administration expenses of approximately
RMB38,860,000 as compared to approximately
RMB35,099,000 for the corresponding period in
last year, representing an increase of approximately
RMB3,761,000. Such increase was mainly attributable
to the commencement of operation of a new factory in
Yongji in the second half of 2007 and the acquisition
of a subsidiary Binzhou Anli Fruit Juice Co., Ltd.”
(“Binzhou Anli”) in April 2007 which led to the increase
in general administrative expenses in 2007 .

* For identification purpose only
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Net Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the net
finance costs of the Group increased to approximately
RMB26,462,000, as compared to approximately
RMB32,877,000 for the corresponding period in
2006, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB6,415,000 or 20%. Such decrease was mainly
due to the increase in exchange gain caused by
appreciation of RMB.

Investment Income

For the year ended 31 December 2006, investment
income recognised by the Group was approximately
RMB53,086,000. Such investment income represented
the profit on disposal of 50% equity interest in a
subsidiary, Xianyang Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*(“Xianyang
Andre”).

Share of Profits/(Losses) from an Associate

For the year ended 31 December 2007, share of profits
from an associate of the Group was approximately
RMB501,000. Share of losses from an associate for the
corresponding period in last year was approximately
RMB48,000. The increase in share of profits from an
associate was due to the commencement of mass
production of the pectin business in 2007.

Income Tax

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the income
tax of the Group was increased from approximately
RMB8,589,000 in the last year to approximately
RMB31,451,000. The increase was mainly due to the
increase in profit for the year.

* For identification purpose only
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Business Review and Outlook

Business Review

Cooperation with International Financial Institutions
Under the trend of continued appreciation of
Renminbi against US dollar, the Group has enhanced
cooperation with international renowned financial
institutions to appropriately increase the proportion of
US dollar in the loan portfolio as a whole. The Directors
believe that such
dollar funding arrangements can reduce the Group’s

exchange rate risk and finance cost, and can facilitate

long-term and short-term US

better business development.

Enhancing Market Coverage

With years of continuous effort, the Group has already
expanded its sales network to major countries and
regions in the world, including the US, Japan, European
countries and PRC market.

Optimization of Customer Base

While expanding its market places and market share,
the Group also optimized its profile of customer base,
according to the situation of insufficient product supply
in recent years. Currently, the customer base of the
Company mainly comprises the renowned beverage
manufacturers of the world.
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Development of Bases for Apples with High Acidity
Encouraging peasants to cultivate apples with
high acidity is the major business strategy and the
foundation of continuing development of the Company
throughout the years. In the recent years, the price of
juice concentrate is increasing in the global market, so
as the acquisition price of raw materials, which in turn
drives the peasants to cultivate apples, in particular
their motivation to cultivate apples with high acidity.
Hence, the cultivation area of the bases of apples with
high acidity developed by the Group surrounding the
production bases is expanding continuously. As the
Group made an early start in developing the bases
of apples with high acidity, some of the bases are
attaining the capacity gradually, which guarantees the
supply of raw materials for the Company.

Production of Pectin

The Group had further implemented various aspects of
the production of pectin. Tasks such as commissioning
of the production equipment in the factory premises
located in Yantai, trial production run, were successfully
completed, with mass production started. The pectin
premises have also succeeded in the development of
nine new products, i.e. apple core oil and other eight
new pectin products, including:

No. Type Name

1 AP101 HM Ultra rapid set pectin

2 AP102 HM Rapid set pectin

3 AP103 HM Medium rapid set pectin
4 AP104 HM Slow set pectin

5 AP105 HM Ultra slow set pectin

6 AP106 HM High viscosity pectin

7 AP170 HM Viscosity pectin

8 AP140 HM Pectin for protein stability

In addition, the Group has also engaged in the
application of pectin in the development of high-end
health products, and developed health products series
of “Green apple Green health” which has become a
success story in the market.
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Increase Juice Production Capacity

The Group has built a new production base in Yongji,
Province as planned. The base started
production before pressing season which further

Shanxi

increased production capacity of the Group and
improved strategic positioning of production lines of
the Group. The Group has also completed technical
renovations at original production lines before pressing
season, so as to enlarge production capacity of such
production lines. Furthermore, the Group has also
engaged in merger and acquisition activities, and
controlled two fruit juice producers, i.e. 51% equity
interest in Binzhou Anli, and 70% equity interest in Qing
Dao Nannan Beverage Co., Ltd.” (“Qingdao Nannan”).

Placing of H Shares

On 4 July 2007, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with joint placing agents, Guotai Junan
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited and Mega Capital (Asia)
Company Limited, pursuant to which the joint placing
agents agreed to place an aggregate of 130,000,000
new H shares of the Company at a price of HK$1.18
per share.

The above placing was completed on 16 July 2007.
The new H shares, representing an aggregate of
approximately 6.71% of the total share capital of
the Company as enlarged by the issue of the new H
shares, are traded on the GEM since 16 July 2007.

Net proceeds from share placing had been fully utilized

according to the recommended uses set out in the
relevant announcement.

* For identification purpose only
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Traceability and Farm Management Improvement
Linkages Project

To enhance competitiveness, the Company has looked
forward and entered into a Linkages Cooperation
Agreement with IFC for the joint development of
traceable, farm management improvement linkages
project in the PRC. The project has commenced in
2006, and five trial villages (with 1,747 acreages)
in Yantai were recognized by EUREPGAP (global
excellent agricultural standard) in 2007. Due to
the success in getting EUREPGAP recognition in
the trial villages, the Group has constructed a new
production line for selection of commercial apples in
the production base in Yantai. The Directors believe
that this can lay a solid foundation for entering the
commercial apple market, which represents the
majority of apple output, by the Group.

Research and Development

The Group, acting as the main bidder and together
with China Agricultural University, the Chinese
Academy of Inspection and Quarantine of the General
Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection
and Quarantine of China, etc, have undertaken key
projects under the National Science and Technology
Support Program of the “11th Five-Year Plan” — the
development and industrialisation demonstration
of apple pectin products and apple juice of prime
quality. The Group continued undertaking of the
“Shandong Province Key Technology Project of 2006
— Key Technology for Fine and Deep Processing of
Fruits”. The Group also undertook the “Research
and Development of Key Technology and Equipment
for Apple Processing” which is a State project in
“Fostering of Science and Technology Enterprises
and Brand Products in Rural Areas”. The “Research
of Key Technology for Deep Processing of Superior
Agricultural Products (Fruits)” which was a Shandong
Province technology project of 2005 has completed.
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Our achievements included:

We have been granted one patent:
A processing method for concentrated natural
apple essence (ZL03112555.7).

We have also submitted patent applications
for four of our inventions:

200710112556.1, processing method for a
functional food with apple pectin as the main
ingredient, which can adjust blood sugar;

200710113555.7, processing method for a
functional food with apple pectin as the main
ingredient, which can adjust blood fat and reduce
cholesterol;

2007101135583.8, processing method for a
functional food with apple pectin as the main
ingredient, which can lubricate intestines and
eliminate toxins; and

200710113554.2, a test method for organic
solvent residue in pectin.

We have passed five tests for achievements
at provincial level:

Studies on technologies for extraction of apple
core oil;

Studies on key technologies on high protein
feeding stuff from apple dreg;

Studies on effective pressing technologies in
apple processing;

Studies on processing technologies of high
methoxyl series products; and

Studies on effective industrialized production
technologies of decolorized and de-acidified
concentrated apple juice.
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4. We have formulated one corporate standard:
Food additive compound pectin (Biaozhun No. Q/
YAGO001-2006).

During the year, the Company has been recognized
as “Branch Centre for Apple Specialties — State
Research and Development of Processing
Technologies of Agricultural Products” by the Ministry
of Agriculture, “Technology Development Centre for
Yantai Enterprises” by Yantai Municipal government,

and awarded one second class patent award from
Shandong Province, and one first class technology
progress award from Yantai City.

4. BIETLEFE#£1R
(CREMAIBIEERRB) (ZXE5 : Q/YAGOO1-
2006) °

REEATREAREEERT A EREEQMTE

WREAREEAD0L ] WRADRARES BA

PRERITRETL ] E LR E IR E S 1R
SRS — 518178 -

Yantai (&
(Shandong L)



Future Prospects

Expand Markets

While strengthening its position in the existing markets,
the Group will at the same time focus on market
diversification. In respect of the overseas market, apart
from strengthening its US market and the developed
European market and Japanese market, the Group is
actively liaising with its various customers with a view to
achieve further breakthroughs in the European, North
American, Asian and even Australian markets. At the
same time, the Group will actively promote its products
in the domestic PRC market.

Development of Financing Channels

Under the trend of continued appreciation of Renminbi
against US dollar, the Group will actively engage in
cooperation with international financial institutions
to diversify its financing channels, enlarge financing
products, especially, as long-term US dollar funding
arrangements can reduce the Group’s exchange rate
risk and finance cost, improve capital structure and can
facilitate better business development.

Further Increase Juice Production Capacity

To meet the growing demand for juice concentrate
both in local and overseas markets, the Group will
continue to increase and expand production lines so
as to increase production capacity of the Group. The
Group plans to build a new production line at Xianyang
Andre and to renovate a production line at Muping
Andre so as to expand capacity of production lines.
The Group will then have 13 modern production lines
for fruit juice, and reach an annual production capacity
of 310,000 tonnes (including controlled and jointly
controlled entities) before the start of the new pressing
season.
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Construction of Production lines for Fruit Pulp

To meet increasing demand for apple pulp in the
international market, the Group plans to build a new
production line for apple pulp, with an annual capacity
of 10,000 tonnes, at the present Muping production
base, so as to increase the product variety of the
Group and to improve corporate effectiveness.

Accelerate Pace for Acquisition and Merger

The Group is aiming at taking over small and medium
enterprises in the industry, domestic or abroad, through
capital activities such as merger and acquisition,
to further increase the Group’s annual production
capacity for juice concentrate, thereby strengthening
our leading position in the industry.

Enhance Pectin Production Capacity

The pectin production equipment of Yantai plant of
the Group has successfully launched mass production
with an annual production capacity amounted to
2,000 tonnes. On the basis of the successful mass
production of current pectin production line, the Group
is planning to start the construction of the second
pectin production line as soon as possible, thereby
lifting the production capacity of pectin to 4,000
tonnes per annum, so as to increase pectin production
capacity as soon as possible to achieve economy of
scale.

Continue Development of Traceability and Farm
Management Improvement Linkages Project

With five trial villages (with 1,747 acreages) in Yantai
recognized by EUREPGAP successfully in 2007, the
Group will experiment with trial villages in Xianyang
district to implement EUREPGAP projects, so as to
gain expertise, and build a solid foundation for large
scale promotion for such projects.
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Product Diversification for Pectin Products

The Group will strive to engage in later rolling projects
under the National Science and Technology Support
Program of the “11th Five-Year Plan”, to develop more
than 10 new products, among them, low methoxyl
pectin, amidated low methoxyl pectin, citrous pectin
and compound collid, so as to achieve diversification
of pectin products to maximize effectiveness of such
products.

Research and Development
For concentrated apple juice, the Group will strive to:

1. make new achievements through undertaking
projects under the National Science and
Technology Support Program of the “11th Five-
Year Plan”;

2. conduct R&D in processing technologies of
immature apples and apples with high acidity,
so as to improve product quality and lower
production costs;

3. conduct R&D in separation technologies of
ultrefilter residues, so as to improve production
efficiency and reduce production costs; and

4. engage in the later two years’ rolling projects
under the National Science and Technology
Support Program of the “11th Five-Year Plan”.
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For pectin, the Group will strive to:

engage in later rolling projects under the National
Science and Technology Support Program of the
“11th Five-Year Plan”, to develop more than 10 new
products, among them, low methoxyl pectin, amidated
low methoxyl pectin, citrous pectin and compound
collid, so as to formulate more than 4 corporate
standards, submit more than 3 patent applications and
be awarded with more than 2 scientific achievements.

Liquidity And Financial Resources

The Group generally financed its operations and
investing activities by internally generated financial
resources and loans from banks. As at 31 December
2007, the Group had outstanding short-term and long-
term bank loans of approximately RMB1,061,064,000
and RMB328,707,000 respectively. As at 31 December
2007, the short-term bank loans bore interest at rates
ranging from 6.57% to 7.83% per annum. The long-
term bank loans bore floating interest rate of LIBOR
+1.1%, with maturity in 2009. In the year 2007, the
Group repaid on time all debts that were due. The
Directors consider that the Group has sufficient
financial resources to meet its ongoing operation
requirements.
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Capitalization Issue

The resolutions about the capitalization issue to the
shareholders of H Shares and Domestic Shares on
the basis of six (6) capitalization H Shares for every
five (5) H Shares and six (6) capitalization Domestic
Shares for every five (5) Domestic Shares in issue on 25
October 2007 were duly passed at the special general
meeting, H Shares class meeting and Domestic Shares
class meeting of the Company held on 25 October
2007. The capitalization shares issued pursuant to
the capitalization issue were credited as fully paid
by way of capitalization of the Company’s share
premium account. Dealing of the capitalization shares
commenced on 21 November 2007.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH IFC

On 21 April 2005, the Company entered into a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with IFC for a loan
of US$15,000,000 (approximately HK$117,000,000)
repayable commencing on 15 March 2007 by 10
approximately equal instalments until all monies
payable under the Loan Agreement have been fully
repaid.

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, Glory Cause Land
Afforestation Co., Ltd.*CEtRHBEERLZIEES
[R’A7]), being the controling shareholder of the
Company, Beiing RAJ Network Sales Co., Ltd.* (it
RImEMEEIEEEREEAF]), Yantai Donghua Fruit

* For identification purpose only
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Co., Ltd* (B REREHFRRAA])and Donghua Fruit
Industry Co., Ltd. have collectively undertaken to IFC
and the Company to retain their legal and beneficial
aggregate ownership of not less than 40% in the issued
share capital of the Company so long as any part of
the principal of or interest on the loan under or any
other sums due under the Loan Agreement remain
outstanding and unpaid. In the event that their legal
and beneficial aggregate ownership falls below the
above aggregate percentage level, the Company shall
be required to repay the principal amount of the loan
from time to time outstanding and the interest thereon
accrued.

On 21 March 2006, after the subscription of shares
by IFC, the Company entered into an Amended and
Restated Agreement to the Loan Agreement (the
“Amended Loan Agreement”) with IFC to amend the
facility to be granted by IFC under the Loan Agreement
from US$15,000,000 to US$8,000,000 and to
make certain other incidental changes to the Loan
Agreement, including the cancellation of all assets
charged by IFC.

The Amended Loan Agreement is signed subject to
the entering into of (a) the Yantai Share Retention
Agreement, pursuant to which each of Glory Cause
Land Afforestation Co., Ltd.* (Y% BB TR
AMRA7F]), being the controling shareholder of the
Company, Beijing RAJ Network Sales Co., Ltd.*(dt
RUmEMEEIEEEREEAF]), Yantai Donghua Fruit
Co., Ltd*(MAaRERXHBR AT )and Donghua

* For identification purpose only
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Fruit Industry Co., Ltd. will undertake to maintain an
aggregate interest of no less than 40% in the issued
share capital of the Company; and (b) Donghua Share
Retention Agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Wang An
and Mr. Zhang Hui will agree to maintain the specified
percentage interests in each of Yantai Donghua Fruit
Co., Ltd. *(fABRERZER A F]) and Donghua Fruit
Industry Co., Ltd.. As at the date of this announcement,
both the Yantai Share Retention Agreement and the
Donghua Share Retention Agreement have not yet
been finalised and the loan of US$8,000,000 under the
Amended Loan Agreement is not yet available to be
drawn down.

Term Facility Agreement with Certain
Financial Institutions

On 2 June 2006, the Company as borrower entered
into the Term Facility Agreement with certain financial
institutions whereby the lenders have agreed to
make available to the Company a term facility in an
aggregate amount of US$60,000,000 (approximately
HK$468,000,000 upon drawdown).

The terms of the Term Facility Agreement impose
specific performance obligations on the part of the
controlling shareholders of the Company. Under the
Term Facility Agreement, each of the following will
constitute an event of default upon which the facility
will, among others, become immediately due and
payable:

(i) Mr. Wang An does not or ceases to have or is not
or ceases to be entitled to exercise, directly or
through his controlled corporations, management
control over each of the Company and its
material subsidiaries; and

* For identification purpose only
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(i)  the aggregate shareholding in the Company that
is beneficially owned by Mr. Zheng Yue Wen
and Mr. Wang An, whether directly or through
their respective controlled corporations, is
not or ceases to be larger than the aggregate
shareholding (whether direct or indirect) in the
Company of and/or held to the order of any other
person and/or persons acting in concert with
such other person/persons.

As at 31 December 2007, Mr. Zheng Yue Wen and Mr.
Wang An, whether directly or through their respective
controlled corporations, collectively held more than 40%
of the total issued share capital of the Company (not yet
taken into account the share transfer as stated in Note (3)
under the Section of “Directors’, supervisors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in the shares of
the Company”). Mr. Zheng Yue Wen and Mr. Wang An
are also the executive Directors of the Company.

Charge of Assets

As at 31 December 2007, no assets of the Company
was pledged.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had no contingent
liabilities.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The operating revenue of the Group is partly
denominated in US dollars. It is the practice of the
Group to convert its operating revenue denominated
in US dollars to RMB to finance its operating expenses
and capital requirements. However, the results of
operations and the financial position of the Group may
be affected by any changes in the exchange rates.
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On the other hand, the conversion of RMB
denominated balances into foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

Capital Commitment

For the capital commitment of the Group, please refer
to note 37 to the Financial Statements.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had a net
cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB97,597,000. The Group’s gearing ratio as
at 31 December 2007 was approximately 62%
(2006: approximately 62%) which is calculated by
dividing the Group’s total liabilities of approximately
RMB1,759,852,000 (2006: RMB1,145,146,000)
by the Group’s total assets of approximately
RMB2,853,291,000 (2006: RMB1,852,683,000).
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Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Zheng Yue Wen (¥5E237), aged 46, is the chairman
and executive Director of the Company. Mr. Zheng is
a well-known entrepreneur in the PRC. Mr. Zheng is a
member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (CPPCC- 2B 1) and is a vice president
of the All-China General Chamber of Industry and
Commerce. In October 1999, Mr. Zheng graduated
from the Asia International Open University (Macau) (52
MEBIBRARIAER GBFY)) with a degree in Master of
Business Administration. He then obtained his PhD.
in Economics from the Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics (ER1LEF4EK22) in November 1999. In
December 1999, Mr. Zheng was appointed as a visiting
professor of the Department of Business Administration
at Jiangxi University of Economics (I PAEAAEAE). He
was a director of Henan Pinggao Electric Company
Limited (A FRESRRHBRAT) from July 1999
to January 2007. Currently, Mr. Zheng is the chairman
of Creat Group Co., Ltd. (Rim&EE AR A R]) and also
a chairman of Lead REITs Asset Management Corp (<&
HEEEERMERATR]). He joined the Company
in November 2000 and has been involving in the
concentrated juice production industry since then. Mr.
Zheng is responsible for the Group’s corporate policy
formulation, business strategic planning, business
development and overall management of the Group.
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Mr. Wang An (E£%), aged 45, is the vice chairman,
executive Director and chief executive of the Company.
Mr. Wang is a well known entrepreneur in the PRC.
Top ten of Outstanding Youths Entrepreneurs in
Shandong Province. Mr. Wang has been awarded
the medal of “Labor Model of the Nation” and is a
representative of Shandong Province to the National
People’s Congress (AAXfLZR). Mr. Wang graduated
from the College of Chinese Communist Party (9
HARERFEESR) in June 1994. He was the
general manager of Yangma Resort (&5 &ERBA)
for four years before joining the Group. He joined the
Company in March 1996 and has been involving in the
concentrated juice production industry since then. Mr.
Wang is responsible for the overall management of the
Group.

Mr. Zhang Hui (555 ), aged 36, is an executive Director
and executive president of the Company. He was the
deputy general manager of Muping Foodstuff Industrial
Company Limited (¥ &m LEAR A7) and Muping
Material (22 #)%& ) before joining the Group. Mr. Zhang
joined the Company in December 1998 and has been
involving in the concentrated juice production industry
since then. Mr. Zhang is responsible for assisting Mr.
Wang An for overall management of the Group.
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Mr. Yu Hui Lin (F&#k - formerly T33%R), aged 60,
is an executive Director and chief engineer of the
Company. He was the facility supervisor of Rusan
County Candy and Fruit Juice Factory (FLILEER & R
7Fi8) in Shandong Province from March 1982 to March
1988 and has been involving in the juice production
industry since then. Mr. Yu then joined Yantai Fruit
Juice Factory (JAEMRTME) as the chief of the
Technical Department from April 1988 to March 1995.
In April 1995, Mr. Yu joined the Shandong Zhonglu Fruit
Juice and Food Co. (LUEFERTRMAF]) as the
assistant supervisor of the Research and Development
Department before joining the Group. Mr. Yu has
over 20 years of experience in the juice production
industry. He joined the Company in March 1996 and is
responsible for the Group’s equipment and the overall
technical work.

Mr. Jiang Hong Qi (Z#%7), aged 42, is an executive
Director and financial controller of the Company. Mr.
Jiang holds a Master Degree in Economics majoring in
Accounting. Mr. Jiang is a certified public accountant
in the PRC. He had been both the business manager
and senior manager in Shandong International Trust
and Investment Corporation (L& BEBEEFEREA
7]) before joining the Company. Mr. Jiang joined the
Company in 2002 as a deputy chief accountant. Mr.
Jiang is responsible for the accounting and finance
matters of the Group. Mr. Jiang was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 28 May 2007 .
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Mr. Li Ye Sheng (Z%#5), aged 54, is an executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Li has post-secondary
academic qualification. Mr. Li was the squad leader
and captain of a warship under North Sea Marine
from December 1973 to 1990, the supervisor of
the Agricultural Bank of Muping, Yantai, Shandong
Province from November 1990 to October 1995, and
the deputy manager of Land Development Service
Company of Muping, Yantai, Shandong Province from
November 1995 to January 1997. Mr. Li joined the
Company in 1997 as the general manager of Longkou
Andre and Xuzhou Andre, and is currently the party
secretary of the Company. Mr. Li was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 28 May 2007 .

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lo Chih-Hsien (&%), aged 52, is a non-
executive Director. Mr. Lo studied in the Department
of Foreign Language of Tainan Cheng Kung University,
and the Research Institute of Business Administration
of University of California Los Angeles where he
obtained his Master Degree in Business Administration.
Mr. Lo was the Taiwan regional general manager of
De Beers Diamond Promotion Services before 1986.
He was the section chief of Uni-President Enterprises
Corp. between 1986 and 1991 and the business
general manager and the chief operation officer of a
U.S. subsidiary of Uni-President Enterprises Corp.
between 1991 and 1997. Subsequently, he held
positions such as the special assistant to the chief
executive officer of President Enterprises (China)
Investment Co. and senior vice president of Uni-
President Enterprises Corp.. From July 2003 to May
2007, he was the executive vice president of Uni-
President Enterprises Corp.. Since June 2007, he has
been the general manager of Uni-President Enterprises
Corp.. Mr. Lo is also the director of President Chain
Store Corp., Ton Yi Industrial Corp. and Tait Marketing
and Distribution Co., Ltd., all are listed companies in
Taiwan.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Jian Hui (8B3£#2), aged 38, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Wu is
a partner of Shenzhen Dahua Tiancheng Certified
Public Accountants (FRIIARZERETENEHFT) and
is a registered accountant in the PRC, a chartered
accountant in Securities Industry and a registered
estate surveyor in the PRC. Mr. Wu was responsible for
initial public offering and issue of new shares for various
companies and was a financial consultant to a number
of listed companies in the PRC.

Mdm. Yu Shou Neng (&75F&E), aged 53, is an

independent non-executive Director. Mdm. Yu

possesses postgraduate qualification. She is a

representative of Shandong Province to the National

People’s Congress and is also the head and a senior

lecturer of Shandong Yantai Agriculture Institute (1LI5
BR¥ER).

Ms. Qu Wen (#5E), aged 41, is an independent
non-executive Director. Ms. Qu is a second grade
solicitor in the PRC, an arbitrator of Yantai Arbitration
Committee, a member of the CPPCC in 10th Session
and a supervisor of Yantai People’s Procuratorate. Ms.
Qu graduated from the Beijing University and obtained
her Bachelor Degree in Law in 1989. From 1989 to
1992, Miss Qu worked for the Legal Advisory Office
of Muping, Yantai, Shandong Province and Bureau of
Justice of Muping, Yantai. From 1992 to 2002, Ms. Qu
was a solicitor and a supervisor of Economic Division
of the Shandong Qianwei Law Firm. Since October
2002, she has been a solicitor and an executor officer
of the Shandong Yanshiming Law Firm. Ms. Qu was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 28 May 2007.
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Supervisors

Mr. Mu Gui Sheng (571£5%), aged 67, is the Chairman
and an independent representative in the supervisory
committee of the Company. Mr. Mu graduated
from Shandong Industrial University (ILET%X
) in August 1965 with a major in the profession
of machinery design. Mr. Mu worked in the Muping
Agricultural Machinery Factory (& 842 2 )
from August 1965 to July 1971. From July 1971 to
November 1980, Mr. Mu worked as the vice chairman
of Muping Ministry of Economic Affairs (£ FE T %
/). He was the head of the Muping Generator Factory
(B FEBHEMBR) from November 1980 to April 1984,
From April 1984 to 2001, he acted as the minister of
Muping Economic and Trade Commission (£ 54487
E 5Z 8&FT), minister of Development and Reform
Commission (RN EZ B & EF) and vice minister
of the Muping National People’s Congress (£ [& AKX
BES).

Mr. Qu Wei Jia (FR#E1E), aged 60, is an employee
representative in the supervisory committee of the
Company. In 1991, he graduated from the Shandong
Muping Teachers Training Institute (IIE&FE&HK
B#EEEH). Since October 1991, Mr. Qu worked
in Yangma Resort (E&HSE/KHM). Mr. Qu joined
the Company in October 1999 as the manager of
the administration department. Mr. Qu is currently
the deputy general manager of a subsidiary of the
Company.
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Mr. Wang Chun Tang (E£&Z), aged 55, is an
independent representative in the supervisory
committee of the Company. Mr. Wang has university
academic qualification. Mr. Wang was the officer of the
Communications Bureau of Muping, Yantai, Shandong
Province from May 1973 to December 1987. He
studied economics and management in the Chinese
Communist Party School and Shandong Province
Party School from 1991 to 1996. From January 1988
to January 2006, Mr. Wang was the supervisor, deputy
chief and managing deputy chief of Publishing Office
of Muping, Yantai, Shandong Province. Since January
2006, Mr. Wang has been the member of the Executive
Committee of the Yantai Muping National People’s
Congress. Mr. Wang was appointed as a Supervisor
with effect from 28 May 2007.

Senior Management

Mr. Wang An (E£%), aged 45, is the vice chairman,
executive Director and chief executive of the Company.
Mr. Wang is a well known entrepreneur in China. Top
ten of Outstanding Youths Entrepreneurs in Shandong
Province. Mr. Wang has been awarded the medal of
“Labor Model of the Nation” and is a representative of
Shandong Province to the National People’s Congress
(AKRMEK). Mr. Wang graduated from the College of
Chinese Communist Party (713t B4 KR T ) in
June 1994. He was the general manager of Yangma
Resort (&5 &E R for four years before joining the
Group. He joined the Company in March 1996 and has
been involving in the concentrated juice production
industry since then. Mr. Wang is responsible for the
overall management of the Group.
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Mr. Zhang Hui (55#%), aged 36, is an executive Director
and executive president of the Company. He was the
deputy general manager of Muping Foodstuff Industrial
Company Limited (& m LB R A7) and Muping
Material (22 #)%&) before joining the Group. Mr. Zhang
joined the Company in December 1998 and has been
involving in the concentrated juice production industry
since then. Mr. Zhang is responsible for assisting Mr.
Wang An for overall management of the Group.

Mr. Yu Hui Lin (F&#k - formerly TE3X), aged 60,
is an executive Director and chief engineer of the
Company. He was the facility supervisor of Rusan
County Candy and Fruit Juice Factory (2LIL&ERE & R
7H) in Shandong Province from March 1982 to March
1988 and has been involving in the juice production
industry since then. Mr. Yu then joined Yantai Fruit
Juice Factory (MEMRTE) as the chief of the
Technical Department from April 1988 to March 1995.
In April 1995, Mr. Yu joined the Shandong Zhonglu Fruit
Juice and Food Co. (LUEARBRTRMAF) as the
assistant supervisor of the Research and Development
Department before joining the Group. Mr. Yu has
over 20 years of experience in the juice production
industry. He joined the Company in March 1996 and is
responsible for the Group’s equipment and the overall
technical work.

Mr. Jiang Hong Qi (ZE#£%7), aged 42, is an executive
Director and financial controller of the Company. Mr.
Jiang holds a Master Degree in Economics majoring in
Accounting. Mr. Jiang is a certified public accountant
in the PRC. He had been both the business manager
and senior manager in Shandong International Trust
and Investment Corporation (ILIEZEBEBREFEIRER
7)) before joining the Company. Mr. Jiang joined the
Company in 2002 as a deputy chief accountant. Mr.
Jiang is responsible for the accounting and finance
matters of the Group. Mr. Jiang was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 28 May 2007.

SRIESA  36F%  ARFMITERRPITAE - 10
AAKER  ERELTFRATEARARALET
MEMRIRLE - REER-AANFHZANAKR
NE WAUSERERETEER - REEWHHT
REGTAEASENEREE -

TEMEE(BAATER) 605 AARNITES
FREIRM - — AN ZF=ZAZ-NAN\NF=A" T
EERRIURELIERER BT REEREBR &K -
VEWRSTRAEEE - TEERERNABETR
AR — A ANFEAZE-AARF= A HERME
MBS o IMARSKER - TEER-ANTFMEAREN
ALRFERARMAREERERFENFIHEET
T TREARRATLEEXRRE _TZ2F&R - TRE
R—AARFE=ZAMAARRE  BAEAEENR
B TESEBRMTE-

ZARAFRE 25 REBBRL ARRNTES
RUBRE - ZRETEGHBEE  TRPEEMN
SETED - EARABEIUREBEREEREQARHL
B SRKESE - 2AER_TT_FNALR
Al BEAQFREEM - ZXRERBELEEN
S MUBES  ZAER_TTLFAA-TNHA
WEER/RNRRITES °

—EEBLEEH Annual Report 2007 39



Mr. Li Ye Sheng (Z%#5), aged 54, is an executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Li has post-secondary
academic qualification. Mr. Li was the squad leader
and captain of a warship under North Sea Marine
from December 1973 to 1990, the supervisor of
the Agricultural Bank of Muping, Yantai, Shandong
Province from November 1990 to October 1995, and
the deputy manager of Land Development Service
Company of Muping, Yantai, Shandong Province from
November 1995 to January 1997. Mr. Li joined the
Company in 1997 as the general manager of Longkou
Andre and Xuzhou Andre, and is currently the party
secretary of the Company. Mr. Li was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 28 May 2007 .

Mr. Yung Ka Hee Titus (A%1g), aged 50, is a vice
president of the Company. He holds a Bachelor
Degree in Economics. Mr. Yung was the district sales
manager and chief representative of China of APV #&
HABRAF]. He was the general manager of Shanghai
head office of Daya Group Company (KinfEERN
A]) and also the deputy manager of Shanghai Daya
Economy Development Co. Ltd. (/KK BEERER
FRZAF]). Mr. Yung joined the Company in 2000 and is
responsible for the overseas sales of the Group.

Mr. Yang Tao (#5)3), aged 38, is a vice president of
the Company. Mr. Yang joined the Company in March
1996 and had worked as production line leader,
supervisor and factory manager. He is well experienced
in juice manufacturing. He is currently responsible for
the production of the Group.

Ms. Peng Xiao Jun (¥/)&), aged 32, is a vice
president of the Company. Ms. Peng was the sales
supervisor of Chongaing Jianshe Motor Co. Ltd. (EE
BREREARART) and Nanjing Siemens Co. Ltd.
(FRAFIFARRAF]). Ms. Peng joined the Company
in 2002 as an assistant to president. She is currently
responsible for the domestic sales of the Group.
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Miss Yao Xiao Ying (JbEE4), aged 34, is the secretary
to the Board. Miss Yao graduated from Northwest
University of the PRC and obtained her Bachelor
degree in Law in 1997. She is currently responsible
for the preparation of the sessions of shareholders’
meeting and meetings of the Board, preservation
of documents, management of information of the
shareholders of the Company and information
disclosure, etc.

Qualified Accountant and
Company Secretary

Miss Ng Man Yee ({E#%), aged 36, is the qualified
accountant and company secretary of the Company.
Miss Ng graduated from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong and obtained her Bachelor degree in
Business Administration in 1994. She is a fellow
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and chartered accountant of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Miss Ng has
over 10 years of experience in the field of auditing
and accounting. Miss Ng was appointed as the
qualified accountant, company secretary and one of
the authorized representatives of the Company on 12
September 2005.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The articles of association, terms of reference of
the Audit Committee and terms of reference of the
Supervisory Committee of the Company form the
framework for the code of corporate governance
practice of the Company.

The Board has reviewed its corporate governance
documents and is of the view that such documents
have incorporated all of the principles and code
provisions in the “Code on Corporate Governance
Practices” of the GEM Listing Rules (“the CG Codg”). In
certain respects, the code of practices laid down in the
Company’s corporate governance documents exceeds
the code provisions in the CG Code. The followings
are the major respects in which the Company’s
own corporate governance code exceed the code
provisions in the CG Code:

- the Company has established a nomination
committee in accordance with the recommended
best practices of the CG Code; and

- the Board met more than 4 times during 2007.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is governed by a Board of Directors
which has the responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company. Through the Board, these Directors
are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.
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The Directors

Currently the Board comprises 6 executive Directors,
1 non-executive Director and 3 independent non-
executive Directors. Except Mr. Jiang Hong Qi, Mr. Li
Ye Sheng and Ms. Qu Wen who were appointed on 28
May 2007, all Directors served for the whole of 2007.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years. All
Directors are appointed in the shareholders’ meeting
with formal letters of appointment setting out the key
terms and conditions relative to their appointment.

The independent non-executive Directors possess
a wide range of skill and experience. They serve the
important function of providing adequate monitoring
and balances for safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders and the Company as a whole. The Board
considers that they can make independent judgement
effectively and fuffill the independence guidelines set
out in rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on
pages 32 to 36 of this report.

Bs

BREEEREARNTES  —BIFUTERER=
FBUIFNTES - BRERTERLE  FTEBELERH
EXTHR_TELFRATN\BREEIN FIAEE
EORN_FTLFRFER -

REFCHREARARI L RA=F2MEEL -
BEEHARRAGEE, EXAZEEEMMNERS
AR R AR AN R AF

ARRWBIFATEERBRIZORIMESR - ftb
PRERD BREEMFENEE(ER - RERRNE
BAAMMNG - EF 2R RPN ERBFEREBY
HIE - 15ACRIEMR AR RIS 5.00 155IE & ¥ (48
SIERVFESI -

BREENEAEHBENAREEFREI0H -

—EZLEFHR Annual Report 2007 43



Powers of the Board

The Board reviews the performance of the operating
divisions against their agreed budgets and business
objectives on a regular basis and also exercises a
number of reserved powers which include:

- convening shareholders’ meetings and reporting
on their works at shareholders’ meetings;

- implementation of resolutions passed at
shareholders’ meetings;

- formulating the Company’s business plans and
investment proposals;

- preparing the Company’s annual financial budget
and final accounts;

- formulating proposals for profit distribution and
for setting off of accumulated losses of the
Company;

- formulating proposals for an increase or reduction
in registered capital and the issuance of debt
securities of the Company;

- formulating proposals for the demerger, merger
or dissolution of the Company;

- formulating the internal management structure of
the Company;

- appointment or dismissal of the chief executive of
the Company and appointment and dismissal of
deputy general manager, financial controller and
other senior management at the recommendation
of the chief executive of the Company and
determination of their remuneration and method
of payment;
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- formulating the basic management system of the
Company;

- formulating proposals for amendments to the
articles of association; and

- carrying out other powers conferred by
shareholders’ meetings.

The Board is also responsible for the integrity of
financial information and the effectiveness of the
Company’s systems of internal control and risk
management processes. The Board is also responsible
for preparing the accounts of the Company. Day
to day management of the Company’s business is
delegated to the chief executive. The functions of the
Board and the powers delegated to the chief executive
are reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain
appropriate.

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the role
of the chairman is separate from that of the chief
executive. The chairman of the Company is Mr. Zheng
Yue Wen. The chairman is responsible for convening
and holding of general meetings and Board meetings,
tracking the progress implementation of the resolutions
passed by the Board, signing the securities issued by
the Company and carrying out other powers conferred
by the Board. Mr. Wang An is the chief executive of
the Company. The chief executive is responsible for
the production, operation and management of the
Company, implementation of the resolutions passed
by the Board, implementation of annual business
plans and investment proposals, formulation of internal
management structure of the Company, formulation
of the basic management system of the Company,
formulating the specific governance of the Company,
proposing to the Board for appointment and dismissal
of deputy general manager, financial controller
and other senior management of the Company,
appointment and dismissal of other management staffs
whose appointment and dismissal does not require
approval from the Board and carrying out other powers
conferred by the Board and the articles of association.
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Board Meetings

The chairman is responsible for the leadership of the
Board, ensuring the effectiveness of the Board in
all aspects of its role and for setting its agenda and
taking into account any matters proposed by other
Directors for inclusion in the agenda. Agendas and
accompanying board papers are circulated where
possible at least 3 days before the time of a board or
committee meeting. The chairman is also responsible
for making sure all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings. The chairman ensures
that the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear
information. Directors are encouraged to update their
skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Company
through their initial induction, ongoing participation at
board and committee meetings, and through meeting
key people at head office and in the divisions.

All Directors have access to the services of the
company secretary who regularly updates the Board
on governance and regulatory matters. Any Director,
wishing to do so in the furtherance of his or her duties,
may take independent professional advice through the
chairman at the Company’s expense. The availability of
professional advice extends to the Audit, Remuneration
and other Committees.

Minutes of Board meetings are taken by the company
secretary or the secretary to the Board and, together
with any supporting Board papers, are available to
all Board members. Board meetings are structured
to encourage open discussion and frank debate to
ensure the non-executive Directors provide an effective
challenge to each executive Director. When necessary,
the independent non-executive Directors meet
privately to discuss matters which are their specific
responsibility.
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In furtherance of good corporate governance, the
Board has established 3 committees: Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.
All committees have terms of reference which fulfil
the principles set out in the CG Code. The secretary
of the Board takes minutes of the meetings of these
committees and the work of these committees is
reported to the Board.

The Board met 10 times during 2007. The chief
compliance officer, the chief executive and the financial
controller also attended most of the Board meetings
to advise on corporate governance, risk management,
statutory compliance, mergers and acquisitions and
accounting and financial matters. The attendance
(other than attending by authorized representatives)
of individual Directors at the Board meetings and the
other committees is set out in the table below.

Board Meeting

Date (YY/MM/DD) Chair person

AE(%/B/R) =ZxE ZYW WA ZH YHL
07/03/18 YW v v v
07/04/30 YW v v v
07/05/28 WA v v
07/07/04 WA v v
07/07/15 WA v v
07/08/06 YW v v v
07/09/30 YW v v v
07/11/06 YW v v v
07/11/14 YW v v v
07/11/27 YW v v v
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JHQ LYS ZWX RXJ LCH HXS WJH YSN Qw

2 v v 2 v v

v v v v v
v v v v
v v v v
\2 v v v
v v v v v v
v v v v
v v v v v v
v v v v
v v v v v v
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Audit Committee Meeting

Date (YY/MM/DD) Chair person
BEI(F/A/8) *E
07/03/18 WJH
07/04/30 WJH
07/08/05 WJH
07/11/06 WJH

Nomination Committee Meeting

Date (YY/MM/DD) Chair person
BEI(FE/A/8) *E
07/03/16 ZYW

Remuneration Committee Meeting

Date (YY/MM/DD)
BHEA(F/A/R)

Chair person

E:

07/03/16 WJH

Note

ZYW
WA
ZH
YHL
JHQ
LYS
ZWX
RXJ
LCH
HXS
WJH
YSN
Qw

Zheng Yue Wen
Wang An
Zhang Hui

Yu Hui Lin
Jiang Hong Qi
Li Ye Sheng
Zhang Wan Xin
Ren Xiao Jian
Lo Chih-Hsien
Hu Xiao Song
Wu Jian Hui
Yu Shou Neng
Qu Wen
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Directors’ Interest

Al Directors disclose to the Board on their first
appointment their interests as a director or otherwise
in other companies or organizations and such
declarations of interests are updated annually. When
the Board considers any proposal or transaction in
which a Director has a conflict of interest, the Director
declares his interest and is required to abstain from
voting and withdraw from the meetings as appropriate.
The Company seeks confirmation from Directors
annually in respect of any transactions of the Company
or its subsidiaries which are related to Directors or their
associates.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the standards governing
the required standard against which listed issuers and
their directors must measure their conduct dealings
of securities of the listed issuer related to directors
(“the Securities Code”) contained in Rules 5.46 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the Company’s
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
its Directors. A copy of the Securities Code is sent to
each Director upon his appointment and thereafter four
times annually, that is one month before the date of the
Board meetings to approve the Company’s quarterly
results, half year results and annual results, with a
reminder that the Director cannot deal in the securities
and derivatives of the Company until after such results
have been published.

All Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the requirements in the Securities Code during
2007.

Specific employees who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company are also subject to compliance with the
Securities Code. No incident of non-compliance was
noted by the Company in 2007.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee of the Company
comprises 3 members of which 2 are recommended
by shareholders and 1 is an employee representative
elected by the employees. The Supervisory Committee
is responsible for supervision of the Board, members
of the Board and senior management, to prevent
authority abuse, shareholders’ interest infringement
and to protect legal interest of the Company and its
employees. During 2007, the Supervisory Committee
held 1 meeting and reviewed the Company’s financial
position, legal operation conditions and due diligence
status of the senior management.

INTERNAL CONTROL

Internal control system

The Board has overall responsibility for setting and
reviewing the Company’s system of internal control.
The Audit Committee will also review the effectiveness
of such system periodically. Procedures applied by the
Audit Committee for reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control system include: discussion
with the management on the risky areas arising from
auditing and/or raised by management, reviewing
material issues arising from internal or external audit
report and reviewing material matters identified by
internal auditors and risk assessment manager of the
Group. The internal control system of the Company
plays an effective role in risk management which is a
very important factor for ensuring the achievement of
operational goal. The establishment of internal control
system is for safeguarding assets against unauthorized
use or disposition; for maintaining proper accounting
records; and for the reliability of financial information
used within the business or for publication. However,
the procedures provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material errors, losses or fraud.
Procedures have also been designed for compliance of
applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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A review of the Company’s internal control system
covering financial, operational, compliance and risk
management, is conducted annually. The result has
been reported to the Board.

The Board confirms that systems and procedures are
in place to identify, control and report on significant
risks involved in achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives. Exposures to these risks are monitored by
the Board with the support of various committees and
senior management. For the year under review, the
Board considered that the Company’s internal control
system is adequate and the Company has complied
with the provisions on internal control of the CG Code.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Internal Audit Department provides an independent
review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
internal control system. The department is headed by
a manager familiar with the Company’s operation. Its
scope of work mainly includes auditing of financial and
operational systems, observance of relevant policies
and regulations, regular and special auditing, auditing
of production effectiveness, etc. The audit plan, which
is prepared based on risk assessment methodology,
is discussed and agreed every year with the Audit
Committee. In addition to its agreed annual schedule
of work, the Internal Audit Department conducts other
special reviews as required.

The primary reporting line of the Internal Audit
Department is to the chairman of the Board but there
is also direct access to the Audit Committee. Internal
audit reports are sent to the chief executive, the
financial controller, external auditors and the relevant
management of the departments under audit. A
summary of major audit findings is reported to the
Audit Committee. The Board and the Audit Committee
actively monitor the number and seriousness of findings
raised by the Internal Audit Department and also the
corrective actions taken by relevant departments.
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Detailed control guidelines have been set and made
available to all employees of the Company regarding
handling and dissemination of corporate data which is
price sensitive.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is concerned with the identification
and effective management of business risks,
including safety and security, legal, environmental and
reputational risks.

Risk Management Committee

The Company has established a Risk Management
Committee which coordinates the proper application of
operational risk management procedures throughout
the Company. The Committee assists the Board
to fulfill its oversight role over the Company and its
subsidiaries in, among others, the following areas:

- establishment of the risk approach and risk
management strategy of the Company to
formulate its risk profile;

- identification, assessment and management of
the material risks faced by the various business
units of the Company;

- reviewing and assessment of the adequacy of the
Company’s risk management process, system
and internal control; and

- reviewing and monitoring the Company’s risk
management process, system and internal
control, including whether the development
of the Company’s business is prudent and in
compliance with the legal requirements.
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Financial risk management and the coordination of the
Company’s policy on environmental issues are outside
its terms of reference. The Committee is chaired by the
financial controller and includes senior representatives
from each division as well as the human resources
manager and the head of Internal Audit Department.
The Committee reports to the Audit Committee on a
regular basis.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing
the Group’s financial reporting, internal controls and
corporate governance issues and making relevant
recommendations to the Board. All of its members are
independent non-executive Directors and its chairman,
Mr. Wu Jian Hui, is an independent non-executive
Director.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is based
on the guidelines recommended by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Audit Committee met 4 times in 2007. During
2007, it met to review the internal and external audit
findings, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, internal control and listing rules
and statutory compliance, and to discuss auditing,
internal controls, risk management and financial
reporting matters. The quarterly, interim and annual
accounts for 2007 were recommended to the Board for
approval after discussion of the Audit Committee.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

In 2007, the total remuneration paid to the external
auditors were approximately RMB1,990,000. All are for
audit services. The audit fee was approved by the Audit
Committee and endorsed by the Board.
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The Audit Committee has resolved the re-appointment
of KPMG for audits for the financial year 2008. This
resolution has been endorsed by the Board and is
subject to final approval and authorization by the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr.
Wu Jian Hui and comprised Mdm. Yu Shou Neng as
members before 6 November 2007. Both Mr. Wu Jian
Hui and Mdm. Yu Shou Neng are independent non-
executive Directors. Since 6 November 2007, the
Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Wu Jian
Hui and comprises Mdm. Qu Wen as members. Both
of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Committee’s responsibilities are as follows:

- to recommend the remuneration policy and
structure, for all Directors and senior executives
under transparent and legal procedures to the
Board;

- to approve the remuneration policy and structure
(comprising non-monetary benefit, retirement
benefit and the amount of compensation
including compensation for lost or termination of
office or appointment) for all Directors and senior
executives with the Board’s approval;

- to recommend the remuneration of non-executive
Directors to the Board;

- to formulate, review and approve remuneration
with reference to the performance and the
Company’s objectives laid down by the Board at
irregularly interval;

- to review and approve the compensation paid to
executive Directors and senior management for
loss or termination of office or appointment and
to ensure such compensation is determined in
accordance with the relevant terms of service;
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- to set compensation paid to executive Directors
and senior management for loss or termination
of office or appointment under the principle of
fairness, reasonableness and not to create undue
burden to the Company if such compensation
cannot be determined in accordance with the
relevant terms of service;

- to review and approve compensation for
termination/dismissal of appointment of Directors
due to misconduct and to ensure that such
arrangement is in compliance with the relevant
terms of service;

- to set compensation for termination/dismissal
of appointment of Directors due to misconduct
under reasonable and appropriate basis if
such compensation cannot be determined in
accordance with the relevant terms of service;
and

- to ensure remuneration of any Director or any
associated person cannot be set by themselves.

Factors to be considered by the Remuneration
Committee for formulation of remuneration package
including the remuneration paid by other similar
companies, time devoted by a director, director’s
responsibilities, employment terms of other positions in
the Group, director’s performance, etc.

Terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is
available on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee met once in 2007
to review and approve the Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration for 2007. At that
meeting, the Committee approved individual Directors’
remuneration packages to be paid for 2007.
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Remuneration Policy for Directors

Remuneration of Directors is subject to annual
assessment and recommendation by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board for further review and
approval, which subsequently require approval by
the shareholders at annual general meeting. The
primary goal of the remuneration policy on executive
remuneration packages is to enable the Company to
retain and motivate executive Directors by linking their
compensation with performance as measured against
corporate objectives. Under the policy, a Director is not
allowed to approve his own remuneration.

The elements of the Company’s executive
remuneration package include basic compensation
(comprising of director fee) and discretionary bonus
without capping. In determining guidelines for each
compensating element, the Company refers to
remuneration surveys conducted by independent
external consultants on companies operating in similar
businesses.

Basic Compensation

The Remuneration Committee annually reviews and
approves the basic compensation of each Director in
accordance with the Company’s remuneration policy.
In accordance with the service contracts entered into
by the Company and each of the Directors, all Directors
have the right to receive fixed basic compensation.

Discretionary Bonus

Under the service contracts between the Company
and each of the Directors, Directors are entitled to a
discretionary bonus based on the Company’s results
and the degree of responsibilities of each of the
Directors.

The amounts paid to each Director of the Company
for 2006 and 2007 are disclosed in notes 12 to the
financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Before 6 November 2007, the Nomination Committee
was chaired by Mr. Zheng Yue Wen, an executive
Director, and comprised Mr. Wu Jian Hui and Mdm.
Yu Shou Neng as members. Since 6 November 2007,
the Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Wang
An, an executive Director, and comprises Mr. Wu
Jian Hui and Mdm. Qu Wen as members. The role of
the Committee is to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment of Directors, evaluation of
Board composition and the management of Board
succession with reference to certain guidelines as
endorsed by the Nomination Committee. These
guidelines include appropriate professional knowledge
and industry experience, personal ethnics, integrity and
personal skills, and time commitments of members.
The Nomination Committee carries out the process
of selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship including the consideration of referrals
and engagement of external recruitment professional
when necessary. The Nomination Committee met once
in 2007 to discuss the Board composition, to make
recommendations to the Board on the candidates
of the third Board and to evaluate the independence
status of the independent non-executive Directors.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to fair disclosure and
comprehensive, transparent reporting. The Chairman is
ultimately responsible for ensuring that there is effective
communication with investors and that the Board
understands the views of major shareholders. The
Chairman therefore makes himself available to meet
shareholders for this purpose. On a day-to-day basis
the Board’s primary contact with major shareholders is
through the chief executive and financial controller of
the Company.

REERE

RAZBEE_FTLF T AXNAZAHATES
MR EEHELIE  ZERIESEELEENE TR
it - BZZZLF+-ARAE HRTEFER
EELELTRE ZEREMBELENBHZELL - &
BEgmAtE REZEERINETRE RES
ERREEF FHEFENASREFENER S
fFHiEZ AR ERRESTZEEEXNIRITE
KB BABRST - BEREEE AR HERARE
A RAZBRRAANERKBEZAR  BES
BEMAEBOAEREREEERBE QAR
B REAZBEEHE_TTLHFRT-REFE AW T
EEenRE  ABMAEAK  IREEFE=-EEFe
NER MR BB FRTERNE L METT T
% o

BigRWEMER

ARPEHEEALHWEREHRE2EMBEMARE
EXgIRNRREML  REAREREEAEUNE
B UHAREFSALIERROER - Bt /&
ARMEEREE EFGHRTIBPRNAFEE
TERBBRREE NI EREETT

—EZLFF®H Annual Report 2007

57



To enhance the Company’s system of information
disclosure, and to ensure the accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of the Company’s public disclosures, an
Information Disclosure Review Committee, led by the
financial controller was established. The Information
Disclosure Review Committee is responsible for
the establishment of procedures to compile, verify
and report the Company’s financial and operational
statistics and other information as well as to supervise
the drafting and publication of periodic reports.

Printed copies of the quarterly, interim and annual
reports are sent to all shareholders. The most recent
annual general meeting was held on 28 May 2007 at
3rd Floor, No. 18 Andre Avenue, Muping Economic
Development Zone, Yantai City, Shandong Province,
the PRC. The meeting was open to all shareholders
and members of the press and was attended by all
substantial shareholders personally present or by

Proxy.

As part of a regular programme of investor relations,
senior management holds briefings and attends
conferences with institutional investors and financial
analysts to engage in a two-way communication on
the Company’s performance and objectives. A wide
range of information on the Group’s business activities
is made available to investors and the public through
the corporate website and the website of the Stock
Exchange. Webcasts of the meetings announcing the
quarterly, interim and annual results are also available
on the corporate website and the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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In 2007, the Company held over 100 meetings
with analysts and investors in its Hong Kong office,
organized 5 Company visits by analysts, 2 Company
visits by press, conducted 3 press conferences,
and were interviewed by press on 5 occasions. The
Company also arranged 16 road shows for analysts
and investors in Hong Kong, the PRC and overseas.
These activities allow them to have good opportunities
to communicate with and understand the senior
management, general staffs and its operating staffs and
visit different places of business of the Group.

From information publicly available to the Company
and within the best knowledge of the Directors, at least
41.30% of the Company’s total issued share capital is
held by the public at all times. As at 10 March 2008,
being the latest practicable date, there were over 700
holders of H shares on the Company’s register of
shareholders.

Enquiries may be put to the Board by contacting the
company secretary through the shareholders’ hotline
or email, or directly by questions at an annual general
meeting or special general meeting. Questions on
the procedures for convening of or putting forward
proposals at an annual general meeting or special
general meeting may also be put to the Company by
the same means.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting the annual
report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2007.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing
and sale of apple juice concentrate, pear juice
concentrate, apple essence, feedstuff and related
products. The principal activities of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the Financial
Statements.

Results

The results and financial status of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2007 are set out in page 82
to page 168 of the Annual Report.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the reporting period, the Group mainly exported
products to the US market, Japanese market and
European market, and was expanding its market to
other countries. The sales attributable to the top five
customers of the Group accounted for about 68.58%
of the Group’s total turnover and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to about 37.51%.

Purchases from the Group’s top five largest suppliers
accounted for about 5.62% of total purchases for the
year. The largest supplier accounted for about 3.41%
of the total purchases of the Group for the year.

None of the Directors, Supervisors, their respective
associates or any shareholders which, to the
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the
top five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.
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Dividends

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend
of approximately RMB29,859,000 (inclusive of tax),
or RMBO0.007 per share for 2007. The proposal to
declare and pay this final dividend will be submitted to
the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting to be held on 19 May 2008.
Final dividend for Domestic Shares will be distributed
and paid in RMB whereas dividend for H Shares will
be declared in RMB and paid in Hong Kong dollars.
The register of holders of H Shares of the Company
will be closed from 17 April 2008 to 16 May 2008 (both
days inclusive) during which no transfers of H Shares
will be registered. In order to qualify for entitlement
to the proposed final dividend and for attending
and for voting in the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company, all transfers of H Shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s
H Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited at 26/F.,
Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:00 p.m. on
16 April 2008 (Wednesday). The final dividend will be
distributed within one month from the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Share Capital

The change(s) in share capital of the Company is set
out in note 32 to the Financial Statements.

Placing of H Shares and Use of Proceeds

The Company entered into a placing agreement on 4
July 2007 with Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited and Mega Capital (Asia) Company Limited as
joint placing agents, pursuant to which the joint placing
agents agreed to place an aggregate of 130,000,000
new H Shares of the Company (before capitalization
issue as set out in the section below) at the price of
HK$1.18 per H Share.
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The above placing was completed on 16 July 2007.
From 16 July 2007, the new H Shares, representing
an aggregate of approximately 6.71% of the
total share capital of the Company as enlarged
by the issue of the new H Shares, are traded on
the GEM. Net proceeds from placing which was
approximately HK$145,326,000 (after deducting the
relevant expenses) had been fully utilised according
to the recommended uses set out in the relevant
announcement.

Capitalization Issue

The resolutions about the capitalization issue to the
shareholders of H Shares and Domestic Shares on
the basis of six (6) capitalization H Shares for every
five (5) H Shares and six (6) capitalization Domestic
Shares for every five (5) Domestic Shares in issue on 25
October 2007 were duly passed at the special general
meeting, H Shares class meeting and Domestic Shares
class meeting of the Company held on 25 October
2007. The capitalization shares issued pursuant to
the capitalization issue were credited as fully paid
by way of capitalization of the Company’s share
premium account. Dealing of the capitalization shares
commenced on 21 November 2007.

Reserves

The change(s) in reserves of the Company in the year
is set out in the statements of changes in equity of the
Group and the Company in the Financial Statements.

The distributable reserves of the Company as at
31 December 2007 amounted to approximately
RMB213,417,000 (2006: RMB116,788,000).

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year, the Group incurred approximately
RMB191,677,000, mainly for the construction of new
production line and acquiring plant and equipment.

The change(s) of property, plant and equipment of the
Group is set out in note 15 to the Financial Statements.
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Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s articles of association or the Company
Law of the PRC which oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

For the year ended 31 December 2007, neither the
Company nor its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares.

Directors’ and Supervisors’ Rights to
Acquire Shares or Debentures

None of the Directors or Supervisors of the Company
or their respective associates was granted by the
Company or its subsidiaries any right to acquire shares
or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate, or had exercised any such right as at 31
December 2007.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals
During the Year

The Company entered into the following share transfer
agreements during the year:

()  acquisition of 51% equity interest of Binzhou
Anli from Korea Jeong Soo Andre Co., Ltd. and
Yantai Anlin Fruit Industry Co., Ltd.* on 28 April
2007 (such acquisition was completed on 30
June 2007);

(i)  acquisition of 70% equity interest of Nannan
Beverage from Qingdao Nannan Co., Ltd.”
and Korea Nan Yeung Industrial Co., Ltd.
on 2 October 2007 (up to the date of issue
of this report, such acquisition had not been
completed); and

(i) acquisition of 9.99% equity interest of Longkou
Andre from Mitsui and Co., Ltd. on 2 October
2007 (such acquisition was completed on 31
December 2007).

Apart from the above transactions, no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated
companies has been made by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2007.

* For identification purpose only
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Significant Investment

No significant investment was held by the Group as at
31 December 2007.

Employment and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had a total of
1,399 employees (2006: 1,225 employees). Staff
costs including directors’ remuneration for the
year ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December
2006 were approximately RMB19,946,000 and
approximately RMB14,984,000 respectively. Details of
the emoluments of the Directors and Supervisors and
the top five highest paid individuals of the Group are
set out in notes 12 and 13 to the financial statements.
The Group’s employment and remuneration policies
remained unchanged from those described in the
prospectus of the Company dated 11 April 2008.
The salaries and benefits of employees of the Group
are kept at a competitive level and employees are
rewarded on a performance related basis within the
general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus
system which is reviewed annually. A wide range of
benefits, including statutory compulsory welfare plans,
are also provided to the employees.

Retirement Fund Scheme

The retirement fund scheme is set out in note 7 to the
Financial Statements.

Directors and Supervisors

As at 31 December 2007, the Directors and
Supervisors of the Company were as follows:

Executive
Directors:

Zheng Yue Wen, Wang An, Zhang
Hui, Yu Hui Lin (formerly TE7%),
Jiang Hong Qi (appointed on
28 May 2007) and Li Ye Sheng
(appointed on 28 May 2007)

Non-executive Lo Chih-Hsien, Zhang Wan Xin

Directors: (resigned on 28 May 2007) and
Ren Xiao Jian (resigned on 28 May

2007)
Independent Wu Jian Hui, Yu Shou Neng, Qu
non-executive  Wen (appointed on 28 May 2007)
Directors: and Hu Xiao Song (resigned on 28

May 2007)
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Supervisors: Mu Gui Sheng , Wang Chun Tang
(appointed on 28 May 2007), Qu
Wei Jia and Chen Ke Lin (resigned

on 28 May 2007)

Except for Mr. Wang Chun Tang, each of the Directors
and Supervisors (including the independent non-
executive Directors and Supervisors) has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of
three years. Mr. Wang Chun Tang has entered into a
service contract with the Company commencing from
28 May 2007 until 13 September 2008. None of the
Directors or Supervisors had entered into any service
contract with the Company which is not terminable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Exempted Continuing Connected
Transactions

On 30 June 2006, the Company entered into an
administrative agreement with Create Group (HK) Ltd.,
pursuant to which Create Group (HK) Ltd. provides
administrative services to the Company for its Hong
Kong office at a monthly consideration of HKD30,000
from 1 July 2006. The consideration was determined
on an arm’s length basis. Since Create Group (HK) Ltd.
is effectively owned as to 50% by Mr. Zheng Yue Wen
and Mr. Zheng Yue Wen is the chairman and executive
Director of the Company, the entering into such
administrative agreement constitutes an exempted
continuing connected transaction of the Company
under the GEM Listing Rules. For the year ended 31
December 2007, administrative services fee amounted
to HK$360,000 was payable to Create Group (HK) Ltd
(2006: HK$180,000).

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) confirmed that the administrative expenses
made during the year were in the ordinary and usual
course of business, on normal commercial terms,
in accordance with the terms of the administrative
agreement and on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interest of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole.

The Directors confirmed that the Company’s auditors
have provided a letter to the Board in respect of their
factual findings on the abovementioned exempted
continuing connected transactions.

2o S RER
HEAZ+NAR) -
—ETHFRAZ+/\BEHE)

IEE(ZAER_TZTLF
B A R R/ VA (R

BREFELLI  REFREF(BEBUIFRTES
REE)CHRHBARRRRIZREEH  AH=F - X
BRELREEARBRURB AN 2 REHH-_FFT £
FRAA-TNAE-_ZTZT/\FALA+=H BEEZF
FEFEARAFTHEATAIAARRFR —FRK
LEMEBARE CREMERIN 2RFEH -

HEsHERERS

RZFBERFRNAZTH ARREMGKEE (FE)
BRARZRT T —OTERRBAR admEE(F
BIERAFRRBEERTERE T ARRAZBEMRE
B RS ERTAER30,0007T  HZEERFLA
—REEN - WREDEAFERRETE - AR
SB(FER)BRAR TR EX K LR 50% B K
BRXEERBARBZIFELINTES  RIEAIER
ETRA - AT ZBHREK AR R B R ERE
Ry BE_ZETLFT_A=+—RLFE  EN
TRERGEE (F8) BER QA 2RI E B 360,000 T
(ZZZTR%F : jB%180,0007T) °
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RIBRRIRS & B2 6 1%?&%’&3?/\@1??6\
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Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Save as the exempted continuing connected
transactions disclosed above, none of the Directors
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company was a party in 2007.

Directors’, Supervisors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company

As at 31 December 2007, the interests and short
positions of the Directors, Supervisors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which
were (a) required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); and (b) required to be recorded
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by the directors of the
Company as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

ol il

EERahcHD

BRALBRBEZRRFERERZIN  R_TTLF
N RBESNEAKREXBEEAREZAQRM
AP ERSRESAENEAER -

EE EEREENFLFIRMOREEES
HERRHKE

R-ZEELE+_A=+—H &F ZENEHN
AARREBREAE (FESFREEEINDE+REED
M)A ()VRB(EERAERINETREF 7 RS
Bz REANERRR MBI (BERE(ESER
HEEO) 2 REWE BB E A 2 S AR
R (i) AR BB S R B E 1601 )5E 352 1678 T #1372 B
FrEl sk IR B BIZEIR E TR RIS 46162 E5.67EMNS
AR BRI BBESETESRSZRGD - EX
DR ESHDT

Long positions in the shares of the Company ATIREKRG
Percentage in

Percentage in total share
Name of Class of Number of Type of  Domestic Shares capital
Directors Shares shares held Capacity Interest RERBR L)
S R R PR 8B 5t BEEE BAL BAk
Zheng Yue Wen Domestic 614,585,400 (L) Interest of Personal 24.53% 14.41%
(Note 1) (Note 3) Shares 614,585,400 () controlled EA
Eif7:57¢ JERER corporation
GEANGIEE) R AR R
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Percentage in

Percentage in total share
Name of Class of Number of Type of  Domestic Shares capital
Directors Shares shares held Capacity Interest HERBR LT3
EEps iG] PR B E L) BHEER BAL BAL
Wang An Domestic ~ 1,188,105,006 (L) Interest of Personal 47.42% 27.85%
(Note 2) (Note 3) Shares 1,188,105,006 (&) controlled AA
I% Bk corporation
GEXIGIEE) XEtEE R
Notes: PiYSE

1)

As at 31 December 2007, Zheng Yue Wen was taken
to be interested in 614,585,400 Domestic Shares
through his controlled corporation, Glory Cause Land
Afforestation Co., Ltd.* (N BEBELLCEEGR
~7A]). As at 31 December 2007, Glory Cause Land
Afforestation Co., Ltd.* (K F EERTE(EEREFRA
A]) was controlled (as to 79%) by Beijing Asia Pacific
Century Technology Development Limited Liability
Company* (tREAMLBKERBREELQA)
which in turn was controlled (as to 80%) by Beijing RAJ
Network Sales Co., Ltd.* (tRImEREHERRE
f£28]). As at 31 December 2007, Zheng Yue Wen
controlled 43% interest in Beijing RAJ Network Sales
Co., Ltd* (It RIHERBHEFREMEAF)).

Q)

R-ZT+F+_A=+—8 " BRXHAEES
FENTVEERLIBCEEBERAFMERAAES
614,585,400 R FEBIR 2 - R=TTLF+=A
=+—0B  AREEE LS ERARARIHEILERTE
AR R AREMLAFIEH(79%E%5) » MibR
DAL EERARET AR B I EREHE
ERETAFEH (80% )  c RZTEZE+LF+A
=+—8  SREHit R R EERET AR
2 43% RS o

@) As at 31 December 2007, Wang An was taken to be @ MNIFBZELE+-A=+—R FTREHEHZEE
interested in 1,188,105,006 Domestic Shares through China Pingan Investment Holdings Limited [ LI %1%
his controlled corporations, China Pingan Investment &L EBR A MR AHE 1,188,105,006 % IE it
Holdings Limited and Shandong Andre Group Co., B e RZZTEF+-A=1—H  £%#EHIChina
Ltd.* (ILEZEFEBERAR). As at 31 December Pingan Investment Holdings Limited 2 90% 4z & 11 &
2007, Wang An controlled 90% interest in China Pingan Z{EFIEE AR AR 80% s -

Investment Holdings Limited and 80% interest in
Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.* (ILERZEFEBES
RAA]).
* For identification purpose only (B
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*

As stated in the Company’s announcement dated
31 May 2007, Glory Cause Land Afforestation Co.,
Ltd* (EHEERTAEEBERRAF) had entered
into agreements to sell all of its shareholding in the
Company to the following parties:

(@ 88,000,000 Domestic Shares of the Company to
Mr. Yung Ka Hee Titus;

(b) 132,000,000 Domestic Shares of the Company
to Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.* (L%
FEE BB A A); and

(c) 394,585,400 Domestic Shares of the Company
to Yantai Anlin Fruit Industry Co., Ltd.* (&%
MEBEAER AT, a Chinese-foreign equity joint
venture company established under the laws of
the PRC.

The above transfers are conditional upon, among other
things, the approval of the relevant PRC authorities and
as at 31 December 2007 the above transfers had not
been completed.

The letter “L” denotes a long position.

For identification purpose only
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other
Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in
the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company

As at 31 December 2007, so far as the Directors are
aware, the following persons (other than the Directors,
Supervisors and chief executive of the Company)
had interests and short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which are
discloseable under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO and recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares of the Company

w. i, e

FERREAMALIRELFRMREFE
fAMERRKE

BEEMA R-_TTLF+_A=1+—8 KBAR
AES  BEFHBES EARBZBMD RERRND
THRAARB(EZFIMEHRIDE+RAEF 2 R3# M
ZREMBERE  RELARRARB(EZLHEK
{51)% 336 1k 2 REFE 2 B et 2 e MRk R 2
REEMALIT

R RERSD

Percentage in
Domestic Shares/

Percentage in
total share

Name of Number of

substantial shareholder Class of shares shares held

TERRER AR FrsRH#AE

Beijing RAJ Network Sales Domestic 614,585,400 (L)
Co, Lid.* Shares 614,585,400 (k)

(Note 1) FERAR

R R EERREALT

Giza)

Beijing Asia Pacific Century Domestic 614,585,400 (1)
Technology Development Shares 614,585,400 (&)
Limited Liabiity Company* (Note 1) FEER

ERBAEERE

ERAREMLAA (M)

* For identification purpose only

Capacity
af

Interest of
controlled
corporation
(controling 80%
interest of such
corporation)
GGl
(BHZEER)
80% )

Interest of
controlled
corporation
(controlling 79%
interest of such
corporation)
R AR
(% B
79%#4)

Y EEE

H Shares
EERER/
HRBAL

24.53%

Type of
Interest

BEER

Corporate
A7

capital
fEARE
Batk

14.41%

Corporate 24.53% 14.41%

R
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Name of
substantial shareholder

TERREH

Glory Cause Land Afforestation Co., Ltd"*
(Note 1)
K EER LB BRERDA (1)

China Pingan Investment
Holdings Limited (Note 2)
(M2)

Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd." (Note 2)
WRREFEEERAF (o)

HSBC International Trustee Limited
(Note 3)
(P3E3)

Prosper United Limited (Note 3)
(MfE3)

ACME Team International Limited
(Note 3)
(P3E3)

* For identification purpose only
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Class of shares

RGER

Domestic
Shares
FnER

Domestic
Shares
FEmiER

Domestic
Shares

FERER

Domestic
Shares
FnER

Domestic
Shares
FEmER

Domestic
Shares
FERBER

. RettrzE

Number of

shares held Capacity
FrsRA#E at
614,585,400 (L) Beneficial
614,585,400 (&) owner
EalEA
441,519,606 (L) Beneficial
441,519,606 (&) owner
ERAEA
746,585,400 (L) Beneficial
746,585,400(K) owner
ERBAA
626,340,000 (L) Trustee
626,340,000 (&) fEEA
626,340,000 (L) Interest of
626,340,000 (&) controlled
corporation
(controlling 100%
interest of such
corporation)
Rt EERR
(BHIZEER
100% 4
626,340,000 () Interest of
626,340,000(K) controlled
corporation
(controlling 100%
interest of such
corporation)
RiEtlEERR
(7R
100% 4
© EHRET

2R RTRDBRA R

Type of
Interest

REER

Corporate
A

Corporate
An

Corporate
An]

Corporate
NG

Corporate
An

Corporate
NS

Percentage in
Domestic Shares/
H Shares
EFERER
HREAL

24.53%

17.62%

29.79%

25.00%

25.00%

25.00%

B allebil

Percentage in
total share
capital
EARA
Bt

14.41%

10.35%

17.50%

14.68%

14.68%

14.68%



Name of
substantial shareholder

TERRER

Donghua Fruit Industry Co., Ltd.
(Note 3)
(Fi3E3)

Uni-President Enterprises Corp. (Note 4)
B-rEROERAR (FE4)

Cayman President Holdings Ltd. (Note 4)
(FftzEa)

Uni-President Asia Holdings Limited (Note 4)

G-mERERAR (i)

Class of shares

RGER

Domestic
Shares
FEER

Domestic
Shares
Finmik

Domestic
Shares
FERBR

Domestic
Shares
FEER

Number of

shares held Capacity
FrERGHE at

626,340,000 (L) Interest of
626,340,000(&) owner
ERBEA

Beneficial
controlled
corporation
(controling 100%
interest of such
corporation)
Rt EERR
(Bl A Es
100%#3)

186,320,594 (L)
186,320,594 (&)

Interest of
controlled
corporation
(controling 100%
interest of such
corporation)
RiEtlEERR
(FHZ AR
100% tE4)

186,320,594 (L)
186,320,594 ()

186,329,594 (L)
186,329,594 (£)

Interest of
controlled
corporation
(controlling 100%
interest of such
corporation)
REtlEERR
(% B
100% ##4%)

Type of
Interest

REER

Corporate
NS

Corporate
AR

Corporate
7]

Corporate
AL
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Percentage in
Domestic Shares
/H Shares
EFRER
HRESH

25.00%

7.43%

7.43%

7.43%

Percentage in
total share
capital
EARA
BAl

14.68%

4.36%

4.36%

4.36%



Name of
substantial shareholder

IERRER

President Enterprises (China)
Investment Co. Ltd. (Note 4)
g0 F (B REBRAR (M 4)

Chengdu President Enterprises Food Co., Ltd.

(Note 4)
RS- rERmERAR (HE4)

Yantai Anlin Fruit Industry Co., Ltd.* (Note 5)

BEMREARAR (H5)

Atlantis Investment Management Ltd.

* For identification purpose only

Class of shares

RGER

Domestic
Shares
FEmER

Domestic
Shares
FEBR

Domestic
Shares
FEER

H Shares
Hix
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Number of
shares held

s RH#E

186,320,594 (L)
186,329,594 (&)

186,329,594 (L)
186,329,504 (&)

394,585,400(L)
394,585,400(K)

425,068,000 (L)
425,068,000(%)

IRARDERAT

Capacity
at

Interest of
controlled
corporation
(controlling 100%
interest of such
corporation)
REtIEERR
(5 ZEER
100% ##4)

Beneficial

Owner

Investment
manager
REEE

Y EES

Type of
Interest

REEE

Corporate
A

Corporate

R

Corporate
AL

Corporate
A

o e il

Percentage in
Domestic Shares
/H Shares
EFRER/
HRESD

7.43%

7.43%

15.74%

24.14%

Percentage in
total share
capital
ARE
Aol

4.36%

4.36%

9.25%

9.96%



Name of
substantial shareholder

IERRER

IFC

INVESCO Hong Kong Limited (previously
known as INVESCO Asia Limited) in its
capacity as manager/advisor of various
accounts

INVESCO Hong Kong Limited ( 2785
INVESCO Asia Limited ) {E5 % {88 =
iR/ BE A1

Mitsui & Co., Ltd.
“HMER gt

Everest Capital Limited

JP Morgan Chase & Co. (Note 6)
(Fir3te)

JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (Note 6)
(Fir3te)

HSBC Investments (Hong Kong) Limited

Class of shares

B3R
H Shares

HIX

H Shares
Hix

H Shares
Hix

H Shares
Hix

H Shares
Hix

H Shares
Hix

H Shares
Hix

Number of
shares held

FrisRiBEE
110,000,000 (U

110,000,000(£)

159,496,000 (U
159,496,000 (£)

213,400,000 (L)
213,400,000(&)

106,172,000 (L)
106,172,000(&)

129,420,820 (1)
129,420,820 (k)

129,420,820 (1)
129,420,820 (k)

90,068,000 (L)
90,088,000 (&)

Capacity
at

Beneficial
owner

BEAAA

Investment
manager

AL

Beneficial
owner

BEAAA

Investment
manager

AL

Investment
manager and
custodian
RALER
BEA

Custodian
BEA

Investment
Manager
RETE

Type of
Interest

BHES
Corporate

NG

Corporate
A7

Corporate
AL

Corporate
A7

Corporate
7]

Corporate
7]

Corporate
NG
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Percentage in
Domestic Shares
/H Shares
EFRER/
HRESD

6.24%

9.06%

12.12%

6.03%

7.35%

7.35%

5.11%

ol il

Percentage in
total share
capital
ARE
Aol

2.51%

3.73%

5.00%

2.48%

3.03%

3.03%

2.11%



Notes:

*

As at 31 December 2007, Glory Cause Land
Afforestation Co., Ltd.* (MFEFXEBRTHLEREERA
7)) was controlled (as to 79%) by Beijing Asia Pacific
Century Technology Development Limited Liability
Company* (tREAHLEFEERBREMTAR)
which in turn was controlled (as to 80%) by Beijing RAJ
Network Sales Co., Ltd.* (LRI BMBEHERRS
£27). As at 31 December 2007, Zheng Yue Wen
controlled 43% interest in Beijing RAJ Network Sales
Co., Ltd* (QbRIm2figisEFREMAR]). Please
also refer to Note (3) under the Section of “Directors’,
supervisors’ and chief executive’s interests and short
positions in the shares of the Company”.

As at 31 December 2007, Wang An controlled 90%
interest in China Pingan Investment Holdings Limited
and 80% interest in Shandong Andre Group Co., Ltd.*
(IR Z =R EE B R A 7). Please also refer to Note (3)
under the Section of “Directors’, supervisors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in the shares of
the Company”.

As at the 31 December 2007, Donghua Fruit Industry
Co. Ltd. was 100% controlled by ACME Team
International Limited, a corporation which was 100%
controlled by Prosper United Limited, which was in turn
100% controlled by HSBC International Trustee Limited.

As at the 31 December 2007, Chengdu President
Enterprises Food Co., Ltd. (##H—EBRER
~7A]), was 100% controlled by President Enterprises
(China) Investment Co. Ltd. (Si— ¥ (FE)EEH
FRZ27A]), which was in tumn 100% controlled by Uni-
President Asia Holdings Limited (4&—ZeliEiAR A
). Uni-President Asia Holdings Limited (%% — 28 Ml#%p%
AR ARF]) was 100% controlled by Cayman President
Holdings Ltd., which was in turn 100% controlled by
Uni-President Enterprises Corp. (i— 2B ER A
a).

Yantai Anlin Fruit Industry Co., Ltd.* (& ZHMEE
BRR/AF]) had entered into an agreement with Glory
Cause Land Afforestation Co., Ltd.* (¥ £ 4%
{LEIR AR AR]). Please also refer to Note (3) under
the Section of “Directors’, supervisors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in the shares of
the Company”.

For identification purpose only
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R-ZEZ+F+=-A=+—H  Donghua Fruit Industry
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(6)  JP Morgan Chase & Co. held 129,420,820 H Shares
representing 7.35% of the total H Shares and 3.03% of
the total share capital of the Company respectively. The
129,420,820 H Shares were directly held by JP Morgan
Chase Bank, N.A., a corporation 100% controlled by JP
Morgan Chase & Co.

(7) The letter (L) denotes a long position.

Competing Interests

None of the Directors, the management shareholders
of the Company and their respective associates (as
defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest
in a business which competes or may compete with
the businesses of the Group or has or may have any
other conflicts of the interest with the Group.

Practices and Procedures of the Board
of Directors

The Company has adopted the required standard of
dealings set out in Rule 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules (“the Required Standard”) as the Company’s
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
its Directors. A copy of the Required Standard was
sent to each Director one month before the date of the
Board meeting to approve the Company’s 2007 annual
results, with a reminder that the Directors cannot deal
in the securities and derivatives of the Company until
after such results have been published.

Under the Required Standard, the Directors are
required to notify the chairman of the Company and
receive a dated acknowledgement in writing before
dealing in the securities and derivatives of the Company
and, in the case of the chairman of the Company
himself, he must notify the chairman of the Audit
Committee and receive a dated acknowledgement in
writing before any dealing.

ol il

(6)  JP Morgan Chase & Co.#56 129,420,820k Hi% + Bl%
RME#AH % 2 7.35% K 48 IR 7R 2 3.08% © 129,420,820
fi% H R% JY E £ f1 JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.#75 * 7%
A FH JP Morgan Chase & Co. 12l 100% °

n [RIRRER-
R

ARREFHERBRRIANEEAZIHEA(ERRL
BIEIR LT ARA) BUEFME MBS ] R A B AR SR (8
EBHRBFEBTRACA#E  TEAKBEESL
A REE A AR E R o

ESEMERARER

RABIE MBI ZER TR RIS 5.48 = 5.67 I&FT#ELZ
BEEAEAARRBIMNESFTHFR 5T ([ZIZEST
Al - REIRESNBRARI _ETELFFEEED
Bz —AACER —HZEETAUE—H
RBR REESITSEAMELINEELARRINES
SHTET R

RIBEZFETRNRTE  EFARNBNEFELREFE
AHHMERER  TUEEARRNESFRITET
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All Directors, upon specific enquiries, have confirmed
that they have complied with the Required Standard
during the reporting period.

Specific employees who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group
are also subject to compliance with the Required
Standard. No incident of non-compliance was noted by
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Length of Term of Non-executive
Directors

The existing non-executive Director was appointed
for a term of three years from 28 May 2007 to 27
May 2010. The term of the existing independent non-
executive Directors is also from 28 May 2007 to 27
May 2010.

Independence of Independent non-
executive Directors

The Company confirms that the Company has
received written independence status confirmation
from all independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rule. Al
independent non-executive Directors are considered as
independent.

RE L HZEFNRTROBRLF
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Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee
with written terms of reference based on the guidelines
recommended by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and internal control of the Group,
ensuring compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Wu
Jian Hui, who is the chairman of the Audit Committee,
Qu Wen and Yu Shou Neng.

During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed the internal controls and financial
reporting matters with the Directors, including a review
of the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2007. The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the
year.

Auditors

KPMG shall retire and a resolution for their re-
appointment as auditors of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In the past 3 years, the Company’s auditors remained
unchanged.

By Order of the Board of Directors
Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*
Zheng Yue Wen

Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 March 2008
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78 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

To the Shareholders:

The Supervisory Committee (the “Supervisory
Committee”) of Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*,
in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
and the Articles of Association of the Company, has
conducted its work in accordance with the fiduciary
principle, and has taken up an active role to work
seriously and with diligence to protect the interests of
the Company and its shareholders.

During the year, the Supervisory Committee had
reviewed cautiously the development plans of the
Company and provided reasonable suggestions
and opinions to the Board. It also strictly and
effectively monitored and supervised the Company’s
management in making significant policies and
decisions to ensure that they are in compliance with
the laws and regulations of the PRC and the Articles of
Association of the Company, and in the interests of its
shareholders.

We have reviewed and agreed to the report of the
Directors, audited financial statements and the dividend
to be proposed by the Board for presentation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. We are of the
opinion that the Directors, the chief executive and
other senior management of the Company are able to
strictly observe their fiduciary duty, to act diligently, to
exercise their authority faithfully in the best interests
of the Company and to work in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company. The operation
is becoming more regulated and the internal control is
becoming more perfect. The transactions between the
Company and connected parties are in the interests
of the shareholders as a whole and under fair and
reasonable price.

Up till now, none of the Directors, chief executive
and senior management staff had been found to

* For identification purpose only
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have abused their authority, damaged the interests
of the Company or infringed upon the interests of its
shareholders and employees. None of them was found
to be in breach of any laws and regulations or the
Articles of Association of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee is satisfied with the
achievement and cost-effectiveness of the Company
in 2007 and has great confidence in the future of the
Company.

By Order of the Supervisory Committee
Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*
Mu Gui Sheng

15 March 2008
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Independent auditors’ report to the shareholders of
Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with
limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (the “Company”)
set out on pages 82 to 168, which comprise the
consolidated and company balance sheets as at
31 December 2007, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the
International Accounting Standards Board and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant
to the preparation and the true and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

QOur responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of
the report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend
on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’'s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the group as at 31 December 2007
and of the group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

15 March 2008
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BHfEER

Consolidated Income Statement

for the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
HEZZTLF+_A=-1+—HILFE

(AARHZT)
2007 2006
—ETtEF —EERF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE AR®TT ARET T
Turnover WA 4 1,662,976 786,435
Cost of sales SHES AR (1,235,581) (621,794)
Gross profit E ] 427,395 164,641
Other operating income E gl A 5 15,478 16,631
Distribution expenses HEER (106,834) (81,541)
Administrative expenses EREMA (38,860) (35,099)
Other operating expenses HEtheEE R 6 (4,614) (5,970)
Profit from operations BERF 292,565 58,662
Net finance costs TSR A58 8 (26,462) (32,877)
Investment income FEWA 9 - 53,086
Share of profits/(losses) FE(RESE N A
from an associate wm A, (E518) 501 (48)
Profit before taxation BRI EIRFI 10 266,604 78,823
Income tax PS5 11 (31,451) (8,589)
Profit for the year XEERT 235,153 70,234
Attributable to: WER :
Equity shareholders of the Company A2 &l iR 213,874 69,673
Minority interests DERTER 21,279 561
Profit for the year EEERT 235,153 70,234
Dividends payable to equity TEEEMSELT
shareholders of the Company BERER
attributable to the year:
Final dividend proposed after HEHEREEZEDIK
the balance sheet date REARE S 33 29,859 27,133
Basic and diluted BEXR#ER
earnings per share sHET 34 RMBAE®0.052 RVMBARH0.018

The notes on pages 90 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
5590 EE 5 168 EHIMI B A IR e —&B1p -
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ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Lease prepayments
Interest in an associate
Goodwill

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
and prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short-term bank loans
Trade payables
Other payables and
accrued expenses
Income tax payable

Total current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Note
MI5E
gE
EmENEE
VI = LR 15
ENtHEE 16
RERE N TIHIRE 20
(&S 21
IEREEESRT
mENEE
FE 22
FEUER SR 23
HAth e U R
RIBERFR 24
BERREEEY 27
MEVEEART
BEAG
BRESRAR
nENEE
RHERIRITE R 28
FERTBRFR 29
E bR
NiERE A 30
FER BTSSR
mEBBEAS
FRBEE
BEATHIBRRBEE

at 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Renminbi YuaFr}.. L
REBZELEE T TS =

] o
.4:- |
-

(UNAREZT)

2007 2006

k- 1% o33 —EERF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
774,104 574,043
68,741 32,722
63,196 62,695
1,452 1,452
907,493 670,912
1,317,130 699,751
329,626 173,309
201,445 250,279
97,597 58,432
1,945,798 1,181,771
2,853,291 1,852,683
1,061,064 505,975
215,714 72,598
127,405 91,930
26,713 5,872
1,430,896 676,375
514,902 505,396
1,422,395 1,176,308
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EHEERER

at 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
R-ZZLF+-A=+—H

(UAREZT)
2007 2006
—EELF TETRF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BoaE AR®TT ARETIT
Non-current liabilities JEmEaE
Long-term bank loans RHRITER 31 328,707 468,522
Other long-term liabilities HivREAEE 249 249
Total non-current liabilities ERBAGEEET 328,956 468,771
Total liabilities BEERT 1,759,852 1,145,146
Capital and reserves & A % (6 A 32
Paid-in capital i &N 426,554 180,888
Reserves & 595,748 517,062
Total equity attributable to equity R AR (G R A
shareholders of the Company 1,022,302 697,950
Minority interests DERT R RS 71,137 9,587
Total equity R AT 1,093,439 707,537
Total equity and liabilities RRERRAEEET 2,853,291 1,852,683

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 15 March 2008.
EEEN T \F=ZA TR BREWREEL -

Zheng Yue Wen )

BREESL ) Directors
) 5=

Wang An )

R )

The notes on pages 90 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Lease prepayments
Investments in subsidiaries

Interest in a jointly controlled entity

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Other receivables
and prepayments

Dividends receivable

Amounts due from subsidiaries
and a jointly controlled entity

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short-term bank loans
Trade payables
Other payables and
accrued expenses
Amounts due to subsidiaries
and a jointly controlled entity
Income tax payable

Total current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

HE
FRBEE

E R I &

B LEEE
RIBRRINIRE
RERZEHBEHRE

FERBEEAF

MBEE

FE

JE W B

H A & UK
RIARMBRSR

PR S

&Y Bt 8 2 B M KA

2 B B IR

RekReEFED

RBEEAR

AEAH

EERERZR AR

mEBRE
RMHISRITER
EE#JLE‘LE‘WA

HAb FERT R
&ﬁ%%%

JEAST B8 A B S (A

ﬂ%%ﬁ

FEFHPR1SHE

RBABEAFT

FRBEE

BEGBRABAR

Note

’”
=
e

15
16
17
19

22
23

24
25

26
27

28
29

30

26

R-BELE T A

(AAEEZT)
2007 2006
—E2tF —TERF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETIT
130,334 128,705
10,630 11,063
426,905 239,795
54,760 54,760
622,629 434,323
584,361 462,271
202,473 92,328
118,484 208,185
171,355 161,153
665,254 461,786
64,271 32,343
1,806,198 1,418,066
2,428,827 1,852,389
816,064 445,975
28,535 24,595
45,949 36,259
318,822 248,874
10,192 =
1,219,562 755,703
586,636 662,363
1,209,265 1,096,686
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EEREXR

at 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
RZEZE+F+-A=+—H
(AAEBST)

Non-current liabilities
Long-term bank loans

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Capital and reserves

Paid-in capital

Reserves

Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 15 March 2008.

FRBAR
RHRITER

FRBEEAF

B A B At
L&
G
RS

RERk BB

EEgN T2/ /\F-ATHEARELREEDL -

Zheng Yue Wen
BREEXL

Wang An
=

The notes on pages 90 to 168 form part of these financial statements.
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Directors

Note
B =E

31

32

2007 2006
—22tF ZETAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
328,707 468,622
328,707 468,622
1,548,269 1,224,225
426,554 180,888
454,004 447,276
880,558 628,164
2,428,827 1,852,389




Cash flows from operating
activities

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Amortisation of lease prepayments
Interest expenses
Interest income
Loss of disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Investment income
Share of (profits)/losses from
an associate

Operating profit before changes
in working capital

Increase in inventories

Increase in trade receivables

Increase in other receivables
and prepayments

Increase in trade payables

Decrease in other payables and
accrued expenses

Cash used in operations
Income tax paid

Interest paid
Interest received

Net cash used in operating activities

EETDHEED

BenE

B At A

HE

e

BN L E B

MEER

A EWA

HEWE - BE
RiBER

BREBA

L N
Ca),/ B

TEE S BEAT

Z &R

R

AR S

E A A RN
s#10

AR

H AR ER
# AL

REMAZRE
ST SHR

ZAEIFE
WRIEF S

EEEDZR &R $H

Note

BE-RRLET=H=1— Huh

ﬁ!F

(UNAREZT)

2007 2006

k- =13 o3 3 =N
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
266,604 78,823
68,777 59,506
1,282 897
66,269 39,495
(2,238) (2,385)
- 1,687
- (53,086)
(501) 48
400,193 124,985
(614,982) (241,258)
(156,056) (5,518)
(3,822) (111,109)
120,446 20,174
(25,317) (20,645)
(279,538) (233,371)
(10,610) (5,881)
(66,269) (39,495)
2,238 2,385
(354,179) (276,362)
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EHBREERER

for the year ended 31 December 2007
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
HEZZTLF+_A=-1+—HILFE
(AAEBST)

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant
and equipment
Lease prepayments
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash
acquired
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of
a subsidiary’s equity interests,
net of cash disposed of
Repayments of advances to
a jointly controlled entity
Advances to third parties
Repayments of advances to
third parties

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from bank loans

Repayments of bank loans and
other borrowings

Net proceeds from the issue
of share capital

Dividends paid

Advances from a shareholder

Advances from third parties

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year

The notes on pages 90 to 168 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

2007 2006
—EStF —ETRE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR®TT AREETTT
BREETHEENRERE
BEME - BE X
B (177,680) (141,407)
BN HAEE (6,568) (3,630)
g1=pNG
(BHIBRYE2HS) 18 (45,875) =
LEMZE - BE &
FABFT1S /IR 897 577
HEKBARERE
FT{SEE (B 0k
HEZES) 9 - 62,220
HEZEHEEE
B 61,476 =
BRTE=H (6,375) (500)
BE=FHER
9,109 1,000
BREEHZRERHBHE (165,016) (81,740)
ERTHEENHRERE
FIZRITE R 1,436,076 1,310,992
EERITERK
HABER (1,020,802) (1,001,880)
BITIRAB P15
FIEFEE 140,628 73,368
EAIERE (23,126) (27,133)
ElES 20,084 =
ME=FER 5,500 =
EGEBCRSRANBE 558,360 355,347
ReRALEEMBM (RD)
B 39,165 (2,755)
FEMZHER
ReEHEY 58,432 61,187
FERZHE&R
REeESEY 97,597 58,432
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Belance at 1 January 2006

Issuance of shares

Shares issUance expenses

Proft for the year

Aopropriations

Dividends to equty shareholders
of the Company

Balance at 31 December 2006

Belance at 1 January 2007

Issuance of shares

Shares ISsUance expenses

Capitaliation issue

Acoistion of a subsiciary

Acquisttion of minorty interests

Profit for the year

Appropriations

Dividends to equty shareholders
of the Company

Belance at 31 December 2007

The notes on pages 90 to 168 form part of these financial statements.

RoFEAE-A-Rzkh
&
EfRELRR
REREH
E
PREETADA
KR

NEERETZR
St-RZEH

e e
&l

EfRERR

ENER

HEHELT
WE)SRRER
REEH

S

DERETALA

B&

H3BLE
=826

Note
fiit

320b)

32

3

for the year ended 31 December 200 '_
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuaﬂ,
BE-PTLE+A=t+— Bk

(AN RHS75)

Total equity

attributable

to equity

shareholders
Paid-in Capital Share Statutory Retained of the Minority Total
capital surplus premium Teserves eamings  Company interests equity

FOFRR
AR BiENE  JBRR BREE
Bs  EBLR  RBER  ERGH IR it fig it
RMB1000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB1000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR AREER
169,730 10 212,606 70310 129,386 582,042 9026 591,068
11,158 - 69,838 - = 809% = 80,996
- - (7,628 - - (7,629) - (7,628
- - - - 69673 69673 561 70234
- - - 13,284 (13.264) - - -
- - - - 21133 i3y - i3y
180,888 10 214816 83,594 168,642 697,950 9567 107,587
180,888 10 214816 83,594 168,642 697,950 9,567 107,587
13,000 = 136,44 = = 148445 = 148445
- - (7817 - - {7817 - (7817)
232,666 - (232,666) - - - - -
- - - - - - 50,768 50,768
- - (3,017) - - 3017 (10497) (13514)
- - - - 213874 213874 21,219 285,163
- - - B444 (23444 - - -
- - - - 1133 @iy - Ry
426,564 10 166,761 107,088 199 102230 i 100343
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NOTE 0 2
B 3% ¥R R MY aE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

Organisation and principal activities

Yantai North Andre Juice Company Limited
(the “Company”) was established in the form
of a Sino-foreign equity joint venture in Yantai,
Shandong province, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) on 30 March 1996.

With the approval from the Ministry of Commerce
(formerly the Ministry of Foreign Trade and
Economic Cooperation) of the PRC, the legal
form of the Company was changed from that of a
Sino-foreign equity joint venture to a Sino-foreign
joint stock limited company on 26 June 2001.

The group is principally engaged in the
production and sale of condensed juice.

Significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) promulgated by
the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”). IFRS include International Accounting
Standards and Interpretations. These financial
statements also comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market
(“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by the group is set out below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised
IFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of
the group and the Company. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a)

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements as at
and for the year ended 31 December 2007
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) and the Group’s
interests in a jointly controlled entity and an
associate.

The financial statements are prepared on
the historical cost basis.

The preparation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS requires management
to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making
the judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results

may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the
application of IFRS that have significant
effect on the financial statements and
estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year are disclosed in

Note 39.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b) Basis of consolidation

(i)
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Subsidiaries and minority interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled
by the Group. Control exists when
the Group has the power, directly or
indirectly, to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. The
financial statements of subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date
that control ceases.
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2

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(i)

Subsidiaries and minority interests
(cont’d)

Minority interests represent the portion
of the net assets of subsidiaries
attributable to interests that are not
owned by the Company, whether
directly or indirectly through
subsidiaries, and in respect of which
the Group has not agreed any
additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a
contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability.
Minority interests are presented
in the consolidated balance sheet
within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company. Minority interests
in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement as an
allocation of the total profit or loss for
the year between minority interests
and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Any difference between
the consideration paid and the
carrying amount of minority interests
acquired when the Group acquires
minority interest is treated as an
equity transaction.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(i)

(i)
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Subsidiaries and minority interests
(cont’d)

Where losses applicable to the
minority exceed the minority’s
interest in the equity of a subsidiary,
the excess, and any further losses
applicable to the minority, are
charged against the Group’s interest
except to the extent that the minority
has a binding obligation to, and is
able to, make additional investment
to cover the losses. If the subsidiary
subsequently reports profits, the
Group’s interest is allocated all such
profits until the minority’s share of
losses previously absorbed by the
Group has been recovered.

Associates

Associates are those entities in which
the Group or the Company has
significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over their management,
including participation in the financial
and operating policy decisions.
An investment in an associate is
accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity
method and is initially recorded at
cost and adjusted thereafter for
the post-acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the associate’s net
assets. The consolidated
statement includes the Group’s share

income

of the post-acquisition, post-tax

results of the associates.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(i)

(i)

Associates (cont’d)

When the Group’s share of losses
exceeds its interest in the associate,
the Group’s interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses
is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an
entity over which the Group or the
Company can exercise joint control
with other venturers. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of
control over an economic activity.
Investments in jointly controlled
entities are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements
on a proportionate consolidation
basis. Under this method, the Group
combines its proportionate share of
the jointly controlled entity’s turnover
and expenses with each major
turnover and expense caption of
the Group’s income statement and
combines its proportionate share of
the jointly controlled entity’s assets
and liabilities with each major asset
and liability caption of the Group’s
balance sheet, from the date that joint
control commences until the date that
joint control ceases.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b) Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(v) Transactions eliminated on
consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions,
and any unrealised gains arising
from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized gains arising from
transactions with associates
and jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the entity.
Unrealized losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.

(c) Investments in subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities
Investments in subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities in the Company’s
balance sheet are stated at cost less
impairment losses (Note 2 (j)).

Profits or losses on disposal of investments
in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities
are determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the investments and are
accounted for in the income statement as
they arise.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(@

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (Note 2()). The cost of
an asset comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to working condition and location
for its intended use. When payment for
an item of property, plant and equipment
is deferred beyond normal credit terms,
its cost is the cash price equivalent; the
difference between this amount and the
total payments is recognised as interest
expense over the period of credit.

The Group recognises in the carrying
amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment the cost of replacing part of
such an item when that cost is incurred
if it is probable that the future economic
benefits embodied with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other costs are
recognised in the income statement as
incurred.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement
or disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the estimated net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item. They are recognised in the income
statement on the date of retirement or
disposal.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(d)
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Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment is provided to write off the cost,
less their estimated residual values, if any, in
equal annual amounts over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Estimated ~ Estimated rate
useful life  of residual value
Buldings 8-20 years 10%
Machinery and equipment 10 years 10%
Motor vehicles 5 years 10%
Office equipment 5years 10%

In respect of assets which are used for
production of goods for only part of the
year, due to seasonal factors, the full
year’'s depreciation charge is allocated on
a systematic basis to the periods during
the year in which the assets are used for
production.

Where parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives,
the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents buildings
and various plant and equipment under
construction and pending installation, and
is stated at cost less impairment losses
(Note 2 (j)). Cost comprises direct costs of
construction incurred during the periods
of construction. Borrowing costs are not
capitalised.

Construction in progress is transferred to
buildings, and machinery and equipment
when the asset is substantially ready for its
intended use.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
No depreciation is provided for construction
in progress.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition represents
the excess of the cost of the acquisition over
the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired.
Goodwill is stated in the consolidated
balance sheet at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to
cash-generating units and is tested annually

for impairment (Note 2 (j)).

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent amounts
paid to the municipal governments to
acquire land use rights. Land use rights
are stated at cost and are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the 50-year period
of the rights.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

The cost of inventories is calculated based
on the weighted-average costing method
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs
of conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their existing
location and condition.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(g) Inventories (cont’d)

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense of the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount
of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down
of inventories, arising from an increase
in net realisable value, is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

(h) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost less impairment
losses for bad and doubtful debts (Note
2(j)), except where the receivables are
interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting would be immaterial.
In such cases, the receivables are stated
at cost less impairment losses for bad and
doubtful debts (Note 2 (j)).

(i) Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of time deposits
with financial institutions with an initial term
of less than three months.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

0)

Impairment

(0

(i)

Impairment of trade and other
receivables

Trade and other receivables are
reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment.
If any such evidence exists, an
impairment loss is determined and
recognised. The impairment loss is
measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at
the current market rate of retun
for a similar financial asset where
the effect of discounting is material.
Impairment losses for trade and
other receivables are reversed if in a
subsequent period the amount of the
impairment loss decreases.

Impairment of non-current assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s
non-current assets, other than
deferred tax assets (Note 2(p)), are
reviewed at each balance sheet
date to identify indications that the
assets may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, the asset’s carrying
amount is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In addition, for goodwill,
the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is
any indication of impairment. The
recoverable amount is the greater
of the net seling price and the
value in use. In assessing the value
in use, the estimated future cash
flows generated by the asset are
discounted to their present value. The
amount of the reduction is recognised
as an expense in the income
statement.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

() Impairment (cont’d)

(i) Impairment of non-current assets (cont’d)
The Group assesses at each balance
sheet date whether there is any
indication that an impairment loss
recognised for an asset, except in
the case of goodwill, in prior years
may no longer exist. An impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount. A subsequent increase in
the recoverable amount of an asset,
when the circumstances and events
that led to the write-down or write-
off cease to exist, is credited to the
income statement. The reversal is
reduced by the amount that would
have been recognised as depreciation
or amortisation had the write-down or
write-off not occurred. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

(k) Trade payables and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

U]

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for other liabilities
of uncertain timing or amount when the
Group or the Company has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(m) Revenue recognition
Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group, and the
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised in
the income statement as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised in the income
statement when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the customers. No
revenue is recognised if there are
significant uncertainties regarding
recovery of the consideration due,
associated costs, or the possible
return of goods.

(i) Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the
income statement as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

(i) Royalty income
Royalty income is recognised in the
income statement in equal installment
over the periods covered by the
royalty agreement.

(n) Expenses
(i) Retirement benefits
Defined contributions to retirement
benefit schemes are recognised as an
expense in the income statement as
and when incurred.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(n) Expenses (cont’d)
(i) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the
income statement in the period in
which they are incurred.

(i) Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating
leases are recognised in the income
statement on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives received are recognised in
the income statement as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease
payment made.

(iv)  Research and development expenses
Research and development costs are
expensed as incurred.

(0) Government grants
Unconditional government grants are
recognised in the income statement as
revenue upon receipt. These grant amounts
are determined and paid at the sole
discretion of the local government of certain
jurisdictions in the PRC.

Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as
revenue in the income statement on a
systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for cost of
an asset are recognised in the income
statement as revenue on a systematic basis
over the useful life of the asset.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

()

(@)

106 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Income tax
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year
comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on
the taxable income for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date, and any adjustment
to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance
sheet liability method, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes. The amount of deferred
tax provided is based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities,
using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Foreign currency transactions

The presentation currency of the Group
is Renminbi, which is also the functional
currency of the Company. Transactions
in foreign currencies are translated into
Renminbi at the foreign exchange rate
quoted by the People’s Bank of China
(“PBOC rates”) prevailing on the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the
balance sheet date are translated into
Renminbi at the PBOC rates on that date.
Foreign exchange differences arising from
translation are recognised in the income
statement.

The overseas subsidiaries are considered
to be an integral part of the Company’s
operations. Accordingly, the related foreign
exchange differences arising on translation
are also recognised in the income
statement.

RE LB ZEFNRTROBRAF
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2 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

U]

Related parties
For the purposes of these financial

statements, a party is considered to be
related to the Group if:

U)

(i)

(i)

(v)

the party has the ability or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries,
to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in
making financial and operating policy
decisions, or has joint control over the
Group;

the Group and the party are subject
to common control;

the party is an associate of the Group
or a joint venture in which the Group
is a venturer;

the party is a member of key
management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent, or a close
family member of such an individual,
or is an entity under the control, joint
control or significant influence of such
individuals;

the party is a close family member
of a party referred to in (i) or is an
entity under the control, joint control
or significant influence of such
individuals; or

the party is a post-employment
benefit plan which is for the benefit
of employees of the Group or of
any entity that is related party of the
Group.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(AARBFR)

2 FEEFHEGE)

(r)

BT
RAREMS » TIHALTHELSRAREH
BRAE

)

(iv)

(vi)

ZABRNEERIEZEB—FTRS
RPN QR EHARESREAEE
B RBERRBEEERNTE
N HEEHAEE 2 KRG

REEES —FHXHN AR
&

A RAEE B ERRHAEER
Hep— B E T KRG B

ZABRAEERAEBER AR EIRE
BABZ — HEMABREINR
FERCE - EAPHES] - FFEHE I
EAFEZER:

&I B L ()T AT BRE MR
FERK B R ELREK B - KA
EHIREAFECEE %X

% RAEERBANEEREE T T
B E BB MRABER R &
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

()

(s)
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Related parties (cont’d)

Close family members of an individual
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component
of the Group that is engaged either in
providing products or services (business
segment), or in providing products or
services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which
is subject to risks and rewards that are

different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal
financial reporting system, the Group has
chosen business segment information
as the primary reporting format and
geographical segment information as
the secondary reporting format for the
purposes of these financial statements.
Segment revenue, expenses, results,
assets and liabilities include items directly
attributable to a segment as well as those
that can be allocated on reasonable basis
to that segment. For example, segment
assets may include inventories, trade
receivables and property, plant and
equipment. Segment revenue, expenses,
assets, are determined before intra-group
balances and intra-group transactions that
are eliminated as part of the consolidation
process, except to the extent that such
intra-group balances and transactions
are between group entities within a single
segment. Inter-segment pricing is based
on similar terms as those available to other
external parties.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(s) Segment reporting (cont’d)
Segment capital expenditure is the total
cost incurred during the period to acquire
segment assets (both tangible and
intangible) that are expected to be used for
more than one accounting period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial
and corporate assets, interest-bearing
loans, borrowings, tax balances, corporate
and financing expenses.

Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued a number of new and
revised IFRSs and interpretations that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group and the
Company.

There have been no significant changes to the
accounting policies applied in these financial
statements for the years presented as a result
of these developments. However, as a result of
the adoption of IFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures and the amendment to IAS 1,
Presentation of financial statements: Capital
disclosures, there have been some additional
disclosures provided as follows:

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 7, the
financial statements include expanded disclosure
about the significance of the Group’s financial
instruments and the nature and extent of risks
arising from those instruments, compared
with the information previously required to be
disclosed by IAS 32, Financial instruments:
Disclosure and presentation. These disclosures
are provided throughout these financial
statements, in particular in Note 36.

2

FEEBR ()

(s) 2EE®mE (F)
DHEAT LR EENANB AR ERE
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FREE EHYABACA ©
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B KBRS PRI 15718 — [MBHREA
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BABIT :
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

Changes in accounting policies
(cont’d)

The amendment to IAS 1 introduces additional
disclosure requirements to provide information
about the level of capital and the Group’s and the
Company’s objectives, policies and processes for
managing capital. These new disclosures are set
out in Note 32(f).

Both IFRS 7 and the amendment to IAS 1 do not
have any material impact on the classification,
recognition and measurement of the amounts
recognised in the financial instruments.

The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period (see Note 40).

Turnover and segment information

Turnover primarily represents income arising
from the sale of condensed juice net of value
added tax. The directors consider that the Group
principally operates within a single business and
no business segment information is presented.

The geographical segment information of the
Group’s turnover based on the geographical
location of customers is as follows:

North America Jbx
Europe B
Others EHob
Total A&f

110 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. RALF ZENRTRBERL T

R RAYIERT (¥8)

(B ERDE 1 SRERISIA TN B RS
Ko AERERNKEMAEERARRBTEER
WERE BERRGEREER - BENNORER
AETIRMIEE32(7) ©

(ER B Bl S ERIDE 7 AR &5 ERDSE
15RERT R B YA B T AP iR B/ 2
B RN EBREAEANTE -

R B0 IR R AR E AT AT HARE M R AR S0
FERIRERRE (2R/EE40) ©

$r A B 53 8B #
WATBREERBRAMEEZHA - EhE

RRIBEN - EEMRRASEIEEE — X755
DEREE - F A EmINFE RS D BER

BEPHR AT 2 AEEIR S HKRALT

2007 2006
—==tF —EBERE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AREETTT

726,507 473,117
593,170 134,380
343,299 178,938
1,662,976 786,435




Other operating income

Sales of packaging materials HEBEME
Government grants BT RS
Rovyalty income BB U
Others Efth

Total BFF

(i) Sales of packaging materials

(ii)

This represents the sales of barrels, which are
used for the storage of the Group’s products,
and unused steel materials which are the major
materials for the manufacture of barrels.

Government grants

During the year ended 31 December 2007,
the Group received a government grant
of RMB6,557,000 from Dalian municipal
government to reward the Group for its
investment in Dalian.

During the year ended 31 December
2006, the Group received an amount
of RMB2,020,000 from Yantai Finance
Bureau to reward the Company for its
contribution to local fruit industry, an
amount of RMB6,054,000 from Dalian
municipal government to reward the Group
for its investment in Dalian, an amount
of RMB910,000 from Xuzhou municipal
government to reward the Group for its
investment in Xuzhou, and an amount
of RMBS300,000 from Yantai municipal
government to subsidise the loan interest of
the Company.

5

HtEEBA

i)

(i)

2007 2006
“BBLE  TIAA
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT

() 6,218 4,398
0 6,557 9,284
(i) 949 2,392
1,754 557

15,478 16,631

HEBRME
BARRHERUREAEEERZEH
RARBE#LY Sl REERBE

BT RG

RBEZZTTEELFT+A=1T—HIEHF
B AEBERIAETARBRFARKE
6,557,000 7T AL SRE A & E 1 KERE -

RBE-_ZTTEAF+-_A=+—H1
FE ASEBRIFACTEHBEARE
2,020,000 7T 4 B ZE B AR N Bl 5 & i R %
EXZER  WIRETARBITARKE
6,054,000 7T/ B SREN AN R BT KERE -
W BRI A REUT AR 910,000 7o Ah
REAEBERMNEE - WREREAETA
RBUF AER% 300,000 T BE AR A R
Al EHAE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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5 Other operating income (cont’d)

(iii) Royalty income
This represents the royalty fee received
from a third party distributor for the
exclusive right to distribute products of the
Group in the United States of America and
Canada.

6 Other operating expenses

Cost of packaging materials sold B S} $5E Ak Zx
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE R

plant and equipment g}
Others Efth
Total Bt

112 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. RALAZENRTRAERL T

o

HtEEWA (#])

(i) HFEFEBA

FAERABER -KE=TDHBER
BABEAREEREXERNENBRE

FEFFRFEBA -

HtigE28HA
2007 2006
—®BEE  TIAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEMTE  ARMTE
3,940 3,785
= 1,687
674 498
4,614 5,970




Personnel expenses

Salaries, wages and staff welfare %F% - TEKRETIREA
RREFIET B

Contributions to retirement
benefit schemes

Total At
Average number of employees ~ RAFRZ
during the year FHEESSE

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the
Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement plans organised by municipal
governments for its staff. The Group is required
to make contributions to the retirement plans
at 20% (2006: 20%) of the salaries, bonuses
and certain allowances of its staff of last year. A
member of the plan is entitled to a pension, to
be paid by the municipal governments, equal to
a fixed proportion of the salary prevailing at his
retirement date. The Group has no other material
obligation for the payment of pension benefits
associated with these plans beyond the annual
contributions described above.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yu
(K AE&”‘%/

%”‘:

BRIRH
2007 2006
—®BEE  TIAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEMTE  ARMTE
17,771 13,514
2,175 1,470
19,946 14,984
1,053 830

RETEABR - AEESEBT28EMMT
B2 5k 8 B BE HFCRINET &) - AKBAR
BAFEZRBT EF 2 #HE  BARREHZ
20% (—ZFZTNF 1 20%) fEH # 5% - 205t 8l
H B T A AR RIS R 3 75 BUR S AR R KBS 3
T EE P2 BRIKE - REERR Bl FE A
S /ARG LT B AR R AR A RS R IK
EHEAEE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

Net finance costs

Interest expenses on bank RAFAEZHEFE
loans repayable wholly ZERITER
within five years FEEA

Interest income IS ON

Bank charges RITER

Net exchange gain ETHET PN

Total BFt

Investment income

During the year ended 31 December 2006,
the Company entered into an agreement in
relation to the transfer of a 50% equity interest
in its subsidiary, Xianyang Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
(“Xianyang Andre”), to AGRANA Juice GmbH,
for total consideration of EUR6,800,000. The
investment income recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2006 arising from this
disposal represents the difference between the
consideration received and the carrying amount
of the interests disposed of. After the completion
of this transfer, Xianyang Andre has become a
jointly controlled entity of the Company.

114 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 1R&t7H ZEFIRTRMDERAF

8

MEREX R
2007 2006
—EETtF —EETRF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
66,269 39,495
(2,238) (2,384)
1,747 7,481
(39,316) (11,715)
26,462 32,877

BEKRA

REBE-—TEAE+-_A=+—HILEE K
REF—HEARERE—RHNBAR - K&
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Investment income (cont’d)

The Group’s effective interests of

assets and

liabilities disposed of in 2006 are analysed as

follows:

Property, plant and equipment

Lease prepayments

Inventories

Other receivables and prepayments

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade payables

Other payables and accrued
expenses

Net assets

Consideration received,
satisfied in cash
Less: cash disposed of

Net cash inflow

E R By

B LEER

E3

H At RS 2 FEAS R AR
ReMRSEFEY

JE A BR K

HAb AR R FEER
£

FEE

WEIZHRE
MR E A
B hEZRE

FREBRMA

RAEWA (])

AEBPR ST NFHEZEERBBZER#E
mAMTEAR ¢

2006
ZETREF
RMB’000
ARBFIT
45,964
1,267
21,850
1,618
6,341
(4,099)
(57,466)

15,475

68,561
(6,341)

62,220
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

10 Profit before taxation

11

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

Depreciation of property, ES

plant and equipment = M I E
Auditors’ remuneration — Z AN B & —

audit services Bz RT
Operating lease charge KEHEER

— land use rights — T HifF A

— hire of plant and equipment — TR EWE k&
Research and development ot M FE

expenditure &

Income tax

(@)

Taxation in the consolidated income
statements represents provision for PRC
income tax.

Provision for PRC income tax ~FR BN ZEFT15H &

The Company is subject to PRC income
tax, before any relief or concessions, at
a rate of 24%. In accordance with the
relevant PRC tax rules and regulations,
the Company is entitled to a 50% relief on
PRC income tax in 2007 as the Company’s
export sales account for more than 70%
of its total sales for the year. The Company
has obtained approval from the local tax
authorities on this tax preferential policy for
the year ended 31 December 2007.
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FRIR AR F

B AR M E R TFIEA

2007 2006
—EEEE  —TINA
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE  ARMTE
68,777 59,506
1,990 1,880
1,282 897
8,294 7,489

178 476

FRriGR

BHBERTORAEET B MEMEHE
ﬁ o]

2007 2006
—22tF —EERF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
31,451 8,589

EEEARGREHEET  AREEM
ZHRBEEEABHRRE F24% - REF
BEBRERARRS  ARBAR_FF
TtFE - AHOHEEHERHEEESR
70% MR+ BU P BB RSN - AR F]
EEHEANGHENEE L —TTLF
BIEESHEEBRNILAE -



11

Income tax (cont’d)

@)

(cont’d)

The subsidiary operating in the United
States of America is subject to income tax
at the appropriate current rates of taxation
ruling in the United States of America.

The other subsidiaries operating in the PRC
are subject to PRC income tax, before
any relief or concession, at rates of 15%
to 33%. In accordance with the relevant
PRC tax rules and regulations, certain of
these subsidiaries are exempt from PRC
income tax for two years starting from their
first profit-making year, and are entitled
to a 50% relief on PRC income tax for the
following three years.

On 16 March 2007, the Fifth Plenary
Session of the Tenth National People’s
Congress passed the Corporate Income
Tax Law of the PRC (“new tax law”) which
takes effect on 1 January 2008. As a result
of the new tax law, the applicable tax rate
of the Company and certain subsidiaries
has been changed to 25% from 1 January
2008 except Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd.
and Yongji Andre Juice Co., Ltd., who can
continue to enjoy a reduced tax rate of
15%.

(Expressed in Renminbi#uag .
(UARBIT)

11 FrfsR ()

(@)

()
1 3E 4 0 Y 28 0 8 B T A8 BB
BEBBUARE TRITHE -

EEEARBHEHERT » KAFEF
BEENZMBRARERZHBEEEMRSF
B ERI5%EI% > REBETEEEHR
BRANRARB - & THE QR ERBER
MEER  E-—FNE_FLBEEMS
B B=FEERFRLBREEMEN

(PEARKAMBEEEMETOE) VA TEHE
[FBHE) ERPEARLNEF HEZE
ARRRAREGEAREEN _TTLF=
A+tRBE@EB B-_ZTN\F—A—HE
W17 o RIBMBERE - NRF RERAK
ZIRNRET AR R R MAKE LR REG
TERRBASNGH B R RE RS H
RE-_TTN\F-HA—HBBER25% -
RBFBOERE - BRZEFNRETBR
DA KB ZENRETBR AR A 4
BEZH15%BEHX -
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

11 Income tax (cont’d)

11 FrigiR (#)

(b) The following is a reconciliation between (o) ATNDRERAMREGFE 2 RS EMSH
accounting profit at the applicable tax rate B H 2 A
and income tax expense:
2007 2006
—ETtEF ZETRF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFTT
Profit before taxation FRBE RT3 A 266,604 78,823
Expected PRC income tax expense at REBARE24% 58
a tax rate of 24% ZHBFTSH 63,985 18,918
Tax effect of exemption and relief granted Fi 758 % (37,028) (10,991)
Tax effect of the difference AR BT AR
in tax rates between the HRABEZER
Company and the subsidiaries d-7% (76) (3,098)
Tax effect of domestically manufactured B8 & B &
equipment purchases deduction* AR R (1,323) =
Others** H b 5,893 3,760
Income tax expense St &R 31,451 8,589

The deduction represents the tax
deduction for purchases of domestically
manufactured equipment approved by the
local tax authorities.

* Others primarily represent the tax effect of
non-deductible expenses.
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emoluments

12 Directors’ and supervisors’

Details of directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments

are as follows:

Name

Executive Directors:
Zheng Yuewen
Wang An
Yu Hulin
Zhang Hui
Jiang Honga*

Li Yesheng®

Non-executive Directors:
Zhang Wanxin®™
Ren Xiaojian™
Lo Chih-Hsien

Independent non-executive Directors:

Hu Xiaosong™
Wu Jianhui

Yu Shouneng
Qu Wen*

Supervisors;
Qu Weiia
Weang Chuntang®
Mu Guisheng
Chen Kelin

4

#178%:
HEX
1%
Teif
i
Eha

FHES:
REMm~
e
BER

BUjHTES
B
ke

£%:
sl
THy
£t
Rt

* Appointed on 28 May 2007
o Resigned on 28 May 2007

12 EFRESHS

EEREEMEeZFBOT
Salaries, Retirement
allowances and scheme
Fees benefits in kind contributions Total
E55g
g AR A MER BRI RME Bkt
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
C2TEE CE35E ZBBEE CTESF ZEDtE CTTF CBBtE 2%
{Amounts in RMB'000)
(AR®FT)
50 50 - - - - 50 50
50 50 67 I 7 7 124 136
50 50 67 I 7 7 124 136
50 50 67 7 7 7 124 136
2 - 53 - - - 82 -
2 - 56 - - = 85 =
21 50 - - - - 2 50
21 50 - - - - 2 50
50 50 - - - - 50 50
21 50 - - - - 21 50
50 50 - - - - 50 50
50 50 - - - - 50 50
2 - - - - - 2 -
30 30 55 63 7 5 92 9%
18 - - - - - 18 -
30 30 - - - - 30 0
13 30 - - - - 13 30
501 590 365 300 2 26 984 916

- RZZEZLFRA-+/\BHREE
o RIEZLFRA-T\BEE
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

Directors’ and supervisors’
emoluments (cont’d)

For the years ended 31 December 2007 and
2006, no emoluments were paid to the directors
or supervisors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Company or as compensation for loss
of office. During the years ended 31 December
2007 and 2006, no fee or any other emolument
was waived by directors or supervisors.

Senior management’s emoluments

Among the five highest paid individuals, four
(2006: three) were executive directors and one
(2006: one) was a supervisor whose emoluments
are disclosed in Note 12 above. The emoluments
of the other one in 2006 individual are as follows:

Basic salaries, allowances
and other benefits

HABH

Retirement scheme contributions iR /K@ FIET 24tk

Total =X
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EXFE  RER

12

13

EFRESHS (W)

RBE-FTLER_TEAFT-A=+-H
L ARRLANEEREFX IS
BMEAREIEMARA A SR BEMAE © 1
HE-FRLFR-FTAT+=A=+—AL
FF - EFRSFHEAENL IR0 -

REEENE

il

ERfiGZRHEREREALS  HA(ZZEZ
NEB=ZAN)RBTEER—A(CETRFL—
AN BREE  HMEEHEZ EOME 125 FAH
B R_TTRF2H—AMEIIRAT :

2007 2006
—®BEE  TIAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEMTE  ARMTT
- 79

- 4

- 83




14 Profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

The consolidated profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company includes a profit of
RMB120,059,000 (2006: RMB5,403,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of
the Company.

Reconciliation of the above amount to the
Company’s profit for the year:

Amount of consolidated profit

Company’s financial statements HEE
Final dividends from subsidiaries
and a jointly controlled entity

attributable to the profits of the NEFRZERZ
previous financial year, approved KA HA
and paid during the year % 2

Company’s profit for the year AR B AN [ s A
(Note 32(a)) (Fff5E 32(a))

BAARRA RIS
attributable to equity shareholders ~ $RFRHIANA FIIEER
of the Company dealt with in the FE(EE P A

=L PNCIY SRt
BRI

14 BERFLXFRERZRF

SEBRARARREZAHENEEETARRAR
B 15 3R & AE A R # 120,059,000 70 ( — 2N
£ : AR#¥5,403,0007T) °

A LR BEAR R 2 AF MR -
2007 2006
—ETtHF —EERF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETIT

120,059 5,403

3
18,839 52,699
138,898 58,102
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PR R EE

Cost:

Balance at 1 January 2006
Additions

Transfers

Disposals of Xianyang Andre
QOther disposals

Balance at 31 December
2006

Balance at 1 January 2007

Additions

Transfers

Additions from acquisttion
of a subsidiary

Disposals

Balance at 31 December
2007

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance at 1 January 2006
Charge for the year
Written back on:
Disposal of Xianyang Andre
Other disposals

Balance at 31 December
2006

Balance at 1 January 2007
Charge for the year
Written back on disposals

Balance at 31 December
2007

Net book value:
At 31 December 2007

At 31 December 2006

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) "
(UAEBST) L I
15 Property, plant and equipment 15 Y% - BERERME

The property, plant and equipment of the Group AEBHE_ZTTAAFER_ZTETLF+ A

for the years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007 =+t—HILFENYE  BERZEOT :

are as follows:

Machinery
and Motor Office Construction
Buildings equipment  vehicles equipment in progress Total

RSN WBREHE AE WOZEE 2 ERIR ait
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR ARMTRT ARWTR ARWTRE ARRTR ARWTR

B
RIEERE-A-Az86 210,105 464,798 13,164 13,215 10,768 712,050
e 4,436 57,004 2,140 2,136 61872 127,588
B8 55,745 9,696 - 51 (65,492) -
L ERGZEF (19,588)  (29,915) (325) (1,168) (106)  (51,102)
HttRE (2,317) (1) (1,774) = = 4,102)
RZET/E

TZA=+—Rz&H 248381 501,572 13,205 14,234 7042 784434
RZZZLE-A-AzE4% 248381 501,572 13,205 14,234 7042 784,434
NE 18,282 91,207 1781 1,661 78656 191,677
B8 34,428 46,067 - 252 (80,747) -
KERBARZ

byl 40,428 34,520 441 626 2,043 78,058
RE (698) - (574) 49) - (1,321)
RZETLE

ToAZT-RZER 340821 673466 14853 16724 6994 1,062848
ZitE:
RZZZTNF—A-Bzi&s (21487)  (125,801) (5,522) (5,051) - (157.861)
TEEHE (12,107) (42513 (2.322) (2,564) - (59,500)
B -

HERGRERN 328 4,492 79 239 - 5,138

EtEE 652 3 1,183 = - 1838
RZZETAE

TZR=t-AzkH (32614 (163819 (6582 (7,376 - (210391)
RZZTrE—-R—-Brisk (32,614 (163,819) (6,582) (7,376) - (210391)
TEENE (17.656)  (46,436) (2,296) (2,389) - (88777
REEH 13 - 385 26 = 424
NZETLE

TZAZT-RZER (0257)  (210255)  (849% (9,739 - (8744
IR :
RZETtE+-A=+-H 200,564 463,201 6,360 6,985 6994 774,104
RZZERETZA=1+-AR 215767 337,753 6,623 6,858 7042 574,043
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15 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

No property, plant and equipment of the Group
were pledged as at 31 December 2006 and
2007.

The property, plant and equipment of the
Company for the years ended 31 December
2006 and 2007 are as follows:

Cost: BE:
Balanceat 1 January 2006  R-ZEAE-A-Hz&%
Additions NE
Transfers B8
Transfers to subsidiaries EE NG
Disposals RE
Balance at 31 December RZEERE
2006 TZA=T—RE
Balance at 1 January 2007 \ZZETHE-A-AzER
Additions NE
Transfers EE b
Transfers to subsidiaries EE NG
Disposals BE
Balance at 31 December RZZTLE
2007 +-A=+—-Re&H

(Expressed in Renminbi Yu
(K AE&”‘%/

15 %K - BREREME (&)
R-BERER—_FTT+EFE+_A=+—H ' &
SEHSEEAEERRNYE - BERRE -
ARRHBHE_ZEEZNEFA_ET+F+ A
=T —HIEFEMNYE  BERERERT
Machinery

and Motor Office Construction
Buildings equipment  vehicles equipment in progress Total
BEM BERRG RE MOBRE 2 #wRIE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARRTT AE®TR AR%MTT ARETT AERTR AR%TRT

60,074 114,880 7,241 4,568 2,697 189,460

1,333 1,686 1,284 945 4,399 9,647

3217 585 - 43 (3,905) -

- (20,070) (680) - - (20,750)

2,317) - (1,322) - - (3,639

62,367 97,081 6,523 5,556 3,191 174,718

62,367 97,081 6,523 5,556 3,191 174,718

1,757 15,294 633 508 3,881 22,073

6,461 360 - 251 (7,072) -

- (8,946) - - - (8,946)
(698) - - - - (698)
69,887 108,789 7,156 6,315 - 187,147
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(UARRZT)

15 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

PR R EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

15 % - BB Raxm (i)

Machinery
and Motor Office Construction
Buildings equipment  vehicles equipment in progress Total
BEY BRRRMH RE WOZERE HBIE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARRTT AERTR ABRWTRT ARRTRT AERTR ARWTRT
Accumulated depreciation:  BFHTE :
Balanceat 1 January 2006  RZZEEAF—A—-Hz&H 0614 (34775 (3,635) (1,832 - (49,856)
Charge for the year KTERHE 2,783) (9,215) (1,073) (916) - (13,987)
Written back on: o
Transfer to subsidiaries BEHBAA - 15,763 358 - = 16,121
Disposals RE 652 - 1,057 - - 1,709
Balance at 31 December NS S
2006 TZA=T-RzHR (11,745) (28,227 (3,299) (2,748) - (48019
Balanceat 1 January 2007 RZETLF-A—-Hz&EH% (11,745 (28,227) (3,293) (2,748) - (46,013
Charge for the year TEENE (2,855) (8,772 (1,168) 771 - (18566)
Written back on: o
Transfer to subsidlaries RN - 2,753 = = = 2,753
Disposals RE 13 - - - - 13
Balance at 31 December RZETLE
2007 TZA=T—Rz&EH (14587)  (34,246) (4,461) (3,519) - (56813
Net book value: IREE :
At 31 December 2007 ZBSEE+CAZt-R 55,300 69,543 2,695 2,796 - 130,334
At 31 December 2006 “EFERF+-A=1-H 50,622 68,854 3,230 2,808 3,191 128,705
No property, plant and equipment of the RZBERFRZEELFTA=+T—H K
Company were pledged as at 31 December 2006 RNEBEEAEEERNDE - BB R -

and 2007.

124 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. RALHZENRTRBERL T



16 Lease prepayments

17

16 WftLERR

The Group The Company
*EME b /NG
2007 2006 2007 2006
ZETLEE ZEER —EELF ZEETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETFET ARETT AER®FTRT ARETx
Balance at 1 January R—HA—B#&R 32,722 31,256 11,063 8,522
Additions N 6,568 3,630 - 2,799
Additions from acquisition 4& 8K A 7]
of a subsidiary Yl 30,733 = - =
Disposal of Xianyang HE RS
Andre ZIER - (1,267) = =
Amortisation B (1,282) (897) (433) (258)
Balance at 31 December W+—-A=+—8
R 68,741 32,722 10,630 11,063

Lease prepayments represent payments for land
use rights in the PRC.

Investments in subsidiaries - the
Company

Unlisted shares, at cost JELT - KA

BN T E B A B L i MRS RO R

I8 o

17 RREBATNHRE -F0F

2007
—ETLF
RMB’000
AR®TT

426,905

2006
ZEER

RMB’000

ARETIT

239,795
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17

PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UARRZT)

Investments in subsidiaries - the

17 MRRBLATFIRRE - 27 (K)

Company (cont’d)
As at 31 December 2007, the Company held P
investments in the following subsidiaries: THEAR :
Authorised/
Place Registered
of incorporation capital
Name of company RIiE Principal activities Y
NEER RAH TERE iEMEs
Yantai North Andre Juice Inc. The United States Sale of juice US$100,000
(*US Andre’) of America FHEE  100000ETT
FER A AR ET X
RARHBRAR
(TE%EM])
Baishui Andre Juice Co., Ltd. Shaanxi, PRC Manufactureand ~ US$17,000,000
BARERNRHTERAR FEpEE sdle of juice 17,000,000
BTEERHE
Yantai Longkou Andre Juice Shandong, PRC Manufacture and ~ US$12,110,000
Co., Ltd. (“Longkou Andre’) HEILERE sdleofjuice  12,110,000%T
RaEORENRTHA BHEEREE
BBRAR([EAZER])
Xuzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd. Jiangsu, PRC Manufactureand ~ US$10,000,000
(*Xuzhou Andre’) HETEE sdleofjuice  10,000,000%7T
MR ENRETERAF PTEERHE
(e )
Andre Juice Co., Ltd. British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$50,000
(‘BVI Andre’) AERAS REAR 50,000%7t
ZENRABRAR

126 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 1R&t7H ZEFIRTRMDERA T

Paid-in
capital

RbRE

US$100,000
100,000% 7T

US$17,000,000

17,000,000 T

US$12,110,000
12,110,000 7

1US$10,000,000
10,000,000 7T

US$1
e

TR F+_A=+—H  ARFRERIA

Attributable
equity interest %
Frit g LL B
Direct Indirect
HE i
100% -
75% 25%
75% 25%
75% 25%
100% -



17

Investments in subsidiaries - the
Company (cont’d)

Name of company

LRER

Xuzhou Andre

Pomace Production Co., Ltd.*
INzEARE mER AR

Longkou Andre
Bio-feedstuff Co., Ltd.

EAZENENFHERAR

Baishui Andre
Bio-feedstuff Co., Ltd.

AKREME MR ARAR]

Dalian Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

REZRHRETERAA

Yongji Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

(“Yongji Andre’)
KERENRHTERAT
(AR ER])

Binzhou Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

(‘Binzhou Andre”)

BMNZERR RN BRAT]

(MM =AER)])

*

Place
of incorporation

WM
RAEX

Jiangsu, PRC
RETEE

Shandong, PRC
PEILRE

Shaanxi, PRC
HEIRAEE

Liaoning, PRC

Shanxi, PRC
HEILFEE

Shandong, PRC
FERE

Formerly Xuzhou Andre Bio-feedstuff Co.,

17 MRRBLATFIRRE - 27 (K)

Principal activities

IERE

Manufacture and

sale of pomace products
REHREE

K&

Manufacture and
sale of bio-feedstuff
YR E
R#&

Manufacture and
sale of bio-feedstuff
EMEEEE
k&

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERBE

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERHE

Manufacture and
sale of juice

RHEERBE

Ltd. *

Authorised/
Registered
capital
e/
EREF

US$500,000
500,000% 7T

US$500,000
500,000%7

US$500,000
500,000 7

RMBS0,000,000
AE®
80,000,007

US$10,000,000
10,000,000 7

US$12,100,000
12,100,000

Paid-in
capital

RbRE

US$500,000
500,000 7T

US$500,000
500,000%7T

US$500,000
500,000% 7T

RMB80,000,000
AE%
80,000,000

US$8,500,000
8,500,000 %7

US$12,100,000
12,100,000 7T

RENZENENENARAE

Attributable
equity interest %
Frit g LL B
Direct Indirect
HE &
- 100%
- 100%
- 100%
70% 30%
75% 25%
51% -
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PR R EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

18 Acquisition of a subsidiary and

minority interests
Business combination

On 30 June 2007, the Company acquired
21% equity interest of Binzhou Andre from
Korea Jeong Soo Andre Co., Ltd. (@ company
incorporated in Korea) at a cash consideration
of RMB21,758,000 and 30% equity interest of
Binzhou Andre from Yantai Anlin Fruit Co., Ltd.
(@ company incorporated in the PRC) at a cash
consideration of RMB31,083,000, thereby,
the Company totally held 51% equity interest
of Binzhou Andre. Binzhou Andre is principally
engaged in the production and sale of condensed
juice.

128 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. RALAZENRTRBERL T

18 WHRMHEARR VHARER

RIZEZLFRA=1TH ARARNRSHE
A R ¥ 21,758,000 7T A §% B IE 18 %2 42 ) £k =0
i (—KNEEZMALZ AR WHE T BM
RIEMZ21%OKE  REARSHBEARE
31,083,000 TMEERMREAR AR (—KR
REARKMBEMAZZ AF) KWETBEME
BRI 2 30% RHRAE - BB SRR - NARIAE
HEFFBM LB Z 51% KRR - BMLEH E
ZRBREFTOEERBEE



(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(AARBFR)

18 Acquisition of a subsidiary and 18 WIRMELAFIRIBIREER ()
minority interests (cont’d)
Business combination (cont’d) ESH ()
The acquisition had the following effect on the ZWERE BB AEENEERBENZEN
Group’s assets and liabilities on the acquisition s
date:
Pre-acquisition Recognised

carrying Fair value values on
amounts adjustments acquisition
IR RTEY LREE B U A
RE&# ZiRE mEEHRE

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FiEE AR®BTR AR®TRE AR%TTRT
Property, plant and Wk BEEEE 15 71,394 6,664 78,058
equipment
Lease prepayments BT EES 16 19,556 11,177 30,733
Inventories & 2,397 - 2,397
Trade and other receivables ~ FEU I H fth fE 1K 16,093 - 16,093
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEY 6,966 - 6,966
Trade and other payables FEAS R B AR 3R (30,638) = (30,638)
Net identifiable assets AIHREER
and liabilities BEZFHE 85,768 17,841 103,609
The Company’s 51% share AR BENRBEZ
of the net identifiable assets ~ JFEAR AN AIUREE
and liabilities acquired, A 8 51% B3R5
satisfied in cash LR € X 52,841
Cash acquired W H9IR & (6,966)

Net cash outflow B R FEE 45,875
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NOTE O s
B A% ¥R R MY aE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

18 Acquisition of a subsidiary and

minority interests (cont’d)
Business combination (cont’d)

Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined
based on applicable IFRS immediately before the
acquisition. The values of assets and liabilities
recognised on acquisition are their estimated
fair values. The fair value of property, plant
and equipment and lease prepayment for land
use rights recognised as a result of a business
combination is based on market values.

The newly acquired subsidiary has contributed
profit for the year of RMB41,707,000. If the
acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2007, the
estimated Group’s revenue and profit for the year
would be approximately the same as comparing
to the actual result.

Acquisition of minority interests

On 31 December 2007, the Group acquired the
remaining 9.99% equity interest in Lonkou Andre
at a consideration of RMB13,514,000, which
should be satisfied in cash but not yet paid by
31 December 2007. The carrying amount of
the remaining 9.99% equity interest in Longkou
Andre in the consolidated financial statements on
the date of the acquisition was RMB10,497,000.
The Group recognised a decrease in minority
interests of RMB10,497,000 and a decrease in
share premium of RMB3,017,000.

REH ZEFNRTROBRAF

18 WRRHE AR R OHARER ()

456 ()

WHERTHORRE S B E B E RS RETE RN E
R BHREEAFESHEN - WBAERNEE
RAENEERGZAREE - AEEAHN
ERNYE  BELAREBARANLHWEEEZ
DA BERAETSEBRERD

FWENHBRARANFERNERE N ARK
41,707,0007C ° BRLWIER-_TZLF—H—
HENE A4 - FEFT RS EARFE A R | B E R
HEREEABHER ©

B D B R

RZ_ZEEZ+F+_A=+—H A&EENUAR
# 13,514,000 T ¥ B W g T 58 0 REF FI R 1Y
9.99% K D H IR - ZHEBINE S T
BERE_ZE+F+_A=+—BHAX -
R EBES B BmRP D L EF 2 Fgr
MO.99% ML EBRREENETDSEAARE
10,497,000 ° AEBRGE P ER R E=R AR
#10,497,0007T * [A B R 0 R AN i B A R
3,017,000 7T °



19

Interest in a jointly controlled entity

19 RiRZEFHRENKRE

- the Company —ENH
2007 2006
—ETtE ZETREF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
Unlisted shares, at cost FEET - A 54,760 54,760
As at 31 December 2007, the Company held an RIBZLF+-_A=+—0  ARARERIA
investment in the following jointly controlled entity: TEREEHEEE -
Attributable
Authorised/ equity interest %
Place Registered Paid-in FR{GRE LR
Name of company of incorporation Principal activities capital capital Direct Indirect
INGEL LR TEEH EMEE RhEF HE &
Xianyang Andre Shaanxi, PRC Manufacture and RMB RMB 50% =
Juice Co., Ltd. IR E sale of juice 109,520,480 109,520,480
BERENRERT PTEERHE AR AR
BRAT 109,520,480 109,520,480 7T
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PR R EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

19 Interest in a jointly controlled entity
- the Company (cont’d)

Summary financial information on the jointly
controlled entity — Group’s effective interest of the

joint control:

Non-current assets EmENEE

Current assets MENEE

Current liabilities mENaE

Net assets FEE

Income WA

Expense 2R

Profit for the year ZREFE

Net cash used in R EE)
operating activities ZFERE

Net cash used in ARIEE TGS
investing activities ZFHE

Net cash from EEEHES
financing activities ZFRE

132 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. 1R&t7H REFIRTRMDERA T

19

RERZHRRMRE
—F2F (1)

HRZEH BBV BEMRE - AKEHES HFZ

HltEz B

2007 2006
—==tF —EBETRF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
54,274 47,774
122,329 65,683
(98,859) (58,833)
77,744 54,624
188,389 28,148
(163,777) (24,204)
24,612 3,944
36,130 33,576
8,687 6,295
43,262 37,504




(Expressed in Renminbi Yu
(K AE&”‘%/

20 REEATNHRE -FKEH

20 Interest in an associate - the Group

2007 2006

—EETtF —EETRF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TTT ARETIT

Share of net assets JELFEE 63,196 62,695

“RELF+A=+T—H AEERERNA

As at 31 December 2007, the Group held an

R-ZEZ
investment in the following associate: THtE AR :
Attributable
Authorized/ equity interest %
Place Registered Paid-in Fris B LL B
Name of company of incorporation Principal activities capital capital Direct Indirect
NEER FRILHE FERY EfEs {6t -1 ik
Yantai Andre Pectin Shandong, PRC Manufactureand  US$20,000,000  US$20,000,000 - 40%
Co., Ltd. (‘Andre Pectin’) FELRE sale of pectin
AREFRBERAA FBAEEREE  20000,000%7 20,000,000
(IREHNRE])
Summary of financial information on the associate AT BH & A R 2 SRR E -
is as follows:
2007 2006
k- 14 33 ZETRF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER#®TT ARETTT
Assets BE 252,856 205,322
Liabilities af (94,864) (48,582)
Equity AR R R A (157,992) (156,740)
Turnover A 23,890 34
Profit/(Loss) A, (Ei8) 1,252 (120)
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PR R EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

21 Goodwill - the Group

Cost and carrying amount: BAFRIREE :

21 BE-F%H

2007 2006
—®BEE  TIAF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TFT ARETT

At 1 January and 31 December HR—A—HE+=-A=+—8 1,452 1,452

Impairment test for the cash-generating

unit containing goodwill

The Group’s cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to
which the goodwill is allocated is Longkou Andre.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on
actual operating results and financial forecasts
less than five years. Cash flows beyond the
period covered by the financial forecasts are kept
constant which management determined to be
no higher than the long-term growth rate of the
industry. A pre-tax discount rate of 10.1 per cent
has been used in discounting the projected cash
flows.

REH ZEFNRTROBRAF

HESHENRSEHRETNRERNR

AEESETHENRSELETARALZRE
Rl o

ZHEE R BRI EIERREREEER
BT - BUFERATNERLEXRERIRE
FHOMBERSEMRNIRSRIER - BHZMH
BRIBR RS RIBE B0 ET TR BEERE
EZKFAERRITENRIERE - ERARE
ERETRFTBAITIRES10.1 BDF ©



(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) '
(UAEESGIR)

Inventories 22 &8
The Group The Company
FEH F- 3/

2007 2006 2007 2006
—EELE —EERE —EZ=LF —EERF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE ARETT ARBTRE ARETT
Raw materials R A% 46,754 40,926 13,220 9,428
Finished goods EER G 1,270,376 658,825 571,141 452,843
Total =0 1,317,130 699,751 584,361 462,271
No inventories were stated at fair value less R-BELFER_TEEF+_A=+—H =&

costs to sell as at 31 December 2007 and
31 December 2006.

The cost of inventories recognised in the

consolidated income statement amounted

BB AR EREERATE

FERAE_ZELF 2 A EaRNERRE
A ANREA1 239,521,000 C(ZZEZREF: AR

to RMB1,239,521,000 for the year ended 31 # 625,579,000 7T) ©
December 2007 (2006: RMB625,579,000).
23 Trade receivables 23 [EUZIRRR
The Group The Company
xEE ENF
2007 2006 2007 2006
—EELF TETRF —EELF TETRF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE ARETT ABRBTRE ARETT
Amounts due from JFEUR
third parties == 329,626 172,353 202,473 92,328
Amounts due from a JEH&/\IE@%U
jointly controlled entity TEE - 956 - =
Total a5t 329,626 173,309 202,473 92,328
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PR R EE

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

23 Trade receivables (cont’d)

An ageing analysis of trade receivables is as

23 FEMLRERR (#8)

FEYRIR Z BRI A HTIA T

follows:
The Group The Company
xEKH b /N
2007 2006 2007 2006
—EBEFE =TT F CZBELEFE —TTHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR%ETr AR®BTRT ARET=
Within 3 months ={EANA 329,175 163,568 202,189 91,012
Over 3 months but =EAKE
less than 6 months BARAEA 284 7,820 284 1,316
Over 6 months NEA K E 167 1,921 = =
Total &&r 329,626 173,309 202,473 92,328

Customers are normally granted credit terms of
three to six months (2006: three to six months),
depending on the credit standing of individual
customers.
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24 Other receivables and prepayments

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuar_r)
(UAREIIR)

24 HAFEU R IR

The Group The Company
*5E
2007 2006 2007 2006
ZETLEE ZTTRF ZETLE —TTRX
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFT ARBTT ARETT
Prepayments in connection BETE
with construction work RAEF
and equipment purchases BN 16,004 13,814 6,211 10,784
Prepayments to suppliers TBITHEERET 40,612 67,974 30,490 65,594
Value added tax (‘VAT’) HOHE ZIEER
refunds for export sales RiE 0) 11,375 8,007 - 5,290
Restricted deposits for BITER
bank loans, letters ERERENER
of credit and bills payable RiEd 8,237 2,536 8,237 2,536
Recoverable input VAT AR ER 104,228 80,714 65,293 58,069
Advances to third parties BRTE=A (i 16,170 9,609 6,000 8,202
Advances to a jointly (ESiEa
controlled entity T (i) - 61,476 - 54,895
Others Hit 4,819 6,149 2,253 2,815
Total At 201,445 250,279 118,484 208,185

(i)

The Group’s sales are subject to VAT at the
rate of 17% but the Group is entitled to VAT
refunds of 13% in respect of export sales.

As at 31 December 2007, this represented
advances of RMB8,780,000 (2006: Nil) to
Yantai Anlin Fruit Co., Ltd., RMB515,000
(2006: Nil) to Binzhou Development District
Finance Bureau, RMB500,000 (2006:
RMB500,000) to Xuzhou Fengcheng
Finance Bureau, RMB375,000 (2006: Nil)
to Longkou Custom and RMB6,000,000
(2006: Nil) to Yantai Lushun Food Co.,
Ltd. In addition, the balance as at 31
December 2006 also included advances of
RMB8,202,000 to Yantai Muping Finance
Bureau and RMB907,000 to Longkou
Finance Bureau. These advances were
unsecured, interest free and had no fixed
terms of repayment.

AEEHEERBERZEEARKREXR
17% - BEZ X 13% K O SHERT -

MR_ZTLF+-_A=+—BH%HELRE
EBETHAZMREERAABIERARK
8,780,000 (=TT NF : &) ' f& T &
M A 2 [ BT BUR B A R 515,000 7T (=
TERF &) BTHRNTERS KB
ERAR®ES00,000L(ZFZTARF : AR
#500,0007T) * & TREABEABRARE
3750007 (ZEZRF : &) RIETHEAE
BIER AR A RER AR 6,000,000 7T
(ZTTRF8E) i RZTTRF
TZA=1+—H ZEERBEEREE
FREEFHBBERAR 8,202,000 7T
Rf& TR A M BBERARKE 907,000 7T °
ZEENERT  BEFE  WHEEEE
EHABR o
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

24 Other receivables and prepayments 24 HMEIHRRFAMERR (&)

(cont’d)

(i)  This represents the amounts due from (i) WAREE s HRAEFEEHNGZENZ
Xianyang Andre, the jointly controlled entity K?K HRRELRF  RZZEERF+
of the Group, which were unsecured, =t+—HB% 6 12% FEREREEEER
bearing interest at 6.12% per annum as at o SRR gﬁ‘tiia & o
31 December 2006 and had no fixed terms
of repayment. The amounts were repaid in
2007.

25 Dividends receivable - the Company 25 MERER —EXLF

This represents the dividends receivable from the ZRE AR AR ERNE A BRI Z RS -

Company’s subsidiaries.

26 Amounts due from and due to 26 BEREREMHEATRERZEGHERR

subsidiaries and a jointly controlled b, /N

entity - the Company

Amounts due from and due to subsidiaries and JE L K FE AT B /B 8 B I K [B) 422 1) B B 3R TE AR AR

a jointly controlled entity are unsecured, interest - ERE S\Iﬁﬂﬁlmﬁ’\]%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ cR-EE

free and have no fixed terms of repayment. The tF+—_A=+—H  BENHBARXLRZES

balance of amounts due to subsidiaries and a BRENEREREREN AR EERBEARE

jointly controlled entity as at 31 December 2007 104,222,000 7T (ZZT T84 « &) o

included an amount of RMB104,222,000 (2006:

Nil) due to the jointly controlled entity.

27 Cash and cash equivalents 27 BeRB&EFED
The Group The Company
*&KE . 3/
2007 2006 2007 2006
—EETLEFE ZETR —EELF —EERF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TE ARETT AER®TRT AREBTT

Cash in hand Re 733 11,157 151 142

Cash at bank RITER 96,864 47,275 64,120 32,201

Total A&t 97,597 58,432 64,271 32,343
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28 Short-term bank loans

28 FEMIMITER

The Group The Company
*KE SN

2007 2006 2007 2006

—B2tE ZTTRF —B3tE e

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREFT ARBTT ARETT

Secured bank loans BERBITER () 313,057 202,670 333,057 172,670

Unsecured bank loans BERBITER 638,438 303,305 373,438 273,305
Long-term bank loans —FREEE

due within one year RERITER (i) 109,569 - 109,569 -

Total At 0] 1,061,064 505,975 816,064 445,975

(i)

As at 31 December 2007, bank loans of
RMB951,495,000 (2006: RMB505,975,000)
bore interest at rates ranging from 6.57% to
7.83% (2006: 5.58% to 6.73%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2007, bank loans of
RMB90,000,000 (2006: RMB75,000,000),
RMB40,000,000 (2006: RMB50,000,000),
RMB50,000,000 (2006: RMB47,670,000)
and RMB104,000,000 (2006: Nil) of the
Company were guaranteed by a related
party of the Group, Create Group Co.,
Ltd., an unrelated third party of the Group,
Yantai Anlin Fruit Co., Ltd.,
third party of the Group, Yantai Andre
Packaging Materials Co., Ltd., and a related
party of the Group, Shandong Andre Group
Co., Ltd., respectively.

an unrelated

As at 31 December 2007, bank loans of
RMB29,057,000 (2006: Nil) were secured
by the Company’s deposits at bank.

(i)

R-EZL+F+_A=+—HETEXK
A R #0951,495,000c( = T & X F:
ARE#505,975,0007T) - FH & AH6.57%—
7.83% (ZZZ/NF : 5.58%—6.73%) °

R-_ZEE+E+-_A=+—H AQH
B iR 17 E X A R #90,000,0007c( = &
TN F: AR #750000007T ) AR
#40,000000E( Z T T XNF: AR
50,000,0007T) * A K # 50,000,000t (=
TTNF  AREA47,670,00078) R AREE
104,000,000 7T (ZFTRF : #) HRIAEAE
EEZzAHM AR EEAR AR ALH
ZIIBBME=FREaLTMREBRAA
REBZIIEBABHE=FRaLTEFNBESR
PRAR] - RAEE BT LRZERNSE
BRMEER -

RZTEZ+E+_A=1+—"H  ARK
29,057,000 L ( ZZZ /R F : |)IRITERK
BARE ZRITERIEER -
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28 Short-term bank loans (cont’d)

The balance as at 31 December 2006
included bank loans of a subsidiary of
RMB30,000,000 guaranteed by a related
party of the Group, Create Group Co., Ltd.

As at 31 December 2007, bank loans
of RMB20,000,000 (2006: Nil) of the
Company were guaranteed by a subsidiary
of the Company, Longkou Andre.

@iy The Group’s long-term bank loans are
disclosed in Note 31.

29 Trade payables

An ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:

28 FEMIMITER (&)

R-ZZETNEFE+_A=+—H0 %8BE
BRE—ZHBARMEBETERARE
30,000,0007¢ * FAANEE B 2 B 5 Bl &
BARAFRMEER o

R-BE+FE+-_HA=+—8 A 7AH
R1ITE A R 20,000,000 TTH AR 7l —
RWEBAR  BEOLEFIREER -

@iy ANEEZRHIRITERENEST PHE -

20 [EfTIRRR

FEMARREEREE DA T

The Group The Company
HEHE .3/
2007 2006 2007 2006
—EEtEE —TTREF ZEBEBEFE _—TTF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETET ARETT AER®BTRT AREBTT
Within 6 months ANEA R 214,325 68,063 27,597 23,261
Over 6 months but NE AL EE

less than 1 year DR—F 461 3,231 22 636
Over 1 year —F LA E 928 1,304 916 698
Total a5t 215,714 72,598 28,535 24,595

All the trade payables are expected to be settled
within one year.
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30

Other payables and accrued

30 HftiEEMRRFIRRA

expenses
The Group The Company
%0 F4aFH
2007 2006 2007 2006
—ZZtE ZTTREF —ZZtF ZTTREF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
fix ARWTT ARBFT AR®TT ARBFT
Staff and workers’ bonus B T 52Eh &%
and welfare fund BAHES (i 6,098 5,251 4,266 4,266
Amounts payable in relation 28 A% -
to the acquisition of B K %
property, plant and TR FEfT
equipment FUA 26,179 38,924 1,999 23,746
Amounts payable in relation B S D&
to the acquisition of PE:
minority interests JEfT I8 18 13,514 = 13,378 =
Prepayments Hig®pP
from customers Eka 11,234 4,718 4,188 340
Other taxes payable FEfTEAR TS 6,630 24,459 1,114 198
Advances from third parties  [A15 =7 &3 (il 5,500 = 5,000 -
Advances from a shareholder %&£ (i) 23,784 - - -
Dividends payable FERTAR 2 4,007 - 4,007 -
Others Hfth 30,459 18,578 11,997 7,709
Total At 127,405 91,930 45,949 36,259
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30 Other payables and accrued
expenses (cont’d)

(0

(i)

(i

142 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. RAdHZERR

This represents provision for staff and
workers’ bonus and welfare fund, applicable
to the Company being a Sino-foreign equity
joint venture enterprise before 26 June
2001 and its subsidiaries in the PRC being
Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprises,
provided at a certain percentage of the
Company’s and the subsidiaries’ profit
after taxation determined in accordance
with the China’s Accounting Standards.
The percentage for this appropriation was
decided by the directors of the Company
and the subsidiaries.

This represents the interest-free and
unsecured borrowings of RMB5,000,000
(2006: Nil) from Administrative Committee
of Yantai Muping Development Zone and
RMB500,000 (2006: Nil) from Binzhou
Finance Bureau.

This represents the interest-free and
unsecured borrowings of RMB23,784,000
(2006: Nil) from Yantai Donghua Fruit Co.,
Ltd., a shareholder of the Company.

STRGBRAF

30 HftiEfMtHRRFAIREA (M)

(i)

(i)

ZHEARRRNZTET—FAZ+N
BARERPIEEREDERARFRE
FENNMBATMERTIIREREDLE
AARB RZEWB R RIRRH E g5+
APRE 2 B FEN —ELPIFHRZBT
REEENESEE - ZAHRLAIRAR
ARZEMB AR ZESTERER

ZREERMeETHEREERES
B R EE R E A R ¥ 5,000,000 7T
(ZZ2TRF : 8) RRANTBE 2 EF)
B REHRERARES500,00T(ZEF
N ) o

FZHRBERAABBRR 2 — WERER
EEREFERRZERNE REEMERA
R 23,784,000 7L (ZZTRF : ) ©



31 Long-term bank loans

The analysis of the carrying amount of non-
current interest-bearing borrowings is as follows:

31 RESRITER

T i

FERBHENEERREEITAT

B 7 35 % B 2

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

The Group The Company
HRE F. 3/
2007 2006 2007 2006
—ETEFE —TTF Z2BEE —_TTRF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTrT ARBTRE ARBTT
Bank loans RITER 438,276 468,522 438,276 468,522
Less: Bank loans due B —FEREHIR

within one year IRITEN (109,569) - (109,569) -
328,707 468,522 328,707 468,522

The above bank loans bear floating interest rate
of LIBOR + 1.1%. According to the repayment
terms, US$7,500,000, US$7,500,000 and
US$45,000,000 will be repaid by June 2008,
December 2008 and June 2009, respectively.

The terms of the bank loans impose certain
specific performance obligations on the two
major shareholders, Mr. Zheng Yue Wen and
Mr. Wang An, of the Company, who are also the
directors of the Company. Under the relevant
terms, the bank loans will become due and
payable immediately when either (i) Mr. Wang
An ceases to have or ceases to be entitled to
exercise management over each of the Company
and its principal subsidiaries; or (i) the aggregate
shareholding in the Company that is beneficially
owned by Mr. Zheng Yue Wen and Mr. Wang
An ceases to be larger than the aggregate
shareholding in the Company of, and/or held to
the order of, any other person or persons acting
in concert with such other person.

LA ESRITE R ZF8) B R A fMmBERIT R EHF N
FF +1.1% o 1R IR IE F & - 7,500,000 7T
7,500,000 3 7T & 45,000,000 € T 2 BB HR =&
ZNERA - ZBEENFTZARZZETAEN
REHER -

ZRITER G E ZEREARRBZ ML EBZBRR
NREEWREEERTILZAREBNFELZBOR
- RIBZB|ITER G - U TEBABERZE
HAERHEE () TR ALY TBATERRE
TEHARRRETZMB AR EIRERG4E
(i) AR LR EF LR R E B A ZARF]
ZRREBEYTBRNEMA LR HRREAM
AL R/ HEZEAT BT ALTRAERF
P B 2 R ER -
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32 Capital and reserves

(@) The changes in equity of the Company for
the years ended 31 December 2006 and
2007 are as follows:

32 BRAER R

(@)

BEZZTEN

—EELEt-A=t-
AL - AR AMESEHIOT

Paid-in Capital Share Statutory Retained
capital surplus premium reserves earnings  Total equity
BA  EADE  RARE  iERE  ROEAE BEs
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
iz ARBTR ARMTR AR¥Tn ARETR ARETR ARETR
Balance at 1 January RZZTE
2006 —A-Bz&H 169,730 10 212,606 49,016 9,465 523,827
Issuance of shares BORA 320) 11,158 - 69,838 - - 80,996
Share issuance expenses  BTRAZAR - - (7,628) - - (7,628)
Profit for the year RERET - - - - 58,102 58102
Appropriations Bl 32(0) - - - 6,646 (6,646) -
Dividends to equity PRRETF
shareholders NG|
of the Company RE 3 - - - - (27,133) (27,133)
Balanceat 31 December ~ MZETAF
2006 TZAZT-BZk# 180,888 10 274,816 55,662 116,788 628,164
Balance at 1 January RZZELE
2007 Sl =i 180,888 10 214,816 55,662 116,788 628,164
Issuance of shares BIRA 320) 13,000 - 185,445 - - 148,445
Share issuance expenses  ZTRAZAR - - (7,816) - - (7.816)
Capitalisation issue EMLES 32b) 232,666 = (232,666) = = -
Prolfitfor the year REEEF - - - - 138,898 138,898
Appropriations i 320) - - - 15,136 (15,136) -
Dividends to equity DERET
shareholders VNG
of the Company e 33 - - - - (27,139) (27,133)
Balance at 31 December ~ WZZELF
2007 TZA=ZT-RZk# 426,554 10 169,779 70,798 A3 M7 880,658
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32 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(b) Paid-in capital (b) B
2007 2006
Z2BLE —EERX
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT AREFT
Registered: 1K
1,138,800,000 (2006: 1,138,800,000) 1,138,800,000 f% (=T Z /14
Domestic shares of RMBO0.10 each 1,138,800,000 %) &A%
(2006: RMBO.10 each) ARE0.10 T IR AR
(Z221F  BRARK0.10T) 113,880 113,880
670,080,000 (2006: 670,080,000) 670,080,000 % (ZZZ/RE
H shares of RMBO.10 each 670,080,000 %) &A%
(2006: RMBO.10 each) AREEOAOTHIHI (=TT
FRAR®0.107T) 67,008 67,008
180,888 180,888
Issued and fully paid: BRTRARE :
2,505,360,000 (2006: 1,138,800,000) 2,505,360,000 % (= ZZ /5 F :
Domestic shares of RMBO0.10 each 1,138,800,000 %) &A%
(2006: RMBO.10 each) ARE0.10 T IR AR
(Z221F  SRARK.10T) 250,536 113,880
1,760,176,000 (2006: 670,080,000) 1,760,176,000 % (ZZZ R F
H shares of RMBO.10 each 670,080,000 %) &A%
(2006: RMBO.10 each) AREOAOTHHI (Z ST
SRARE0.107T) 176,018 67,008
426,554 180,888

On 14 July 2004, the Company issued
178,500,000 new H shares with a par value
of RMBO0.10 each, at a price of HK$0.80

per H share by placing.

Hﬁo

R-ZTZNFLA+IHE  ARARIUEREE
B IR F R HAR S 80.80 7T 2 B 18 18 3%
178,500,000 I & FE A REE0.10 T2 H
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32 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(b)

()

Paid-in capital (cont’d)

On 14 March 2006, the Company issued
111,580,000 new H shares with a par value
of RMBO0.10 each, at a price of HK$0.70
per H share by placing.

On 16 July 2007, the Company issued
130,000,000 new H shares with a par value
of RMBO0.10 each, at a price of HK$1.18
per H share by placing.

On 19 November 2007, an amount of
RMB232,665,600 standing to the credit of
the share premium account was applied
in paying up in full 960,096,000 H shares
and 1,366,560,000 Domestic shares
of RMB0.10 each which were allotted
and distributed as fully paid to existing
shareholders in the proportion of six
capitalisation shares for every five existing
shares then held.

By 31 December 2007, the Company was
still in the process of registering the new
shares issued in 2007 with the respective
government authorities.

All the shares issued by the Company rank
pari passu.

Capital surplus

Capital surplus represents the exchange
differences arising from the use of different
exchange rates in translating the paid-
in capital contributed by the investors on
different dates.
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32 &R R ()

(b)

©

B (48)
RZZEZRE=ATWMNAB - AAE AR
B NIRBHRE®0.70 7T 2 B 1§ 15 2%
111,580,000 K EREE AR 0.107T2H
A% o

R-ZFTLELATRA ARANE
EFXNIZBHRBE118TT 2 B 1818 3%
130,000,000 B FHmEE A RE0.10 T2 H
A% o

RZZEZLF+—A+NB RBREAR
B 2 AR 232,665,6007C 2 A R &2
960,096,000 ik & AL B TR R EE A
R#0.107t 2 H A& & 1,366,560,000 % & 7
LETHEREEARKEI0T ZIERRA
% BREEGRREREET RO X
NREAMEEFEITHFREE FITIE DK
EHBAARR -

EE-FRtFt-A=t-0 £2A7F
5% BB BB BBV B A — BT L F BT
PR (T REM AR -

ARBBTZEBRNHEFE RS

BERDE

BARNBREAMEZR  BEBELRK
FRARBHEEREALBERARAN
BHEEXTRMEEENZHE -



32

Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(d) Statutory reserves

Balance at 1 January
2006
Appropriations from
retained eamings
Transfer (i)

Balance at 31 December
2006

Balance at 1 January
2007

Appropriations from
retained eamings

Balance at 31 December
2007

R-BERE

—A-RZ&R

AOEHET

&

(=
(i)

#

R=EERE

+ZA=t-8

P

%

e

—R-Rz&

AP ES

=

#

32 &R R ()

(d) SEERE
The Group
r58
The Company The subsidiaries Total
AR i) PG At
Statutory

Statutory public Statutory Enterprise

surplus welfare surplus Reserve  expansion

reserve fund Total reserve fund fund

EE EE EE ¥

N k3 NEg Ch NEE REEE  BRES

(i (i) (i) (i (iv)
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARETT ARMTR AREBTR ARETR
32,976 16,040 49,016 - 10,647 10,647 70,310
6,646 - 6,646 - 3319 3,819 13,284
16,040 (16,040) - - - - -
56,662 - 55,662 - 13,966 13,966 83,594
56,662 - 55,662 - 13,966 13,966 83,594
15,136 - 15,136 1,596 3,356 3,356 28,444
70,798 - 70,798 1,596 17,322 17,322 107,038
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32 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

()

Statutory reserves (cont’d)

U

(i)

148 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

According to the Company’s and
Dalian Andre’s Articles of Association,
the Company and Dalian Andre are
required to transfer 10% of their net
profits, as determined in accordance
with the China’s Accounting
Standards,
reserve. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distributing
dividends to shareholders.

to statutory surplus

The statutory surplus reserve can
be used to make up for prior years’
losses, if any. It may be converted
into share capital by issuing new
shares to shareholders proportionate
to their existing shareholdings,
provided that the balance after such
issue is not less than 25% of the

registered capital.

Before 1 January 2006, according
to the Company’s Articles of
Association, the Company is required
to transfer 5% of its net profit, as
determined in accordance with the
China’s Accounting Standards, to
the statutory public welfare fund.
This fund could only be used on
capital
benefit of the Company’s employees

items for the collective

(such as for the construction of
dormitories, canteens and other
staff welfare facilities). This fund was
non-distributable other than upon
liquidation. Transfers to this fund must
be made before distributing dividends
to shareholders.

RE I ZEFIR

FITROERAF

32 BRFR ()

(d)

EERE (F)

U)

BRBRARARRNELZEINERNR
E - AARIRANERENERPES
FHERAIGTE ADFEAER) 10% IREVEE
NER - REIVEE /RS BERRR
D BCAR S ATHETT ©

AEATES A BIERAATFEREER
(anA) - WA RBRIZIR A AR
RLLBEEITHROBRARA - ER
BITRD R ZEHRTE DR EMBA
25% °

EZZTERF—H—HA - BREARQ
RIERMNRE ARAERPEE
ZRIFFEFENBH 6% RIVEAE A
mE o WRAESENARARAEER
an&a?ﬁJZﬁ$Iﬁﬁ EREE -
= R EA S TR - BRINFHR
H%9|\ C WIEE S TAMERREDIR °
RRBRRDIKRE T IRERATE
FIEABEEE AR °



32 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(d) Statutory reserves (cont’d)

(i)

)

(cont’d)

According to the Company Law
of the PRC which was revised on
27 October 2005, the Company is
no longer required to make profit
appropriation to the statutory public
welfare fund commencing from 1
January 2006. Pursuant to the notice
“Cai Qi [2006] No. 67” issued by
the Ministry of Finance of the PRC,
the balance of this fund as at 31
December 2005 was transferred to
the statutory surplus reserve.

According to the Articles of Association
of the subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC, the subsidiaries are required
to transfer a certain percentage
of their net profits, as determined
in accordance with the China’s
Accounting Standards to the
reserve fund. The percentage of this
appropriation was decided by the
directors of the subsidiaries.

The reserve fund can be used for the
subsidiaries’ working capital purposes
and to make up for prior years’
losses, if any. This fund can also be
used to increase the capital of the
subsidiaries, if approved. This fund
is non-distributable other than upon
liquidation. Transfers to this fund
must be made before distributing
dividends to the Company.

(Expressed in Renminbi#uag .
(UARBIT)

32 BRFR ()

d) CEEREE)

(il

(i)

(%)

BEZZTAF A TR {ERE
RFRBARNE  AQARIEZZTTARF
—A—RAE  BERERBFEEEAE
N RIEIEEDHY B 4 [2006]67
X - RZEERET_A=1T—H
AR SHHRBEEEZ LT AR

2N
& °

BREARBDEFRFEARLIZ HBR
AIMERATE  ZFMBEBRRAERS
BRPEEHERFERFN BN —
ELPIREERES - ZABLLOIZ
HZFMNB AR ZEETSREN -

REEE A AEZEHBARMTE
LEEEZBH YA BAATEFER
8 (WA) - WIEES IR BIEE I
EMBARZEARS (WEHE) - B
RBERESN - LWRES TR BERE
DK ° AR BVERDIKBE T R AN
HEBFTIRFHRERFERES
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32 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(d) Statutory reserves (cont’d)

(iv)  According to the Articles of Association
of the subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC, the subsidiaries are required
to transfer a certain percentage
of their net profits, as determined
in accordance with the China’s
Accounting Standards, to the
enterprise expansion fund. The
percentage of this appropriation
was decided by the directors of the
subsidiaries.

The enterprise expansion fund can
be used for the subsidiaries’ business
development purposes and for
working capital purposes. This fund
can also be used to increase the
capital of the subsidiaries, if approved.
This fund is non-distributable other
than upon liquidation. Transfers
to this fund must be made before
distributing dividends to the
Company.

(e) Distributable reserves

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of
Association, the Company’s retained
earnings available for the purpose of
profit distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company wil be the lesser of
(i) the retained earnings determined in
accordance with the China’s Accounting
Standards; or (i) the retained earnings
determined in accordance with IFRS.
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32 BRFR ()

(d)

(e)

EERE (F)

(iv)

REARBEFBEBEARLZMBEAR
AIMERSATE  ZEMBRAARS
BT E & ERG H a0 FH BN —
ELLARBRERERES © ZARL
PIRZEMBAR CEEEREN °

CEBRESIRAEZSHBARE
BERIRBTELES ZHN ° 1A
EeMA BEENZENBRRZE
e (QEHEAE) o BRIOBREFIN - 1t
HEES NI RERENIK - AAF A
W73 IR RS T BER A S 7B BRI 98
EEEBREST -

A2k fE

REARBRANER - KRR BMES
Fo i Al D B T AN R RIBCR 22 R 3 BL A B
A THIREE () RRPESHEHEZR
DEFE ki) RRERT BHREERIFE
ZARD BRI o



32 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

(€

Distributable reserves (cont’d)

Under the Company Law of the PRC and
the Company’s Articles of Association, net
profit can be distributed as dividends after
allowance has been made for:

(i) making up cumulative prior years’
losses, if any;

(i) allocations of 10% net profit for the
year, as determined in accordance
with the China’s Accounting Standards,
to the Company’s statutory surplus
reserve; and

@iy allocations to the discretionary
surplus reserve, if approved by the
shareholders.

As at 31 December 2007, the Company’s
distributable reserve amounted to
RMB213,417,000 (2006: RMB116,788,000),
being the amount determined according to
IFRS.

32 &R R ()

(€

A 2k fE ()
RIEFPERRNERARRZER - FHE
AXNTIINERRI AHERRENIK :

() WEARMFEERTER(EA)

(i) HERPESTEANFENFFE
10% EBARRZEAERTEE &

(i) (HEFRERGHE  REREERLK

RZZTTLFF+_A=+—H "  KRAK
BB RS ERFTE 2 DIk #E R
AR¥213,417,000 T(ZZZTRF : AR
# 116,788,000 7T) °
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAAEBZT)

32 Capital and reserves (cont’d)

U]
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Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when
managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can fund its production
and development, and continue to provide
returns for shareholders by pricing products
commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews
and manages its capital structure to
maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded
by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light
of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the
Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of a gearing ratio, as defined by the
Group, being the total liabilities divided by
the total assets. As at 31 December 2007,
the gearing ratio of the Group was 61.68%
(2006: 61.81%).

Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

RE LB ZEFNRTROBRAF

32 BRFR ()

(f)

EXrER

AEEEEEANTIRZANCRHEEARE
R ERE S - WM EESERRA
BAKFREMETEAZENTER - AREE
NEEMKARGRE  IAXFAKHE
WAERER - I BEBRIRRIRHEIR -

AEEREELRERERMEREEAR
B URRIFSESSKFEFTEERENE
= R B 5 - B2 A] 5 9 B AN JE AL AT 2R Y
BELR L2 2HNFE  WEFREARR
BARHEERIZNE -

BEITEMNERME B AEBRUEASE
BAATHEEABLRAEREEHE
REHE - ZULRAREBEZ AEHRAERIN
BELE - R-_ET+F+=-_A=1+—
B AEENEERBELEARE1.68%(=F
TNEE 1 61.81%) °

AR A S E AL AP 8 A A3 8 2 I BME ]
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33 Dividends

(@)

(b)

Dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company
attributable to the year:

Final dividend proposed after
the balance sheet date of
RMBO0.007 per share
(2006: RMBO0.015 per share)

Dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company

(Expressed in Renminbi Yu
(K AE&”‘%/

33 KR

@ AFEIRBREFAQIARR :

2007
—ZTtEE
RMB’000
AR®TT
REERBEZDIK
NEAR EFHR AR 0.007 7T
(Z2ZRF : 8K
ARE0.0157T) 29,859

2006
ZETRF
RMB’000
AREFTT

27,133

b) BRE-UBFE YIRFFERERX

attributable to the previous financial
year, approved and paid during the year:

Final dividend in respect of
the previous financial year,
approved and paid during

the year, of RMB0.015 per share

(2006: RMBO0.015 per share)

FFARATDBRRABKE :
2007
—ETtEF
RMB’000
AR®TTT
BRE—0REE -
WA FEZE RS
ZARERR B AER
ARBO.0I5TL(ZTT R F
ERARK0.0157T) 27,133

2006
ZETTREF
RMB’000
ARKETT

27,133
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UARRZT)

34 Basic and diluted earnings per share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings
per share is based on the profit attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB213,874,000 (2006: RMB69,673,000) and
the weighted average of 4,121,361,000 shares
(2006: 3,933,131,000 shares after adjusting for
the capitalisation issue in 2007) in issue during
the year, calculated as follows:

Issued shares at 1 January

Effect of shares issued RNET2HE
Effect of capitalisation issue B BIT B

Weighted average number of
shares at 31 December [

There was no difference between basic and

diluted earnings per share as there were no

dilutive potential shares outstanding during the

year.
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34

—A—REBTZER

TZA=+—BnEFs

EFXRMERERET

REGRERNREEIRFOAZEERSERARR
RE(E & A A R 213,874,000 7T (T Z /N 4F -
AR 69,673,0007T) R AF B 21T (7 Nt T
H#4,121,361,000 % (C BT RF : R-TZT+
FEAN{L BT R4 3,933,131,000% ) © 5H&E
T

2007 2006
—EETtF —EERF

Note RMB’000 RMB’ 000
B aE AR®TT ARBETTT
32(0) 1,808,880 1,697,300
32(b) 64,466 90,487
32(0) 2,248,015 2,145,344
4,121,361 3,933,131

HRHAY EEEEETERE AL ERELRA
MESREERNILEEZR



35 Related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,

the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions.

(@)

(b)

Transactions with the associate and the
jointly controlled entity

Sales to the jointly SHE TR
controlled entity P E e

Purchases from the jointly A B £[R
controlled entity | E

Sales to the associate SHE THEE R A

Key management personnel
remuneration

Remuneration for key management
personnel, including amounts paid to the
Company’s directors and supervisors
as disclosed in Note 12 and the senior
management as disclosed in Note 13, is as
follows:

5 B S B

Short-term employee benefits
Retirement scheme contributions

Total A&f

HEU SRR NS N

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(AARBFR)

35 HBAXS

RN R EM IO RE 2 X S MRS - &
SEANTEREB TR S

(@) HEBEQAFARARZHERIRS

2007 2006
—22tF ZETAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
4,793 4,370
84,458 17,807
3,533 765

(b) EEEBASHMH

TEEEASHM (BRI THE12HE
ZARRBEEREENMM T 1IBHE 2SR
EEEZER) T

2007 2006
—®BEE  TIAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEMTE  ARMTT
1,868 1,856

28 30

1,896 1,886
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PR R R

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

(UARRZT)

36 Financial instruments

The Group’s financial assets include cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables.
The Group’s financial liabilities include bank
loans, trade and other payables. The Group does
not hold nor has it issued financial instruments for
trading purposes.

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. These risks are limited by
the Group’s financial management policies and
practices described below.

(@) Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade receivables. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

In respect of trade receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’'s past history of making
payments when due and current ability
to pay. Trade receivables are due within
three to six months from the date of
billing. Debtors with balances past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted.

As at 31 December 2007, 99.8% of the
total trade receivables was due within three
months (2006: 94.4%).

RE LB ZEFNRTROBRAF

36 &MTR

AEBEZEREERFREMRSEFEY - B
R R EM UG - AEEZ SR B EBREIRT
B3 BARAREMENK - AREALESE
FETERIAHESEAR -

AEBELEEBBIETAZER  RBPES -
FMEMEE R - AREER TR EERBRER
MEB ML - BE LR INARS -

(@ FEERE
AEENEERREZREBKRER - &
BEECHICEENEERR  WETEE
RZLEERBRAMA -

SLEBMERARIM S - A ERABEBX —&
BORAESHRERZHNEP AKX E
BIMEERE - EEFEEERTFNAE
FE B AT B0 B SRACER AN B ARV ESRBE S ©
RWERELAREREF =2 XEAR
28 BHRTNEFASKRERLEE
FRAREEMREE T RANESE—FPNE
B2k e

RZZT+E+_A=+—H » 99.8%H[E
WER R BRE B ARR=EA AR (=ZF
TN 1 94.4%) ©



36 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(@

(b)

Credit risk (cont’d)

As at 31 December 2007, the Group’s
most significant customer, an exclusive
distributor for sales to the United States
of America and Canada, and another four
largest customers accounted for 70%
of the trade receivables carrying amount

(2006; 63%).

The maximum exposure to credit risk
is represented by the carrying amount
of trade receivables in the consolidated
balance sheet.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect
of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in
Note 23.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the
Group are responsible for their own cash
management, including the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject
to approval by the Company’s board of
directors when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants, to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) '
(UAEESGIR)

36 &£mTIA (&)

(@)

(b)

FEERE (&)

R_ZEZLF+—_A=+—8  BKREX
RESETRE70% RERAEEZANE
FE—XERNMERBRDHEE UK
HmESAZEF(ZTTRF  63%) °

EEREHKAO LRAAHEERBERTE
WIRRHARE 2R °

B2 A A S BN EYIRRAEE R R
OMEECHEME23HE -

RBETER
AEEANESNKEERAREAGNE
BRI BREEGEFARNEGR
EHER(MREFBBBRLARRE L
R BESKARRESSHHZ) - AF
EHMBRREEMERRDHESHTF UKk
EENEERTLHEHRTE - AERER T
HER & H%E?%Ix@rﬂi%%?%
HIRMEANERES IR EHNK
RHHRBESHER °

—FZHEEH Annual Report 2007 157




NOTE O s
B3 ¥R R MY aE
(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

36 Financial instruments (cont’d)

36 &£mTIA (&)

158 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) (b) HBESE(E)
The following table details the remaining TREH T AEBFNARARHSEE ER
contractual maturities at the balance sheet HEEALSHRMBRRE (BERRBE
date of the Group’s and the Company’s AR R (B )FEFIR) £E AIRITH
financial liabilities, which are based on KA E R BN FR) FiAE H K& AN 7 A §E
contractual undiscounted cash flows FENZNxERRRENTISKRE LR EH
(including interest payments computed =V
using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the balance sheet date)
and the earliest date the Group and the
Company can be required to pay:
The Group x5E
2007
ZBBtE
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 1 year 2 years
Carrying undiscounted year or on but less than but less than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5years
&k
HERRE 1ERNE 158 2%
g of ] RERE EERNR B2FR B5FRK
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TT AR®TT AR®TT AR®TT AR®TRE
Bank loans RITER 1,389,771 1,461,539 1,123,931 337,608 -
Trade payables TR 215,714 215,714 215,714 - -
Other payables and HiERmk
accrued expenses BRER 127,405 127,405 127,405 = =
Total CEl 1,732,800 1,804,658 1,467,050 337,608 -

RE LB ZEFNRTROBRAF



36 Financial instruments (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Bank loans RITER

Trade payables TR

Other payables and HiERZR
accrued expenses BRER

Total A&t

The Company

Bank loans BITER

Trade payables TR

Other payables and HiERz &
accrued expenses BRER

Amounts due to [ERIB AT
subsidiaries and a KR
jointly controlled entity ~ E#&ZIA

Total

36 &mTR(#E)
(b) REBESER (F)
2006
—TTRF
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 1 year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted yearoron butlessthan  butless than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years
BHR

HRERE 1N 151% 251k
FEEH MELE BERNN B25R B5FR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
974,497 1,029,172 532,925 149,456 346,791
72,598 72,598 72,598 - -
91,930 91,930 91,930 = =
1,139,025 1,193,700 697,453 149,456 346,791

. 3/

2007
- -4 ot
Total More than ~ More than
contractual Within 1 1 year 2 years
Carrying undiscounted year or on but less than but less than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5years
Bk

BHRAE 1ERE 158& 2%
RE&H RERE EBERNR B2FR B5%R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TT AR®TT AR®TT ARBTR
1,144,771 1,209,391 871,783 337,608 -
28,535 28,535 28,535 - -
45,949 45,949 45,949 - -
318,822 318,822 318,822 - -
1,538,077 1,602,697 1,265,089 337,608 -
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36 Financial instruments (cont’d)

36 &£mTIA (&)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d) (b) AREBELEBS(HF)
2006
ZEERF
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 1 year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted yearoron  butlessthan  butless than
amount cash flow demand 2 years 5 years
BHIR
BRRE 1ER 1514 25 1%
FE&E MELE BERNE B2FA B5FR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Bank loans RITER 914,497 967,959 471,712 149,456 346,791
Trade payables TR 24,595 24,595 24,595 = =
Other payables and HeRIRK
accrued expenses BIRER 36,259 36,259 36,259 - -
Amounts due to ERRBAR
subsidiaries and a R R
jointly controlled entity ~ EEEZA 248,874 248,874 248,874 - -
Total CE 1,004,225 1,277,687 781,440 149,456 346,791
(c) Interest rate risk () FEER
The interest rates of the Group’s bank REBERITEROF RS R FE28 RMisE

loans are disclosed in Note 28 and Note
31. The annual interest rates of the Group’s
deposits at bank ranged from 0.72% to
1.15% as at 31 December 2007 (2006:

0.72% to 1.15%)

As at 31 December 2007,

it is estimated

160 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

that a general increase/decrease of 50
basis points in bank borrowing interest
rates for bank loans with all other variables
held constant, would decrease/increase
the profit after taxation by approximately

RMB3,777,000 (2006: RMB3,475,000).

RE I ZEFIR

FITROERAF

31 o %_$$t¢+_ﬂ:+—a*
REBENRITERNENERN T0.72% =
1.15% (ZZZRF : 0.72% & 1.15%) ©

ﬁé:fg ¢+ B=+—8 &R
AR _EF+ T BR 50 EE XSS -
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ FERIFTE  REEFE
R IEINHAREE 3,777,000 (=%
TRF « AR¥3,475,0007T) ©



36 Financial instruments (cont’d)

()

()

Interest rate risk (cont’d)

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for non-
derivative financial instruments in existence
at that date. The 50 basis-point increase
or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible
change in respective interest rates over
the period until the next annual balance
sheet date. Management does not expect
any reasonably possible change in bank
deposit interest rates for bank deposit over
the period until the next annual balance
sheet date will have a significant impact on
the Group’s result or financial position. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for
2006.

Foreign currency risk
RMB
foreign currencies. All foreign exchange
transactions involving RMB must take
place through PBOC or other institutions

is not freely convertible into

authorised to buy and sell foreign
exchange. The exchange rate adopted for
the foreign exchange transactions are the
rates of exchange quoted by the PBOC
that would be subject to a managed float
against an unspecified basket of currencies.

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) '
(UAEESGIR)

36 &£mTIA (&)

(©

(d)

FlR R ()

R ESTNECERENNEEHE
HEHDRRE WYARBEZRAEFE
BIESTE SR T AN ERERE A k- %
SOMEEER R AR FERERREEEY
BEET—REFEAER IEAERA - HE
FIEAIgE HIR M A B E B ATEL RS ©
ERERE  RIFFANEEEZT—E
FEAER LR EBENEREE
FE) - BAgE RSB EE S EAARR
BREANTEZ - EEHHINMEUE_ZT
INFIER A EERE LT o

SN R

RRARET A BB BRBINE - P
RARBEOINER ZBABBTEARR
THEMEERBETINERE - IMER
FIERANEXSHEARRITHAAMY
X ZEXAEIIBEEBETNE
IRFIFBIERFAR o
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEBST)

36 Financial instruments (cont’d)
(d) Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

(i) Exposure to foreign currency risk
The following table details the Group’s
and the Company’s exposure at the
balance sheet date to significant
currency risk arising from recognised
assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they

36 &I ()
(d) ShEEEER ()
() SMERERRIE O

TREINTAREMARRRGEER
PR B AR E BTN B
DN A B EHE R B R EEM
BEMELNERERRERMA :

relate:
The Group The Company
*KE E4H

2007 2006 2007 2006
—Z2tE ZEZTRE —Z2tE ZETRF
United States United States ~ United States United States
Dollar '000 Dollar '000 Dollar '000 Dollar '000
ELTR EnTT ERLTT E
Trade receivables FEWERSR 29,494 21,420 21,726 11,995

Cash and Bek
cash equivalents ReEEY 470 1,125 240 855
Short-term bank loans I HIRITE (53,852) (41,105) (53,852) (41,105)
Long-term bank loans RERITER (45,000) (60,000) (45,000) (60,000)
Trade payables FETERFR (2,014) (1,950) (725) (1,514)
Overall net exposure SNEE R i DR E (70,902) (80,510) (77,611) (89,769)
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36 Financial instruments (cont’d)

()

Foreign currency risk (cont’d) (d)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

A 5% strengthening/weakening of
RMB against USD (United States
Dollars) as at the respective balance
sheet dates would increase/
(decrease) profit after taxation by the
amount shown below. This analysis
assumes that all other variables,
in particular interest rates, remain
constant.

36 &I\

S mLR ()

() SRS
EXERBEER  MRARKEEX
TUIHE, B2 E5% - BIBRBIZ S
RN ORD) TRATREHE ° &5
AT ERHBRREMEEMEE (5
BRRIR) (RIFAE

The Group The Company
. 301 . AN
2007 2006 2007 2006
ZEELFE —_TETRF ZEBEFE —_ZTTF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTT AR®BTRT AR%ETET
Profit for the year: ZANEEEF| :
5% strengthening AR
in RMB FHE 5% 19,681 23,890 21,543 26,637
5% weakening AR
in RMB 7B 5% (19,681) (23,890) (21,543) (26,637)
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(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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36 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(€

Fair Values

The carrying amounts of significant financial
assets and liabilities approximates their
respective fair values as at 31 December
2007 and 31 December 2006.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables, trade and other

payables (current portion)

The carrying amounts approximate

their fair values because of the short

maturities of these items.

(i) Bank loans
The carrying amounts of bank loans
approximate their fair values based on
the borrowing rates currently available
for bank loans with similar terms and
maturities.

37 Commitments

(@)

As at 31 December 2007, the Group and
the Company had capital commitments in
respect of property, plant and equipment
not provided for in the financial statements
as follows:

36 &£mIR ()

()

DREE
R-BB+ER_BERF+_A=1—
B BASREENEBEZRESENR
HAREE-

) HERHEZLFEY  BREFLAM
JEHR K~ FETRRA R E M T35 (—
FRAZIEEE)
ERNFTAZIMAREE
HERAREAAEE -

- EIt iR

(i) RITEH

Contracted for B4

Authorised but not 2 1%
contracted for REH

Total &5
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RITHEEE NG REIH A Z RTT
BERAELBKE  ROTERZEEAE
%ﬁi%’?ﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁfﬁ‘)

37 Kif
@ RIZETZLF+A=+—H8B rxEEXK
RARIRBEYE - BE RZEMAREM
BHRRBEEOERAENT -
The Group The Company
*EH b 3/ ]|
2007 2006 2007 2006
—EEEFE _—_TIRN —EZEFE —TTRHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TE ARETT AERBTRE AREBTT
15,476 112,946 1,612 748
- 100,000 - 100,000
15,476 212,946 1,612 100,748
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37

38

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) '
(UAEESGIR)

Commitments (cont’d) 37 #&iE ()

(o) As at 31 December 2007, the total future b)) R-ZZBEZ+F+-A=+—8 BETH
minimum lease payments under non- RGRHKRETHER I RENORERER
cancellable operating leases are payable as HERABEINT ¢
follows:

The Group The Company
*TKE b /N
2007 2006 2007 2006
—EELEFE ZETRF —EELF —ETRF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR®TT AR®BTRT ARETT
Within 1 year —FRNE|H - 6,980 - 6,980
After 1 year but —FELAEE
within 5 years RAELR - = - =
Over 5 years AFLALE 848 848 - =
Total a5t 848 7,828 - 6,980
The Group leases certain land use rights, REEAEEAERRIH LHERE - MER
buildings, and machinery and equipment under MEERE o THERAENEEMAR TF - W5
operating leases. For the land use rights, the DR ENHEE RO B —FE2=F - &
lease period is fifty years. For buildings, and HEEHEHTBSHEHE -
machinery and equipment, the leases typically run
for an initial period of one to three years. None of
the leases includes contingent rentals.
Contingent liabilities 38 HFHAR

As at 31 December 2007, a bank loan of Xuzhou
Andre, amounting to RMB48,000,000 (2006:
RMB30,000,000), a bank loan of Baishui Andre,
amounting to RMB100,000,000 (2006: Nil), and
a bank loan of Xianyang Andre, amounting to
RMB50,000,000 (2006: Nil) were guaranteed by
the Company.

RZZEZLF+ZA=+—H ' XARHBRIM
ZEMK—FEITERAR 48,000,000 7T (=
TETNF - ARB30,000,0007T) @ AKEZEF
B —ERT ,T,U\Eméﬁoooooooo;‘t(_?f
N ﬁ)&mﬁa—??ﬁﬂaﬁ ERTEFRARE
50,000,000 7T (ZZZ /R F - %)%EL\T}E{% °
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39 Accounting estimates and judgements

(a)

(b)

166 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.

Impairment for bad and doubtful debts
The Group estimates impairment losses
for bad and doubtful debts resulting
from the inability of the customers to
make the required payments. The Group
bases the estimates on the ageing of the
accounts receivable balance, customer
credit-worthiness, and historical write-off
experience. If the financial condition of the
customers were to deteriorate, actual write-
offs would be higher than estimated.

Impairment for non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the net
book value of a non-current asset may
not be recoverable, the asset may be
considered “impaired”, and an impairment
loss may be recognised in accordance
with |AS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
The carrying amounts of non-current
assets are reviewed periodically in order
to assess whether the recoverable
amounts have declined below the carrying
amounts. These assets are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their recorded
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the
carrying amount is reduced to recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the
greater of the net selling price and the value
in use. It is difficult to precisely estimate
selling price because quoted market
prices for the Group’s assets are not
readily available. In determining the value
in use, expected cash flows generated by
the asset are discounted to their present
value, which requires significant judgement
relating to level of sale volume, selling price
and amount of operating costs. The Group
uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable
and supportable assumptions and
projections of sale volume, selling price and
amount of operating costs.

REEHZEFR

STRGBRADF

39

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
(UAEEZT)

EatHfhiat R FIER

(@)

(b)

RIFRBERE

AREBE LT P EAE L AT SR E L
FFE R R R ZRBEEE - ARE N
FEMBR R Y BR e ~ P RS BANE 2P 3
ABEERHERMFTNER - MRZEFR
FRFBIRAEL  ERPHEBESES
ISEEIEZEE

35BN R AR
14§25 S B S B 7 B T (B T B
ﬁ%%@'ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%FEﬁ@y
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39 Accounting estimates and judgements
(cont’d)

(©

Provision for diminution in value of
inventories

If the costs of inventories fall below
their net realisable values, a provision
for diminution in value of inventories is
recognised. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. The
Group bases the estimates on all available
information, including the current market
prices of the finished goods and raw
materials, and historical operating costs.
If the actual selling prices were to be
lower or the costs of completion and
other distribution costs were to be higher
than estimated, the actual provision for
diminution in value of inventories could be
higher than estimated.
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40 Possible impacts of amendments,

41
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new standards and interpretations
issued but not yet effective for the
annual accounting period ended 31
December 2007

Up to the date of issue of these financial
statements, the IASB has issued a number of
amendments, new standards and interpretations
which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2007 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements:

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standards and new
interpretations is expected to be in the period of
initial application and has so far concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the Group’s results of operations and

financial position.

In addition, IFRS 8, Operating segments, which is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2009, may result in new or amended
disclosures in the financial statements.

Subsequent events

On 28 February 2008, the Company and BVI
Andre entered into a Share Purchase Agreement
with AGRANA Juice GmbH (“AGRANA”) for the
sale of 50% equity interest in Yongji Andre to
AGRANA at a consideration of EUR11,000,000.
Upon completion, each of the Company and
AGRANA shall have 50% and 50% equity
interest in Yongji, and each of the Company and
AGRANA shall contribute a further registered
capital of USD1,480,000 into Yongji Andre.

At the date of issue of these financial statements,
the above transaction had not been completed.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the annual
general meeting (the “AGM”) of &1L L EFIE
SRS AR AR (Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*)
(the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) will be held at 3rd Floor, No. 18 Andre
Avenue, Muping Economic Development Zone, Yantai
City, Shandong Province, the PRC on Monday, 19 May
2007 at 10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

As ordinary resolutions:

1. To consider and approve the report of the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) for the
year ended 31 December 2007.

2. To consider and approve the report of the
supervisory committee of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2007.

3. To consider and approve the audited
consolidated financial statements of the
Company and the report of the auditors for the
year ended 31 December 2007.

4.  To consider and approve the profit distribution
plan for the year ended 31 December 2007,
and the final dividend distribution plan for the
year ended 31 December 2007 (if any), and to
authorize the Board for the distribution of the
final dividends (if any) to the shareholders of the
Company.

* For identification purpose only
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(@ To consider and approve the resignation
of Mr. Yu Hui Lin as the executive director
of the Company, which will become
effective after the completion of this AGM
(the reason of resignation is set out in the
Appendix 1 of this notice);

To consider and approve the re-appointment of
Mr. Mu Gui Sheng, Mr. Wang Chun Tang and
Mr. Qu Wei Jia (particulars of the appointment
of each supervisors is set out in the Appendix
2 of this notice) to be the supervisors of the
third session of the supervisor committee for
a term of three years commencing from 14
September 2008 and expiring on 13 September
2011 and to authorize the Board to determine
their remuneration. Both Mr. Mu Gui Sheng and
Mr. Wang Chun Tang will be the shareholders
representatives while Mr. Qu Wei Jia will be the
employee representative.

To consider and determine (if appropriate) the
remuneration of the directors and supervisors of
the Company for the year ending 31 December
2008.

To consider and approve the re-appointment of
KPMG and KPMG Huazhen as the auditors of
the Company (international and PRC auditors,
respectively) for the year ending 31 December
2008 and to authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations.

As special resolution:

To consider and approve the following
amendments due to the change in number of
directors:

170 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. RALAZENRTRDERLF
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Art. 90 of the articles of association of
the Company be amended by deleting
the following paragraph in Art. 90:

“The Company establishes board
of directors. The board of directors
comprises 10 directors, of which 6
are executive directors and 4 are
external directors. External directors
mean directors not working in the
Company. External directors include
1 non-executive director and 3
independent non-executive directors.
Independent non-executive directors
are directors not working in the
Company and are independent of the
shareholders of the Company. There
are 1 chairman and 2 vice chairmen in
the board of directors.”

and adding the following paragraph:

“The Company establishes board
of directors. The board of directors
comprises 9 directors, of which 5
are executive directors and 4 are
external directors. External directors
mean directors not working in the
Company. External directors include
1 non-executive director and 3
independent non-executive directors.
Independent non-executive directors
are directors not working in the
Company and are independent of the
shareholders of the Company. There
are 1 chairman and 2 vice chairmen in
the board of directors.”

The Board be authorized to do all
such acts or things and to take all
such steps relating to or in connection
with the above amendments of the
article of association of the Company
as the Board may consider necessary
and appropriate.
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10. To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following
resolution:

THAT:

(1) there be granted to the Board an
unconditional general mandate to issue,
allot and deal with additional shares in the
capital of the Company (whether Domestic
Shares or H Shares) and to make or grant
offers, agreements and options in respect
thereof, subject to the following conditions:

(@ such mandate shall not extend
beyond the Relevant Period save
that the Board may during the
Relevant Period make or grant offers,
agreements or options which might
require the exercise of such powers
after the end of the Relevant Period;

(o) the aggregate nominal amount of
shares allotted or agreed conditionally
or unconditionally to be allotted
(whether pursuant to an option or
otherwise) by the Board otherwise
than pursuant to the share option
scheme (if any) adopted by the
Company for the grant or issue of
shares of the Company, shall not
exceed:

i. 20% of the aggregate nominal
amount of Domestic Shares of
the Company in issue; and/or

i. 20% of the aggregate nominal
amount of H Shares of the
Company in issue,

in each case as at the date of
this resolution; and

(c) the Board will only exercise its power
under such mandate in accordance
with the Company Law of the PRC
and the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (as the same
may be amended from time to time)
and only if all necessary approvals
from the China Securities Regulatory
Commission and/or other relevant
PRC government authorities are
obtained;
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For the purposes of this resolution:

“Domestic Shares” mean the domestic
invested shares in the share capital of the
Company, of nominal value of RMBO0.10
each, which are held in Renminbi;

“H Shares” mean the overseas-listed
foreign invested shares in the share capital
of the Company, with a nominal value of
RMBO0.10 each, which are held and traded
in Hong Kong dollars;

“PRC” means the People’s Republic of
China, excluding, for the purpose of this
resolution only, the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the PRC, the
Macau Special Administrative Region of the
PRC and Taiwan;

“Relevant Period” means the period from
the date of passing this resolution until
whichever is the earliest of:

(@ the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company
following the passing of this
resolution; or

(b) the expiry date of the 12-month
period following the passing of this
resolution; or

(c) the passing of a special resolution
of the Company in general meeting
revoking or varying the authority set
out in this resolution.

“RMB” means Renminbi, the lawful
currency of the PRC.
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(2)  contingent on the Board resolving to issue
shares pursuant to paragraph (1) of this
resolution, the Board be and is hereby
authorized:

(@ to approve, execute and do or
procure to be executed and
done all such documents, deeds
and things as it may consider
necessary in connection with
the issue of such new shares of
the Company, including, without
limitation, determining the time
and place of issue, making all
necessary applications to the relevant
authorities, entering into underwriting
agreement (or any other agreements);

(b) to determine the use of proceeds
and to make necessary filings and
registration with the PRC, the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region
of the PRC and other relevant
authorities;

(c) to make amendments to the articles
of association of the Company as
it may deem appropriate for the
increase of the registered capital
of the Company and to reflect
the new share capital structure of
the Company under the intended
allotment and issue of the shares
of the Company pursuant to the
resolution under paragraph (1) of this
resolution.

174 Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd. (& tH REFIR TR BRD T

@ &=

ol

BRRBBEARBRSE (1) REITH

g BEREFS:

HOAE ~ FRET -~ R RERRET RAEH
PrEERRBERRBEITARRFBN
MEEBEXM  ZOKREE - 2FEET
RN BITREAMME - FAREKER
BB WA BES « R] AR
EEMIHES

S ME - WARTE - R
BB RIS R 2 A A R 3R
RER

NERREEWNBRLT B ARF]
MEER - UENARREMEA
R RBRARAZRE (1) RECE AT
RN B RO PR A4S -



As an ordinary resolution:

11. To consider and approve any written proposals
(if any) put forward by shareholders having voting
rights of 5 per cent. or more at the meeting.

By Order of the Board

Yantai North Andre Juice Co., Ltd.*
Zheng Yue Wen

Chairman

Yantai, the PRC, 31 March 2008

Registered Office:

No. 18 Andre Avenue

Muping Economic Development Zone
Yantai City

Shandong Province

The PRC

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong:
Room 1905-08

Sun Hung Kai Centre

30 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

* For identification purpose only
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Notes:

176 Yantai

BRBFEFAEES

Closure of Register of Members in Entitlement for
Final Dividend and Attending AGM

The register of holders of H Shares of the Company
will be closed from 17 April 2008 (Thursday) to
16 May 2008 (Friday) (both days inclusive) during which
period no transfer of H Shares will be registered. Any
holder of the H Shares of the Company and whose
name appears in the Company’s register of holders of
H Shares with Tricor Tengis Limited by 4:00 p.m. on
16 April 2008 (Wednesday) and have completed the
registration process, will be entitled to final dividend,
and to attend and vote at the AGM.

The address of Tricor Tengis Limited is as follows:

26th Floor

Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2810 8185

Holders of Domestic Shares or H Shares, who intend
to attend the AGM, must complete and return the reply
slips for attending the AGM and return them to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
(as set out above in this notice) (for holders of H Shares)
or to the registered office of the Company (as set out
above in this notice) (for holders of Domestic Shares)
not later than 20 days before the date of the AGM.

Each holder of H Shares entitled to attend the AGM
and having voting rights is entitled to appoint in writing
one or more proxies, whether a shareholder or not,
to attend and vote on his behalf at the AGM. For
shareholders appointing more than one proxy, its proxy
may exercise its voting right by polling only.

The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing
under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly
authorised in writing or, in the case of a corporation,
either under its seal or under the hand of an officer,
attorney or other person authorised to sign the same.
If that instrument is signed by an attorney of the
appointor, the power of attorney authorizing such
attorney to sign or other authorization documents must
be notarially certified.
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To be valid, the form of proxy, and if the form of proxy is
signed by a person under a power of attorney or other
authority on behalf of the appointor, a notarially certified
copy of that power of attorney or other authority, must
be delivered to the Company’s H Share registrar,
Tengis Limited, the address of which is set out in Note
(A) above, not less than 24 hours before the time for
holding the AGM or any adjournment thereof in order
for such documents to be valid.

Each holder of Domestic Shares is entitled to appoint in
writing one or more proxies, whether a shareholder or
not, to attend and vote on its behalf at the AGM, Notes
(C) to (E) also apply to holders of Domestic Shares,
except that a notarially certified copy of the proxy form
or other documents of authority must be delivered
to the registered office of the Company, the address
of which is set out above in this Notice, not less than
24 hours before the time for holding the AGM or any
adjournment thereof in order for such documents to be
valid.

If a proxy attends the AGM on behalf of a shareholder,
he/she should produce his/her ID card and the
instrument signed by the proxy or his/her legal
representative, and specifying the date of its issuance.
If a legal person shareholder appoints its corporate
representative to attend the AGM, such representative
should produce his/her ID card and the notarised copy
of the resolution passed by the board of directors or
other authorities or other notarised copy of the licence
issued by such legal person shareholder.

In the case of joint registered holders of any share,
any one of such persons may vote at the AGM, either
personally or by proxy, in respect of such shares as if
he/she was solely entitled thereto; but if more than one
of such joint holders be present at the AGM, the vote of
the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by
proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes
of the other joint holder(s), and for this purpose seniority
shall be determined by the order in which the names
stand in the register of member in respect of the joint
holding.

The AGM is expected to last for half a day.
Shareholders and their proxies attending the AGM
are responsible for their own transportation and
accommodation expenses.
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Mr. Yu Hui Lin has tendered his resignation as an
executive director of the Company due to attaining the
age of retirement.

The Board and Mr. Yu confirm that:

()  there has been no dispute between Mr. Yu,
the supervisory committee, the Board and the
Company; and

(i) in relation to his resignation, there are no matters
that need to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company.
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Mr. Mu Gui Sheng

Mr. Mu Gui Sheng (31£8%), aged 67, is the Chairman
and an independent representative in the supervisory
committee of the Company. Mr. Mu graduated
from Shandong Industrial University (ILE T %X
£) in August 1965 with a major in the profession
of machinery design, Mr. Mu worked in the Muping
Agricultural Machinery Factory (%842 ZEHMRR)
from August 1965 to July 1971. From July 1971 to
November 1980, Mr. Mu worked as the vice chairman
of Muping Ministry of Economic Affairs (Z£F§ T %
/). He was the head of the Muping Generator Factory
(B FEEHER) from November 1980 to April 1984.
From April 1984 to 2001, he acted as the minister of
Muping Economic and Trade Commission (£ F 8% 4% 75
Z 5% E€ 1), minister of Development and Reform
Commission (RN E Z B € F) and vice minister
of the Muping National People’s Congress (& F[& AKX
B£8)

Mr. Mu did not hold any directorship in other listed
public companies and any title in the Company and its
subsidiaries in the last three years, except acting as
supervisor of the Company. According to the definition
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Mr. Mu did
not have interests in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company, and did not have any relationship
with any directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Within three years following the approval
of the aforesaid resolution no.6, Mr. Mu will be the
supervisor of the Company.

Mr. Wang Chun Tang

Mr. Wang Chun Tang (E&ZE), aged 55. Mr. Wang
has university academic qualification. Mr. Wang
was the officer of the Communications Bureau of
Muping Yantai, Shandong Province from May 1973
to December 1987. He studies the economic and
management profession in the Chinese Communist
Party School and Shandong Province Party School
from 1991 to 1996. From January 1988 to January
2006, Mr. Wang was the supervisor, deputy chief,
managing deputy chief of Publishing Officer of Muping
Yantai, Shandong Province. Since January 2006 up
til now, Mr. Wang is the member of the Executive
Committee of the Yantai Muping National People’s
Congress.
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Mr. Wang did not hold any directorship in other listed
public companies and any title in the Company and its
subsidiaries in the last three years, except acting as
supervisor of the Company. According to the definition
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Mr. Wang did
not have interests in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company, and did not have any relationship
with any directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Within three years following the approval
of the aforesaid resolution no.6, Mr. Wang will be the
supervisor of the Company.

Mr. Qu Wei Jia

Mr. Qu Wei Jia (HB#E1E), aged 60 is an employee
representative in the supervisory committee of the
Company. In 1991, he graduated from the Shandong
Muping Teachers Training Institute (L& F&#
BMEIEE#L). Since October 1991, Mr. Qu worked
in Yangma Resort (EFSEM/EM). Mr. Qu joined
the Company in October 1999 as the manager of
the administration department. Mr. Qu is currently
the deputy general manager of a subsidiary of the
Company.

Mr. Qu did not hold any directorship in other listed
public companies and any title in the Company and its
subsidiaries in the last three years, except acting as
supervisor of the Company. According to the definition
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Mr. Qu did
not have interests in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company, and did not have any relationship
with any directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company. Within three years following the approval
of the aforesaid resolution no.6, Mr. Qu will be the
supervisor of the Company.
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